IDENTIFICATION OF NOVEL TREATMENT APPROACHES FOR HUMAN AND CANINE OSTEOSARCOMA

Ву

Ya-Ting Yang

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Comparative Medicine and Integrative Biology- Doctor of Philosophy

ABSTRACT

IDENTIFICATION OF NOVEL TREATMENT APPROACHES FOR HUMAN AND CANINE OSTEOSARCOMA

Ву

Ya-Ting Yang

Osteosarcoma (OSA) is an aggressive neoplasm, characterized with high level of heterogeneity, high metastatic potential and poor prognosis in both humans and dogs. In this study, I used drug screening studies including existing therapeutic agents and novel compounds to identify more effective approaches to treat human and canine osteosarcoma.

One of the challenges in the field of OSA is to identify optimal tools for study. A limited number of human and canine OSA cell lines are available. In this study, I established and characterized a new cell line, BZ, derived from a German shepherd dog with OSA and studied key oncogenic pathways in BZ. Our findings revealed activation of STAT3 and ERK pathways in BZ, as well as in a number of other cell lines, indicating that these two pathways are critical for cell survival and proliferation in OSA and the potential of using STAT3 and ERK inhibitors.

Furthermore, I screened ten tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) on two dog and one human OSA cell lines. Among the selected TKIs, sorafenib showed promising results in effectively inhibited cell growth and migration *in vitro* studies. In addition, the effects of combing sorafenib with current chemotherapeutics (cisplatin, carboplatin, and doxorubicin) for OSA were investigated. Data from the combination index pointed to synergistic effects of sorafenib combined with doxorubicin and resulted in profound cell arrest at G2/M phase. In contrast, combination of sorafenib with cisplatin or carboplatin in both human and canine OSA cell lines proved to be antagonistic.

In addition to sorafenib, two other novel drugs with different mechanism of action were identified from the drug screening: the proteasome inhibitor bortezomib and the bromodomain inhibitor JQ1. Both drugs showed IC₅₀ concentrations in achievable plasma ranges in all 3 human and 4 dog cell lines studied. In addition to inhibition on cell growth both drugs inhibited migration, and invasion properties of the cell lines. The co-incubation of bortezomib and JQ1 induced synergistic on both hOSA and cOSA cell lines, suggesting the use of this combination for future studies.

These studies also further revealed the heterogeneity among different cell lines. The cell lines differed in their sensitivity for each drug, as well as key tumorigenic pathways that were activated. While only some showed activation of AKT, more cell lines showed ERK and STAT3 activation. This heterogeneity was present in both human and canine cell lines. While there is heterogeneity in OSA in both species, there share similar variations, and studying a wide range of cell lines and canine patients should lead to translatable findings to the human OSA patients. Our studies point out to the need and the possibility of molecular characterization of the cell lines and of the patient populations. The drugs and drug combinations identified in our studies should form the basis for trial designs that are informed by the molecular characteristic of each tumor in patients enrolled. The proteasome inhibitor bortezomib has a significant adverse effect profile, and JQ1 is still under development. However, clinical trials of sorafenib and sorafenib combined with doxorubicin in canine OSA are warranted and should yield findings translatable to the human.

Copyright by YA-TING YANG 2020 This dissertation is dedicated to my family: Rong-Sen, Susan, Annie, and Tsung-Han

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to tank many people who helped me finish this project.

Besides science in life, I like to run marathons, and I always feel this PhD journey is like the longest marathon ever, but I am so glad I have many great people in my life to accompany me in this last mile.

I want to thank my mentor, Dr. Vilma Yuzbasiyan-Gurkan, I am so lucky to have the opportunity to start my research in the VYG lab, you taught me about science, and showed me how to be kind to others and always stay eager to learn new things, you are not just my mentor in science field but life coach.

I want to thank my committee members, Dr. Conrad, Dr. Keller and Dr. Kiupel, I always received essential questions, great advice over all these years. I really appreciate I have the chances to learn from all of you. I want to thank Dr. Venta, you have always been so patient when I asked you questions and been so helpful.

I can't run this far without all the friendship and help from many others; I am so lucky that I joined this lab many years ago. I learned a lot from former students and current members. Dr. Tuddow Thaiwong, Dr. Emmalena Gregory-Bryson, Dr. Maciej Parys, Dr. Marilia Takada, Dr. Puja Basu, Dr. Sarah Corner, Peter Schall, Dr. Garrick Moll, and Marlee Richter, it is great to have you all as lab mates.

LIST OF TABLES		X
LIST OF FIGURES.		xi
KEY TO ABBREVIA	TIONS	xiv
CHAPTER 1 INTRO	DUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW	1
1.1 Osteosa	rcoma (OSA)	
1.1.1	OSA in humans and dogs	2
1.1.2	Epidemiology of OSA	
1.1.3	Dog as a translational model	4
1.1.4	Genetics of osteosarcoma	
1.2 Prognos	tic factors for OSA	6
1.2.1	Circulating tumor cells (CTCs)	
1.2.2	Circulating microRNAs	10
1.3 Treatme	ents of osteosarcoma	11
1.3.1	Standard of care therapeutic agents in hOSA	11
1.3.2	Standard of care therapeutic agents in cOSA	12
1.3.3	Targeted therapies	15
	1.3.3.1 Tyrosine Kinase inhibitors (TKIs)	15
	1.3.3.2 Targeting MYC pathway in OSA	17
1.3.4	Immunotherapies of OSA	
	1.3.4.1 1. Monoclonal antibody therapy	18
	1.3.4.2 HER2-targeting Listeria vaccine	19
	1.3.4.3 Anti PD-1/PD-L1 therapy	20
1.3.5	Current clinical trials in hOSA	
1.4 Conclus	ion	21
APPENDIX		23
BIBLIOGRAPHY		32
CHAPTER 2 ESTAB	LISHMENT AND CHARACTERIZATION OF A NOVEL CANINE OST	EOSARCOMA
CELL LINE		44
2.1 Introduc	tion	
2.2 Materia	and Methods	
2.2.1	Origin of primary tumor and cell culture	46
2.2.2	Preparation and maintenance of cell culture	
2.2.3	Immunohistochemistry	
2.2.4	Cell viability assay	48
2.2.5	Protein expression analysis	48
2.3 Results		
2.3.	L Characteristics of BZ cell line	49

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.3.2 The IC ₅₀ values (concentration of drug inhibiting growth by 50%) for	
conventional chemotherapeutics on BZ and other OSA cell lines	49
2.3.3 BZ showed a downregulated AKT activation	50
2.3.4 ERK and STAT3 pathway	50
2.4 Discussion	50
APPENDIX	54
BIBLIOGRAPHY	62

66
67
69
69
70
70
71
71
71
72
73
73
73
or
73
74
75
75
76
76
84
92

CHAPTER 4 EVALUATING THE POTENTIAL SYNERGISTIC EFFECTS OF BROMODOMAIN IN	HIBITOR
JQ1 AND PROTEASOME INHIBITOR BORTEZOMIB ON HUMAN AND CANINE OSTEOSARC	OMA
CELL LINES	99
4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Material and Methods	103
4.2.1 Human and Canine osteosarcoma cell lines maintenance	103
4.2.2 Chemical compounds	104
4.2.3 High throughput drug screening	104
4.2.4 Cell viability assay	105

4.2.5 Caspase 3/7 assay	105
4.2.6 Wound healing assay	106
4.2.7 Matrigel assay	106
4.2.8 mRNA isolation	107
4.2.9 Quantitative real-time PCR analysis	107
4.2.10 Drug combination and Combination Index (CI) assays	107
4.2.11 Cell cycle analysis	108
4.2.12 Protein analysis	108
4.2.13 Statistical analysis	109
4.3 Results	109
4.3.1 Drug screening identified several FDA-approved drugs as potential	
treatments for hOSA and cOSA	109
4.3.2 Both bortezomib and JQ1 inhibit proliferation of humans and canine OSA	
cells in a dose dependent manner	110
4.3.3 Bortezomib and JQ1 alone decreased migration and invasion ability on	
D17, Abrams and SAOS2 cell lines	110
4.3.4 Bortezomib and JQ1 induced apoptosis in OSA cells	111
4.3.5 Effect of JQ1 on MYC and RUNX2 expression	111
4.3.6 Synergistic effects of JQ1 and bortezomib on canine and human	112
4.3.7 change of cell cycle	112
4.3.8 Co-inhibition of JQ1 and bortezomib induced significantly suppression of	
MYC	113
4.4 Discussion	113
APPENDIX	118
BIBLIOGRAPHY	130
CHAPTER 5 CONSLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	137
APPENDIX	144
BIBLIOGRAPHY	146

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1. Comparison of characteristics between human and canine OSAThe table is modified from Morello E, Martano M, Buracco P. Biology, diagnosis and treatmentof canine appendicular osteosarcoma: similarities and differences with human osteosarcoma.Vet J. 2011;189(3):268-277 [133]
Table 1.2. Comparison of prognostic markers between human and canine OSA25
Table 1.3. Circulating miRNAs found in patients (serum or plasma) 26
Table 1.4. Comparison between no chemotherapy, or with chemotherapies, or chemotherapiesand immunotherapy after surgery in cOSA
Table 1.5. Current target therapies for hOSA in clinical trials
Table 2.1. IC ₅₀ values for cisplatin, carboplatin, and doxorubicin on OSA cell lines
Table 2.2. Canine and human osteosarcoma cell lines in this study
Table2.3. Antibodies used in immunohistochemistry (IHC) staining and western blot analysis61
Table 3.1. The effects of sorafenib on cell viability and IC50s of sorafenib and three first lineOSA chemotherapy agents (cisplatin, carboplatin, and doxorubicin)
Table 3.2. Summary information and comparison of studies using TKIs in clinical studies forcanine OSA (EOD every other day)
Table 4.1. Protential drugs identified from Hight Throughput Screening (HTS)119
Table 4.2. IC ₅₀ values for bortezomib and JQ1 on OSA cell lines Cell viability was measured by CellTiter 96 [®] MTS assay on all seven OSA cell lines, including four cOSA (D17, Abrams, Gracie, and BZ) and three hOSA (SAOS2, U2OS, and MG63) cell lines. All cell lines were treated with drugs for 72 hours
Table 4.3. Antibodies used in western blot analysis
Table 5.1. Protential drugs identified from GSK published Kinase Inhibitor library145

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1. Images of BZ cell lines during culture. Phase contrast images showed growth morphology of BZ at different passages, X 4 (A) 5 weeks after isolation, passage 5 (B) passage 16, (C) passage 50 in cell culture. (D, E) Confocal images presented IHC staining of DAPI (blue), osteocalcin (green), and vimentin (red) with OSA cells. For (D, E), calibration bar: 50µM. (D) BZ and other cOSA cell lines were confirmed as osteosarcoma by IHC staining. Calibration bar: 50µM. (E) Human OSA cell lines SAOS2, U2OS, and MG63 were confirmed as osteosarcoma by IHC staining. Calibration bar: 50µM.

Figure 3.4. (A and B) Three different ratios of sorafenib and doxorubicin were examined with Combination index (CI) assay on SAOS2 cells, CI values less then 1 suggest synergistic effects (CompuSyn software). **(A)** a representative chart showed four different combination doses and CI values indicating these combinations are all synergism. **(B)** in Normalized isobologram, we included three different rations of sorafenib and doxorubicin (20:1, 50:1, and 100:1). **(C)** The combination of sorafenib and cisplatin was examined on D17 cells at a ratio of 4:1. **(D)** The combination of sorafenib and carboplatin was examined on D17 cells at a ratio of 1:5.......88

Figure 3.5. The combination of sorafenib and doxorubicin caused cell cycle progression in D17 cells. Cell cycle distribution of D17 OSA cells treated with wither **(A)** DMSO (control), **(B)** sorafenib 5μ M, **(C)** doxorubicin 100 nM, or **(D)** both sorafenib 5μ M plus doxorubicin 100nM for 24 hours. Representative flow histograms demonstrating changes in the cell cycle progression on canine OSA D17 cell line. The combination of sorafenib and doxorubicin resulted in a cell arrest at G2/M phase. Representative cell cycle distribution graphs showed a G2/M cell arrest in **(E)** D17, **(F)** Abrams and human OS **(G)** SAOS2 cell lines. ***P<0.001 for G2/M arrest

Figure 4.2. OSA cell migration and invasion ability were inhibited by bortezomib and JQ1. **(A)** Pictures comparing wound healing in SAOS2 cell line with and without bortezomib at 0.015 μ M concentration (IC₅₀= 0.03 μ M). **(B)** Pictures comparing wound healing in D17 cell line with and without JQ1 at 0.4 μ M concentration (IC₅₀= 0.5 μ M). **(C)** Invasion of Matrigel by OSA cell lines with and without JQ1 (D17: 0.25, Abrams: 4, SAOS2: 2 μ M) or bortezomib (D17: 0.05, Abrams: 0.1, SAOS2: 0.02 μ M). **(D)** Cells invaded through the Matrigel membranes were quantified....121

Figure 4.6. Combination of bortezomib and JQ1 induced cell arrest in G2/M phase. D17, Abrams, and SAOS2 cells were treated with JQ1 (1µM), bortezomib (10 nM), or JQ1 + bortezomib for 24 hours. Cell cycles were analyzed by PI staining and Modfit Lt[™] software. The results showed an increase of G2/M cell arrest with JQ1 and bortezomib on **(A)** D17, **(B)** Abrams, and **(C)** SAOS2 cell lines. ***P<0.001, **P<0.01, *P<0.05 for G2/M arrest compared to

KEY TO ABBREVIATIONS

- Bor bortezomib
- CDDP cisplatin
- CDK cyclin-dependent kinase
- CTCs circulating tumor cells
- cOSA canine osteosarcoma
- DFI disease-free interval
- DFS disease-free survival
- DMSO dimethyl sulfoxide
- DOX doxorubicin
- EGF epidermal growth factor
- EOD every other day
- FACS fluorescence-activated cell sorter
- FBS fetal bovine serum
- GD2 disialoganglioside
- HTS high throughput screening
- hOSA human osteosarcoma
- MST median survival time
- PBS phosphate buffered saline
- qRT-PCR quantitative real time reverse transcription PCR
- OC osteocalcin

OSA osteosarcoma

- OS overall survival
- PD-1 programmed death 1
- PDGFR platelet-derived growth factor receptor
- PFS progression Free Survival
- TKIs tyrosine kinase inhibitors
- VEGF vascular endothelial growth factor

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 Osteosarcoma (OSA)

1.1.1 OSA in humans and dogs

Osteosarcoma is the most common bone tumor in both humans and dogs. The diagnosis of osteosarcoma is based on the physical presentation (pain, limited joint movement, and swelling), radiological examination, and the definitive diagnosis is based on histological evaluation of fine needle biopsy or resected specimen [1, 2]. In humans, around 1000 cases were diagnosed with OSA (hOSA) in 2016 in the United States [3], with a major peak in adolescents (14-19 years of age) and in those over 70 years of age [4]. In canine OSA, besides an small incidence peak in 1–2-year-old dogs, the largest incidence is in older dogs from 6-10 years of age, with around 80% of cases occurring in dogs over 7 [4, 5]. Compared to the OSA incidence rate of 1/100,000 in humans [6], canine osteosarcoma (cOSA) has a much higher incidence rate with more than 10,000 cases diagnosed with osteosarcoma in the United States per year [7] and an estimated incidence rate of about 14/100,000 [8, 9].

In both species, the survival rate varies depending on whether the tumor is localized or has metastasized. In humans, around 20% of patients are diagnosed with metastatic disease at the time of presentation [10]. In hOSA, if the tumor is localized when diagnosed and treated, the overall 5-year survival rate is around 60% to 80%, but if the patient presents with metastatic disease, the 5-year survival is only 15 to 30% [6, 11]. In cOSA, the one-year survival rate with dogs receiving both surgery and chemotherapy ranges from 45-60% [10, 12, 13]. Similar to hOSA, metastatic disease in cOSA causes a difference in survival time. A study which reviewed OSA dogs that underwent amputation of the affected limb found that those with lymph node metastasis at surgery had a median survival time (MST) of 59 days, significantly short than 318

days in dogs without metastasis at the time of presentation [14]. In previous studies, although only a few of dogs (10%) presented with metastases at the time of presentation, around 90% of cOSA cases with surgery alone die of metastatic disease after one year of diagnosis of OSA [15, 16]. This aggressiveness is presumed to be associated with micro metastases, which are not detected by the diagnostic imaging techniques at the time of presentation [17-20]. Therefore, a canine OSA patient is considered to have high metastatic potential. In both species, metastatic OSA patients are difficult to treat, they are resistant to drugs and have very limited treatment options, thus novel therapeutic agents are urgently needed.

1.1.2 Epidemiology of OSA

The etiology of OSA in both humans and canines is complicated. In addition to the genetic factors that may be predisposing as described below in section 1.1.4, there are other environmental factors that may contribute to risk. These include prior bone injuries, history of implants in the bone, other trauma and prior radiation exposure [21, 22]. Nonetheless, most of the OSA cases are sporadic.

In cOSA, large breed dogs have a higher risk for osteosarcoma [5]. A survey from Norway, listed the OSA incidences rates ranging from 0.2 to 8.9% in four large breed dogs (8.9% in Irish wolfhound, 5.8% in Leonberger, 0.9% in Newfoundland, and 0.2% in Labrador retriever) among 4380 dogs [5]. Another study which contained data on 120 dogs from Poland reported that the OSA incidences were between 2.7 and 10.7%, and the most predisposed breed was the Rottweiler. In addition, among dogs affected with OSA, more than 80% were large and giant breed dogs [23]. A study which used data from 400,000 Swedish dogs, found that the Irish

wolfhound, St. Bernard, Leonberger, Great Dane and the Rottweiler, flat coated retriever, greyhound dogs, in this order, had the highest incidence rates among 56 breeds [24].

1.1.3 Dog as a translational model

Canine osteosarcoma is viewed as a good translational model for human OSA for several reasons. First, canine OSA closely resembles human OSA in histopathological characteristics and responses to conventional chemotherapeutic agents. Second, canine OSA occurs spontaneously [7], which is an good system to study the progression of this tumor. Moreover, cOSA has high metastatic potential, which provides a source to evaluate the responsiveness of novel therapeutic agents for the most challenging human counterpart [25]. Also, the similarity of genomic and transcriptomic findings provide the rationale of using canine OSA as a model for studying human disease [26].

1.1.4 Genetics of osteosarcoma

Osteosarcoma is a genetically diverse and karyotypically complex cancer in both species and in nearly all cases examined, it is characterized by significant somatic copy number alteration, structural variations, and chromosomal instability [27-29]. While most cases are sporadic, there are inherited mutations in tumor suppressor loci that predispose to OSA.

1) Genetic predisposition

In hOSA, there is an increased incidence of primary OSA associated with several genetic syndromes. Two of the most common germline mutations are Li-Fraumeni syndrome (germline mutation of the *TP53* gene) and hereditary retinoblastoma (germline mutation of the Rb gene)

[30, 31]. Patients with Li-Fraumeni syndrome have high risks of having wide range of cancers such as osteosarcoma, soft tissue sarcoma, breast cancer, brain tumors, acute leukemia, adrenal cortical cancers, and gonadal giant cell tumors [32, 33]. Other germline mutations associated with risk of osteosarcoma in humans include Rothmund Thomson syndrome type 2 (germline mutation of the *RECQL4* gene), Werner syndrome (germline mutation of the *RECQL3* gene), Bloom syndrome (BS, germline mutation of the *RECQL2* gene), RAPADILINO syndrome, and Diamond Blackfan anemia [34-36].

In cOSA, a recent study used whole exome sequencing to compare matched tumor and normal tissues with three breeds (golden retrievers, Rottweilers, and greyhounds) predisposed to OSA [37]. The authors reported that the commonly seen germline variants in humans such as *RB*, *P53*, and *NFIB* are not as common in dogs [37], nonetheless, the most common affected genes are *CDKN2A/B* (31.8%) and *GRM4* (18.2%) within the examined cases. A genome-wide association study revealed 33 risk loci for osteosarcoma, including *CDKN2A/B*, *AKT2*, and *BCL2* [38] in three high-risk breeds (greyhound, Rottweiler, and Irish wolfhound), but no specific mutations were identified.

2) Somatic Mutations

Most of the somatic mutations associated with this disease are seen in both species and include *CDKN2A/B, DLG2, MYC, TP53, PTEN, SETD2, and RUNX2* [7, 36, 37, 39, 40].

In dogs, OSA patients have similarities of several top somatic mutations or copy number alterations in *TP53*, *RB1*, *PTEN*, and *MYC* [29, 40].

Another common somatic mutation in cOSA is in tumor suppressor gene *SETD2*. One study documented that mutated *SETD2* was found in 21% of examined samples whereas other

reports of hOSA had less than 2% in *SETD2* mutations [37]. Moreover, a similar finding was reported earlier this year, where besides somatic point mutations in *TP53* (71%), mutations in are *SETD2* (42%) and *DMD* (50%) were reported [40]. The inactivation of tumor suppressor gene *SETD2* was described in renal carcinoma and lymphoma in humans [41, 42]. While the loss of function of *SETD2* in cOSA is not clear, *SETD2* as a potential oncogenic driver was found to regulate *p53*; with mutations in these two genes being concurrent in cOSA [37, 40]. Although loss of DMD has not been reported in human OSA [40], DMD deletions were associated with enhanced cell migration, invasion, cell growth in several human cancer cell lines (gastrointestinal stromal tumor, rhabdomyosarcoma, and leiomyosarcoma), suggesting it may function as a tumor suppressor [43].

1.2. Prognostic factors for OSA

Traditional prognostic factors in osteosarcoma include clinical factors like age, gender, tumor histological grade, tumor site, and stage. However, different techniques and endpoints used for evaluation make comparisons between studies difficult [44]. In addition, group size and specific target groups might also alter the conclusion of prognostic determinants. For instance, it is believed that young age at diagnosis is a negative prognostic factor, however, a research group pointed out that compared to younger patients, older patients (>65) presented with a worse prognosis. These studies are complicated by the variable use of chemotherapies in some of the studies and the variable presence or absence of metastatic disease at diagnosis, and variable inclusion/exclusion criteria of the studies [45].

Another potential prognostic indicator shared by both species is post-surgical infection. In dogs, deep infection is common after limb-sparing surgery [46-48]. In two small cohorts of cOSA studies, 11 dogs with surgical infection had a 685 days of median survival time (MST) compared to 289 days in the control groups (9 dogs) [49]. In another studies of 47 dogs with limb-sparing surgery, the researcher reported that 69% of the dogs that had infection post-surgery, had a median survival time of 480 days, whereas patients with no infections had a median survival time of 228 days [47]. Later in 2018, a retrospective study reported that the MST between 15 dogs that had surgical site infection and 134 non infected dogs was not significant different. In human OSA, the effect of post-surgery infection is also controversial. A retrospective analysis of 412 patients reported 10% of patients with infection; the 10 year survival rate of the patients with infections was 85% as compared to the 62% of those without infections [50]. In another study of 79 patients, however, the one-year and two-year survival rate showed no difference between those 13 patients who developed infection as compared to the other 66 patients that did not have an infection [51]. The positive effect of post-surgical infection on patient survival might seem unexpected as infection control is part of standard operating procedures in all surgeries both human and veterinary medicine and infection is an unwanted complication. However, most tumors also deploy immunosuppressive signals to their surroundings and recent insights into the effects of immune activation on combatting tumor growth [52, 53] may explain these paradoxical findings.

In dogs, different osteosarcoma locations result in different prognosis and survival times. Dogs with OSA of maxilla, mandible, or calvarium who received surgery had a median survival time of 329 days [54], while others with tumors in ulna had an overall survival (OS) time of 277 days

[55]. When tumor location was divided into radius or non-radius sites, 14 out of total 48 dogs with tumors at radius reached 596 days of OS time whereas dogs with non-radius OSA resulted in a shorter OS time of 232 days [20]. Although these studies reported a significant difference on disease free and survival time based on the locations of tumors, the conclusions should be interpreted with caution as the authors did not report which dogs in each category received chemotherapy.

OSA is very aggressive disease and recurrence is common. Despite improvements in diagnostic imaging, micro metastases are frequently not detected. Therefore, developing a highly sensitive diagnostic method to detect early micro-metastasis or monitor high risk OSA patients would benefit the patients. For example, additional treatments or change of regiment may be included earlier if the progression of OSA can be monitored closely, and this will potentially improve the survival.

Besides traditional prognostic factors, other studies have focused on the correlations between molecular biomarkers, such as protein markers like hypoxia-inducible transcription factor (HIF-1), VEGF, c-FOS, with prognosis outcome in clinic (**Table 1.1**). Nonetheless, with the improvement of technologies and the need for real-time monitoring, other methods are being developed to meet the need. Three types of potential biomarkers are currently being studied: these are a) circulating tumor cells, b) analysis of circulating tumor derived DNA for mutations, and c) circulating miRNAs as will be discussed in detail below. Compared to traditional tissue biopsy, these sampling methods are known as liquid biopsy. Liquid biopsies have the advantage of relative simplicity, being noninvasive, and offering real time monitoring, and providing key tumor related information.

1.2.1 Circulating tumor cells (CTCs)

The CTCs are cells shed from a tumor site and enter the blood circulation and are considered as the major cause of tumor metastasis and recurrence in many different types of tumor, such as breast and prostate cancers [56-58]. In the peripheral blood, the CTCs are isolated from whole blood after erythrocyte lysis and flow cytometric analysis [59] or other techniques like dielectrophoresis and CTC enrichment technique [60, 61], or use of microfiltration in two and three dimensions [62]. The liquid biopsy of circulating tumor cells can be used to monitor the changes in an animal during chemotherapy. A preclinical model mouse model demonstrated that CTCs increased with the chemotherapy, ifosfamide, whereas the lung metastasis were decreased [60]. The author interpreted this observation as these cancer cells were released from the primary tumor site due to ifosfamide, and not reflecting more metastases. So, careful studies will need to be carried out when interpreting CTC numbers.

Utilizing CTC numbers as diagnostic and prognostic have been explored in hOSA clinical studies. A study demonstrated CTC counts are higher in metastatic patients and associated in patients with poor response of neoadjuvant chemotherapy [63]. In another study of small numbers of hOSA patients, researchers found that CTCs changes can be detected earlier than the appearance of lung metastases, an increase of mesenchymal CTCs are associated with shorter disease free survival [61]. Thus, the CTC studies have to be interpreted with caution and caution should be exercised when extrapolating from mouse models to the clinic.

In canine OSA, circulating tumors cells can also be detected. One study used flow cytometry to detect circulating tumor cells with positive staining of intracellular collagen 1 and osteocalcin during different period of treatments in three canine patients [59]. The CTCs decreased soon

after limb amputation and increased prior to metastases, suggesting the potential of using CTCs to monitor cOSA disease progression. However, some limitations might decrease the strength of this study, such as small number of canine patients and the lack of methods to verify the sensitivity of the liquid biopsy techniques. In our preliminary studies, we have been able to detect CTCs in canine osteosarcoma using CellSieve[™] Microfilters. OSA cells were isolated from peripheral blood by using this low pressure filtration equipment to filter with membranes contain 7 µM pores, and confirmed with biomarkers osteocalcin, vimentin, and negative for normal blood cells marker CD45 [64]. Additional studies are needed to effectively assess the utility and interpretation of CTCs in both human and canine OSA.

1.2.2 Circulating microRNAs

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are a class of small non-coding RNA, showed strong association with oncogenesis through post-transcriptionally. They are involved in controlling critical biological processes such as cell proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis, and metastasis. In some types of cancer, cancer related miRNAs are released and can be detected in the blood, also reflecting the pathologic state of the tumor [65]. Since MicroRNAs are stable, RT-qPCR techniques can therefore measure the status of these circulating miRNAs and study the correlation between these potential biomarkers and the progression of disease. One study measured plasma levels of four potential circulating miRNAs, miR-547-3p, miR-214, miR-355-5p, and miR-205-5p in twenty OSA and fifteen healthy samples [66]. Among them, miR-205-5p was statistically significantly decreased whereas miR-547-3p, miR-214, miR-355-5p were statistically significantly increased in OSA plasma samples. In addition, miR-214 showed potential as OSA

prognostic factor since low plasma levels of miRNA-214 at diagnosis was associated with better outcomes in metastatic patient group. Other miRNAs that were found in plasma or in tumor samples that's are associated with OSA prognosis are summarized **in Table 1.2**.

In the canine OSA, clinical studies of circulating miRNAs are very limited. Only one clinical report focused on circulating miRNA and its clinical significance. This report suggested high circulating miR-126 predicted prolonged disease free survival and overall survival and high circulating miR-214 was corelated with short disease free survival and overall survival in canine osteosarcoma patients [67]. Despite the limited information of circulating miRNAs in canine osteosarcoma, several miRNAs were found to play a role in tumor samples, which can be viewed as potential candidates for future studies. Among them, miR-1 and miR-133b were found to be drown regulated in cOSA and associated with higher levels of MET and MCL1 [68].

1.3. Treatments of osteosarcoma

1.3.1 Standard of care therapeutic agents in hOSA

The current standard of care treatment for hOSA patients is surgery with wide excision of the primary tumor (unless the tumor is unresectable), combined with radiation and chemotherapies. With surgery alone, the overall 5-year survival rate is less than 20% [69, 70]. Chemotherapies for hOSA patients was started in the 1970s. With the advance of chemotherapy, either adjuvant or neoadjuvant treatment, the overall 5-year survival rate improved to around 75-80% [6, 71]. While systemic therapy has improved disease-free interval (DFI) and overall survival, there has been limited progress in developing more effective chemotherapies over the past three decades [72, 73]. In human OSA patients, doxorubicin,

cisplatin, carboplatin, ifosfamide, and high-dose methotrexate are the main components of chemotherapy regimens [2, 74, 75].

1.3.2 Standard of care therapeutic agents in cOSA

The standard of care for canine osteosarcoma is surgery, amputation or limb-sparing surgery (if the tumor locates at distal radius, and the tumor is affecting less than 50% of the limb [49]), followed by adjuvant chemotherapy. In cOSA, limb amputation is the current standard of care for local management [16]. Clinical outcomes between different treatment approaches from different studies are summarized in **Table 1.4**. Median survival time of amputation alone has been reported to be 119 to 175 days, with one-year survival rates range from 11 to 21% [16, 76-78]. Adjuvant use of chemotherapy was shown to result in a) increase in disease-free interval from 160 days to 226 days, b) nearly two-fold increase in median survival time and c) increase in one-year survival rate from 11-21 % to 33-62% with the addition of chemotherapy as compared to groups with surgery alone. These advantages were seen either with single chemotherapeutic agent [13, 76-82] or combinations of two [12, 17, 20, 83-85] in many studies. As summarized in **Table 1.4**, the most widely used chemotherapeutic regimens in cOSA dogs, cisplatin, carboplatin, and doxorubicin resulted in significantly prolonged overall survival time compared to dogs receiving surgery alone as the main treatment [8, 17, 48].

1) Cisplatin: Many studies provided evidence that cisplatin used in OSA treatment prolonged the overall survival time. With amputation only, the median survival time was around 134 days and the one-year survival rate was 11.5% in a report of 162 canine OSA cases [16]. There are two subsequent studies that used this amputation report [16] as a historical control, and

compared the outcomes of the dogs that received both surgery and cisplatin [77, 80]. One study of 16 dogs that received cisplatin after amputation reported a median survival time of 413 days with one-year survival rate of 62% of dogs (10 dogs) [80]. Another study of 22 dog cases reported a median survival time of 325 days and 45.5% of one-year survival rate with cisplatin [77]. Likewise, significant differences were noted in other two studies where cOSA cases treated with surgery alone or with additional cisplatin were directly compared [76, 78]. In one of these studies, among 30 dogs that presented with OSA, 15 dogs that were treated with surgery alone had a median survival time of 168 days, and 15 others treated with surgery and cisplatin treatment had a longer time of 290 days [76]. Another study indicated similar clinical benefit of cisplatin, 36 canine OSA patients treated with cisplatin resulted in significantly longer median survival time (262 days) than 35 patients treated with amputation alone (119 days) [78]. The duration and timing of cisplatin use was also evaluated in a study where 17 out of 36 dogs who received 2 cycles of cisplatin after amputation surgery were compared with 19 dogs that received one dose before and after surgery. The outcomes from two groups were similar (262 days versus 282 days), indicating the effects of the time to start chemotherapy induction did not have a significant effect [78].

2) Doxorubicin: Some studies indicate a significant longer median survival time for cOSA with doxorubicin as compared to surgery alone. A research group reported that the median survival time was prolonged with the doxorubicin treatments in 35 appendicular OSA patients, 366 days versus 134 days in the control group [16, 81]. In another study, researchers reported results of 303 dogs with appendicular OSA and treated with doxorubicin after amputation. The median survival time of dogs received doxorubicin was 240 days [13].

3) Carboplatin: Carboplatin as a single agent to treat cOSA was evaluated in a study with 48 cases, and these dogs reached a median survival time of 321 days and disease-free interval of 257 days [86]. This clinical benefit was also documented in another study which included 155 cases of cOSA. The dogs had a median survival time of 307 and DFI of 256 days after 3 cycles of carboplatin [82]. These two clinical studies showed that carboplatin is similarly effective as cisplatin, suggesting carboplatin can be use as alternative option for cisplatin. Instead of traditional IV administration, a single subcutaneous infusion of carboplatin was given after limb amputation in two studies. One of the reports showed a comparable median survival time of 365 days in 17 dogs [87], however, another report published in 2019 reported a median survival time of 196 days in 45 dogs treated with subcutaneous injection [46], which suggest this subcutaneous infusion protocol cannot replace IV administration.

4) Cisplatin + doxorubicin: Using combinations of chemotherapeutic agents is also validated in cOSA patients. In a study of 102 cOSA cases, 94 dogs that received three cycles of cisplatin and doxorubicin had a median survival time of 330 days [88].

5) Carboplatin + doxorubicin: Another commonly use combination is carboplatin and doxorubicin. Thirty-two dogs that received three cycles of carboplatin and doxorubicin after surgery had a median survival time of 320 days [84]. Another retrospective study reported 29 dogs that completed three cycles of this combination reached a median survival time of 258 days [20]. The results of carboplatin and doxorubicin indicated that this combination had a significant effect when compared to dogs treated with surgery alone. The combination reached effect similar with cisplatin plus doxorubicin, indicating this combination can be an alternative option for cOSA.

6) High-dose methotrexate: While high-dose methotrexate is used in the first line chemotherapy in hOSA, there is very little experience with this drug in canine patients. In the literature, only two clinical reports more than thirty years ago used high-dose methotrexate, one reported 4 dogs developed metastatic disease at an median time of 4 months after amputation [89], and another report used bone cement that contained methotrexate in 6 dogs and reported the time of local tumor recurrence to be 1-6 months [90]. A more recent study documented methotrexate inhibited tumor cells growth on a canine patient-derived cell line [91]. In veterinary medicine, high-dose methotrexate is not a major chemotherapeutic agent for cOSA, and further evaluation is needed.

1.3.3 Targeted therapies

With understanding of osteosarcoma biology, genomic and signaling transduction pathway analyses, and drug screenings, targeted therapies have shown potential in clinical trials. Several novel strategies have been proposed to use in osteosarcoma, such as 1) tyrosine kinase inhibitors like mTOR (mammalian target of rapamycin) inhibitor, IGF1-R (insulin-like 1 receptor) inhibitors, sorafenib, dasatinib [92-94], or 2) mTOR inhibitors like rapamycin, 3) monoclonal antibodies like denosumab and dinutuximab, 4) cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) inhibitors.

1.3.3.1 Tyrosine kinase inhibitors

Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors in Human OSA

In humans, tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) such as Apatinib and sorafenib have been tested in clinical trials for hOSA. In preclinical models, sorafenib inhibits cell growth, angiogenesis and metastasis through the inhibition of VEGF and MAPK/ERK pathway [95, 96]. The potential of

using sorafenib combined with cisplatin [96] and everolimus (mTOR inhibitor) [97] has been explored in preclinical models, and the latter combination was used in a human clinical trial [92]. Based on the guideline published by The European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) soft tissue and bone sarcoma group, in second line therapy, a 3months progression-free survival in 40% patients suggested drug activity [98]. This clinical trial which combined sorafenib and everolimus reported 6-month progression-free survival in 45% of recruited OSA patients[92]. Therefore, this finding provided rationale for further investigation of using sorafenib with mTOR inhibitor. Apatinib is another TKI that has been used in advanced OSA patients who failed with standard care drugs, high-dose methotrexate, doxorubicin, cisplatin, and ifosfamide [99]. In this Phase 2 clinical trial, a total of 37 patients were included and 57% had progression free survival of 4 months [99]. In the case report, an OSA patient with lung metastases received apatinib as the only therapy and reached partial response after 11 months of treatment [100]. While the number of patients involved in these two clinical trials are small, the outcome of improved survival time brought further insights into the treatment of OSA. Understanding the complex biology of osteosarcoma will benefit the patients by identifying the targets for individual patient and offering more individualized therapeutic options.

Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors in Canine OSA

Despite the use of nearly a dozen tyrosine kinase inhibitors in human clinical trials for hOSA, the knowledge is very limited [101]. A few TKIs, masitinib [102], erlotinib [103], dasatinib [104] have been used in a limited way in cell culture studies in cOSA and showed some anti-tumor effects. Dasatinib, a multi-kinase which was used a first line drug in one cOSA case [105] and

used as an adjuvant therapy after amputation and carboplatin treatment in four dogs with cOSA[104]. Both of these studied showed promise of these approaches, with prolong survival times ranging from 1.5 to 3.2 times longer than median survival time when compared to historical controls. Three TKIs have been approved in the veterinary medicine to date: toceranib, masitinib and oclacitinib [101]. Toceranib and masitinib both target c-KIT. Masitinib had conditional approval for mast cell tumors in the US, but was not extended beyond 2015, although it is still available in Europe. The main target of palladia and masitinib, c-KIT, is not a major oncogenic driver in cOSA. Palladia and masitinib may also have effects on other similar TK receptors, such as the VEGF receptors, and may find some use in cases where overexpression of these receptors are involved, but no definitive evidence of their usefulness has been documented. The other approved TKI, oclacitinib, targets JAK, which is not relevant in cOSA. Thus, the potential of use of TKIs is an understudied area in cOSA and other veterinary cancers.

1.3.3.2 Targeting MYC pathway in OSA

The c-MYC oncogene is documented to be a major driver of OSA. Amplification of the MYC gene has been reported in OSA [106], and high-level of MYC is associated with poor prognosis in osteosarcoma patients [107]. While there are no established drugs that have successfully targeted MYC, there are some novel agents under development that show some promise. Among those novel therapeutic agents targeting MYC, one class of drugs is bromodomain and extra-terminal domain (BET) inhibitors. BETs regulate various genes involved in the cell cycle, cell proliferation, and inflammation [108]. To date, the most common pharmacological inhibitors of BET protein family are JQ1, I-bet151, and I-bet762. JQ1 is a selective small

molecular inhibitor of BRD4 (bromodomain-containing protein 4) [109, 110]. However, the effects of JQ1 and related mechanisms in OSA remain controversial. While the first study in humans OSA cell lines reported JQ1 regulates MYC expression [111], two other studies showed that JQ1 alone failed to inhibit MYC expression [110, 112]. While JQ1 as single therapeutic agent failed to inhibit MYC, JQ1 synergized with a mTOR inhibitor rapamycin and downregulated MYC and reduced tumor volume in a mouse model [112]. Other inhibitors in the literature involved in the suppression of MYC expression in OSA are Cyclin-dependent kinases inhibitors. Cyclin-dependent kinases are members of a family of protein kinases, involved in essential cellular processes such as cell cycle and cell proliferation. CDK4/6 inhibitor Palbociclib and CDK9 [106, 113] inhibitors have been considered as promising therapeutic agents for OSA. A study used CDK9 (cyclin-dependent kinase-9) to suppress MYC expression successfully inhibited tumor growth in a preclinical model [106].

1.3.4 Immunotherapies for OSA

The observation that post-surgery infections correlated with prolonged survival time and metastasis-free interval in certain patients indicated that the immune activation can have a major positive role in curtailing osteosarcomas [114]. Several immunotherapeutic strategies have been explored to improve the OSA treatments. These include activation of the immune system with specific antibodies and removal of immunosuppressive signals as discussed below. 1.3.4.1 Monoclonal antibody therapy

Prospective targeted therapies in hOSA also Treatments with humanized monoclonal antibody Denosumab has been reported in hOSA patients [115, 116]. Denosumab binds to nuclear factor

kappa-β ligand (RANKL) and prevents the interaction of RNAKL and RANK, which leads to the inhibition of osteoclast activation [117]. Preclinical animal model demonstrated that anti-RANKL agents have an effect on inhibition of tumor growth as well as metastatic disease [118]. Denosumab is currently phase II clinical trial with relapsed or refractory OSA in humans. Another promising monoclonal antibody is dinutuximab (mAb ch14.18), which was first developed to target disialoganglioside (GD2), a cell surface antigen expressed in human neuroblastomas and also expressed in osteosarcomas [119]. An OSA patient was include in a phase I clinical trial [120] and the use of dinutuximab is currently in phase II study in humans.

1.3.4.2 HER2-targeting *Listeria* vaccine

One of the novel strategies to improve the treatment efficiency or prevent metastatic disorder in cOSA is a cancer vaccine strategy. HER2 is a tyrosine kinase receptor belonging to the EGFR family and is found to be overexpressed in breast, prostate and pancreatic cancers [121, 122]. HER2 expression is often associated with activation of tumor growth, tumor cells survival, and thus with poor prognosis. In OSA, overexpression of HER2 was observed in 32% of human OS patients and corelated with worse clinical outcome and resistance to chemotherapies [123]. A recent Phase I trial documented the first Listeria-based vaccine approved for clinic use in veterinary medicine, named as ADXS31-164 [124]. ADXS31-164, established to induce HER2specific immunity, was given in 18 dogs with a protocol of every 3 weeks for 3 doses after 3 cycles of carboplatin. Fifteen dogs out of 18 vaccinated dogs developed T-cell response against HER2 with a delay in disease progression and improve overall survival. The MST in this trail is 956 days, with 56% of survival rate at 3 years after the treatments, compared to 423 days and

22% respectively to the control group. In humans, a Phase I/II trial has tested this strategy in human patients (NCT02386501) [125, 126] but the results of the trial have not been published. However, the possibility of *Listeria* infections in anti-cancer vaccines was reported in both human [127] and dogs [128]. Recently, a case report of dogs developed *Listeria* abscess located at the rib after 3 doses of vaccine [128], and in January 2020, the trial in dogs was suspended. The results of the human clinical trial have not yet been announced. Regardless, these studies further support that canine OSA is a useful platform to improve the treatment options for hOSA but also provides informative information for parallel studies.

1.3.4.3 Anti PD-1/PD-L1

Immune checkpoint inhibitors such as anti-programmed death (PD-1) and anti-PD-ligand 1 (PD-L1) antibodies showed potential for several types of cancers in humans, including non-small cell lung carcinoma, advanced melanoma, renal cell carcinoma. The investigation of PD-L1 and PD-1 is limited in osteosarcoma. One study reported high expression of PD-L1 is associated with shorter survival time in hOSA [129]. Another study indicated the correlation between high and low PD-L1 (refer to normal bone) expression and the clinical outcome; high expression of PD-L1 patients had a longer survival time compare to patients with low PD-L1 expression [130]. In veterinary field, a study investigated PD-L1 expression in various cancer types reported that 7 out of 10 tested cOSA samples showed positive PD-L1. This finding indicated the potential of PD-1/PD-L1 as therapeutic targets for canine OSA , but, further studies are need [131]. Immune based therapies discussed above can be combined with chemotherapy to enhance anti-tumor effects. With the success of immune therapies in other cancer types, and as the field

of immunotherapy expands, more treatment approaches that have an immune activation component hold potential for OSA patients.

1.3.5 Current clinical trials in hOSA

As compared to improvements in survival in various other tumor types, the survival rate of OSA patients has not improved for 30 years [6, 73, 132]. Even with current treatment options, patients with such aggressive tumors still have many challenges. Challenges include the development of resistance to conventional chemotherapies, recurrence and treatment of metastatic disease. Therefore, further research is needed to develop effective therapeutic agents for advanced osteosarcoma patients.

The current clinical trials for hOSA are summarized in **Table 1.5.** There are a number of small molecules that target tyrosine kinases and oncogenic signaling pathways, as well as monoclonal antibodies that target tumor antigens (RANKL and GD2) and PD-1.

1.4 Conclusion

Osteosarcomas are naturally occurring cancers in dogs and humans. In both species, the etiology of OSA remains unclear. Osteosarcoma is a heterogenous tumor with a variety of cell populations, therefore, revealing knowledge of the molecular and cell-signaling pathways involved in OSA will contribute to the identification of biomarkers, lead to discovery of potential drug candidates, improve the recognition of potential patients who will benefit from different therapeutic strategies and ultimately improve patient survival.
Most OSA patients are now treated with conventional chemotherapies, however, many patients with relapsed or metastatic disease will not benefit from the current therapeutic strategies. Preclinical animal models play a critical role in the drug discovery process. Using canine patients as a platform will not only benefit canine OSA patients but also will provide possibility of using novel therapeutic strategies in the humans because of the similarity in responses to chemotherapy in two species. Given this background, we wanted to explore novel therapeutics on cOSA and hOSA. In the following chapters, we present establishment and characterization of a patient-derived cell from a canine OSA, explore repurposing existing drugs by screening for cytotoxicity against OS cell lines as well as novel drugs and investigate the potential mechanisms involved in tumorigenesis and treatment response. APPENDIX

Table 1.1. Comparison of characteristics between human and canine OSA. The table is modified from Morello E, Martano M, Buracco P. Biology, diagnosis and treatment of canine appendicular osteosarcoma: similarities and differences with human osteosarcoma. *Vet J.* 2011;189(3):268-277 [133].

	Human OSA	Canine OSA
Age	Major peak: young adolescent (14-19 years old) elder >70 years old	Major peak: elder dogs 6-10 years old 1–2 years old
Race/breed	Not applicable	Large purebreds [5]: Irish wolfhound, Leonberger, Newfoundland, Labrador retriever
Incidence per 100,000	1	14
Gender	Male predominance [134] Female tend to present at earlier age	Male predominance [10, 134]
Locations of common tumor sites	80-90% long bones [10] Distal femur> proximal tibia> proximal humerus	75-77% long bones Distal radius> proximal humerus> distal femur>tibia
Survival rate	70% at 5 years with chemotherapy	60% at 1 year with chemotherapy
Metastasis rate without chemotherapy	80% before 2 years	90% before 1 year
Most common metastatic sites	lur	ng
Associated molecular and genetic factors [10, 40, 44, 135]	TP53: mutated and/or overexpressed IGF-1/IGF1-R: over expressed*, poor outcome HGF/c-Met: over expressed erbB-2/HER-2: over expressed*, poor outcome PTEN: mutated or down regulated Ezrin: detected Matrix metalloproteinases: expressed Sis/PDGF: expressed VEGF: expressed Rb: mutated or down regulated MMP-2, MMP-9: up regulated	TP53: mutated and/or overexpressed DMD: somatic point mutations, deletions, and chromosomal translocations SETD2: mutated IGF-1/IGF1-R: over expressed, poor outcome HGF/c-Met: over expressed erbB-2/HER-2*: over expressed, poor outcome PTEN: mutated or down regulated Ezrin: detected Matrix metalloproteinases: expressed VEGF: expressed VEGF: expressed COX-2 Angiogenetic factors Telomerase reverse transcriptase gene
IHC markers	osteocalcin, alkaline phosphatase [136]	osteocalcin, vimentin, osteonectin [137] Alkaline Phosphatase [138]

*Denotes that overexpression of the gene in the tumor was correlated with poor outcome

	Human OSA	Canine OSA				
Positive prognostic indicators	Post-operative limb sparing infection	[47, 49, 50]				
	High percentage of necrosis induced	by chemotherapy or radiotherapy				
Negative prognostic indicators	Tumor volume, grade					
	Metastasis at diagnosis: lung, bones, lymph nodes					
	High serum ALP, LDH activities					
	Young age at diagnosis					
Prognostic markers	microRNAs (miR-214, miR-382,	microRNAs (miR-214, miR-126,				
	miR-134, miR-544) miR-34a)					
	DNA methylation analysis					
	Circulating tumor cells (CTCs)					
1						

 Table 1.2. Comparison of prognostic markers between human and canine OSA

Table 1.3. Circulating miRNAs found in patients (serum or plasma)

miRNA	Expression	Expression in Canine	Target	reference
	in human			
miR-9	If high: short OS		TGFBR2	[139]
miR-34a	If low: short DFS	decreased	hOSA: P53	[140-142]
			cOSA: KLF4 and	
			VEGFA	
miR-34b	down		hOSA: P53	[143]
miR-92a	up		cOSA: PTEN/AKT	[144, 145]
miR-126		If high: longer DFS and		[67]
		longer OS		
miR-133b	If low: short DFS			[146]
	and OS			
miR-192	If low: short DFS		hOSA: P53	[141]
miR-205-5p	down in OSA			[66]
	patients			
miR-206	If low: short DFS			[146]
	and OS			
miR-214		If high: short DFS and		[66 <i>,</i> 67]
		short OS		
miR-335-5p	up in OSA patients			[66]
miR-574-3p	up in OSA patients			[66]

DFS: disease-free survival; OS: overall survival

miRNAs as a prognostic marker found in tumor sample

	Expression	Expression in Canine	Target	reference
	in human			
miR-1		decreased when compared	MET	[68]
		with normal bone		
miR-133b		decreased when compared	MCL1	[68]
		with normal bone		
miR-34a		decreased when compared	KLF4 and	[140]
		with osteoblasts	VEGFA	
miR-34b	decreased when		P53	[143]
	compared with normal			
	tissue			

Table 1.4. Comparison between no chemotherapy, or with chemotherapies, or chemotherapies

 and immunotherapy after surgery in cOSA

Surgery only								
Treatment	Reference	Median survival times	Disease- free interval	one- year survival	Two- year survival	Surgery type	Study sizes	
		(days)	(DFI)	(%)	(%)			
Surgery alone	Shapiro 1988 [79]	102	NA	NA	NA	amputation	Total 19 n= 8 in surgery alone group	
	Spodnick 1992 [16]	134	NA	11	2	amputation	162	
	Mauldin 1988 [83]	175	160	21	0	amputation	19	
	Thompson 1991 [76]	168	NA	20	NA	amputation	15	
	Straw 1991 [78]	119	NA	11	4	amputation	35	
Surgery + cher	motherapy							
Treatment	Reference	Median survival times (days)	Disease- free interval (DFI)	one- year survival (%)	Two- year survival (%)	Dosage	Study sizes	
Cisplatin	Shapiro 1988 [79]	301	NA	NA	NA	2-6 cycles of 40-50 mg/m ² every 4 weeks	Total 19 n= 11 in surgery +cisplatin group	
	Thompson 1991 [76]	290	NA	33	NA	2 doses of 60 mg/m ² given at 2 and 7 weeks after surgery	15	
	Straw 1991 [78]	262 282	226 177	38 43	18 16	1 or 2 doses of 70 mg/m ² Group 1 (n=17): two cycles of cisplatin after surgery Group 2 (n=19): one cisplatin before and one after surgery	36	

Table 1.4. (cont'd)

	Kraegel 1991 [80]	413	NA	62	NA	6 cycles of 50 mg/m ² Given 1 or 2 weeks after amputation (n=5 received <6 cycles; n=3 received 6 cycles, and n=3 received > 6 cycles)	16
	Berg 1992 [77]	325	NA	46	21	1-6 cycles of 60 mg/m ² Given 1 or 2 weeks after amputation	22 n=17 with amputation n=5 with limb=sparing surgery
Doxorubicin	Berg 1995 [81]	366	NA	51	10	5 cycles of 30 mg/ m ² for every two weeks Surgery was given after second (n=18) or third (n=17) dose	35
	Moore 2007 [13]	240	NA	35	17	5 cycles of 30 mg/m ² for every two weeks started 2 weeks after amputation	303
Carboplatin	Bergman 1996 [86]	321	257	31	NA	Up to 4 cycles of 300 mg/ m ² carboplatin (n=34), others discontinued because of metastases (n=11) or unanticipated death (n=2)	48
	Philips 2009 [82]	307	256	37	19	3 cycles (n=25) or 4 cycles (n=128) Average dose <270 mg/m ² (n=17) or > 270 mg/m ² (n=138)	155
	Simcock 2012 [87]	365	NA	41	0	Single subcutaneous infusion of carboplatin (dosage 300 mg/m ²)	17

Table 1.4. (cont'd)

	Santamaria 2019 [46]	196	197	20*	13*	Single subcutaneous infusion of carboplatin (dosage 300 mg/m ²)	45
Cisplatin + Doxorubicin	Berg 1997 [88]	345 330	NA	48 46	28 28	Chemotherapy given two days after surgery (n=47) or 10 days after surgery, 3 cycles of 60 mg/m ² cisplatin and 15-20 mg/m ² doxorubicin (1-2 hours prior to cisplatin)	94
	Mauldin 1988 [83]	300	210	37	26	Total 2 cycles of each drug 30 mg/ m ² of doxorubicin was given 2 weeks after surgery Cisplatin were given at 60 mg/ m ² 3 weeks after doxorubicin was given	19
	Chun 2005 [85]	540 (2/16 still alive at 24.1 and 75 months after diagnosis)	471	69	25	4 cycles of 50 mg/ m ² of Cisplatin and 15 mg/ m ² of Doxorubicin were given with 24 hours of surgery (Doxorubicin was given 24 hours after Cisplatin)	16
Carboplatin+ Doxorubicin	Kent 2004 [84]	320	227	48	18	2 cycles of 300 mg/ m ² carboplatin and 30 mg/ m ² doxorubicin	32
	Bacon 2008 [20]	258	202 (187, n=30) (239, n=20)	NA	NA	n=29 completed 3 cycles of 300 mg/ m ² carboplatin and 30 mg/ m ² doxorubicin n=30 received carboplatin first n=20 received doxorubicin first	50

*Number inferred from graph presented in the publication [46]

Table 1.4. (cont'd)

	Frimberger 2016 [12]	317	NA	43	14	3 cycles of doxorubicin (30 mg/m ² for dogs greater than 15kg or 1mg/kg instead) every two weeks and then 3 cycles of carboplatin (300 mg/m ² for dogs greater than 15kg or 300 mg/m ² instead) every three weeks	38
Limb- sparing surgery+ Cisplatin, Carboplatin, and/or Doxorubicin	Liptak 2006 [49]	430	NA	NA	NA	n=4 received 4 cycles of carboplatin (300 mg/ m ² every 3 weeks) n= 3 received 5 doses of doxorubicin (30 mg/ m ² every 3 weeks) n=12 received 1 cycle of doxorubicin (30 mg/m ²) and carboplatin (300 mg/m ²) n=1 received 6 cycles of cisplatin (70 mg/m ² every 3 weeks).	20 n=10 used cortical allograft n=10 used endoprosthesis in limb-sparing surgery
HER-2 targeting <i>Listeria</i> vaccine	Mason 2016 [124]	956	615	78	67	4 cycles of 300 mg/ m ² carboplatin every three weeks and 3 doses of ADXS31-164 every three weeks	18

	TKIs	Molecular	Trial number	Phase	References
		targets			
Receptor	Apatinib	VEGFR	NCT02711007	2	[99]
tyrosine	Apatinib + anti	VEGF-2	NCT03359018	2	
kinase	PD-1				
inhibitors	Bevacizumab	VEGF	NCT00667342	2	[147]
	Cabozatinib	MET, VEGFR2,	NCT02243605	2	
		RET, c-KIT, TIE2			
	Figitumuamb	IGF1R	NCT00474760	1	[148]
	Imatinib	ABL, c-Kit,	NCT00030667	2	[149]
		PDGFR	NCT00031915	2	
	Pazopanib	VEGFR1-3,	NCT02048371	2	
		PDGFR-α,	NCT01759303	2	
		PDGFR-β, FGFR,			
		c-Kit, CSF-1			
	Regoragenib	VEGFR1-3,	NCT02048371	2	
		PDGFR-β. TIE2.	NCT02389244	2	
		FGFR. c-KIT.			
		RET, RAF			
	Sorafenib	VEGFR2-3,	NCT00889057	2	[150]
		PDGFR-β. CRAF.	NCT01804374	2	[92]
		BRAF. c-Kit.			
		FLT3			
	Sunitinib (+	VEGFR1-3.	NCT03277924	1/2	
	Nivolumab)	PDGFR-β			
Monoclonal	Pembrolizumab	PD-1	NCT02301039	2	
antibody	Denosumab	RANKL	NCT02470091	2	https://clinical
					trials.gov/ct2/
					show/NCT024
	Diputuvimah	CD2		2	/0091 https://clinical
	Diffutuximab	GDZ	INC102464445	2	trials.gov/ct2/
					show/NCT024
					84443
	Nivolumab (±	PD-1 (± CTLA-4)	NCT02304458	1/2	[130]
	ipilmumab)				

Table 1.5. Current targeted therapies for hOSA in clinical trials

BIBLIOGRAPHY

BIBLIOGRAPHY

1. Mehl, M.L. et al. (2001) Spontaneous regression of osteosarcoma in four dogs. J Am Vet Med Assoc 219 (5), 614-7.

2. Bacci, G. et al. (2005) Adjuvant and neoadjuvant chemotherapy for osteosarcoma of the extremities: 27 year experience at Rizzoli Institute, Italy. European Journal of Cancer 41 (18), 2836-2845.

3. (ASCO), A.S.o.C.O. (2019) Osteosarcoma - Childhood and Adolescence: Statistics.

4. Makielski, K.M. et al. (2019) Risk Factors for Development of Canine and Human Osteosarcoma: A Comparative Review. Vet Sci 6 (2).

5. Kristin P. Anfinsen, T.G., Oyvind S. Bruland, Thora J. Jonasdottir (2011) Breed-specific incidence rates of canine primary bone tumors — A population based survey of dogs in Norway. Can J Vet Res. 75 (3), 209-215.

6. Mirabello, L. et al. (2009) Osteosarcoma incidence and survival rates from 1973 to 2004: data from the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program. Cancer 115 (7), 1531-43.

7. Fenger JM, L.C., Kisseberth WC. (2014) Canine osteosarcoma: a naturally occurring disease to inform pediatric oncology. ILAR J. 55 (1), 69-85.

8. Withrow Stephen J., M.E.G., editors. (2001) In: Small animal clinical oncology. 3rd ed, W. B. Saunders.

9. Rowell, J.L. et al. (2011) Dog models of naturally occurring cancer. Trends Mol Med 17 (7), 380-8.

10. Morello, E. et al. (2011) Biology, diagnosis and treatment of canine appendicular osteosarcoma: similarities and differences with human osteosarcoma. Vet J 189 (3), 268-77.

11. Aljubran, A.H. et al. (2009) Osteosarcoma in adolescents and adults: survival analysis with and without lung metastases. Ann Oncol 20 (6), 1136-41.

 Frimberger, A.E. et al. (2016) Canine Osteosarcoma Treated by Post-Amputation Sequential Accelerated Doxorubicin and Carboplatin Chemotherapy: 38 Cases. J Am Anim Hosp Assoc 52 (3), 149-56.

13. Moore, A.S. et al. (2007) Doxorubicin and BAY 12-9566 for the treatment of osteosarcoma in dogs: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. J Vet Intern Med 21 (4), 783-90.

14. Hillers KR, D.W., Lafferty MH, Withrow SJ, Lana SE (2005) Incidence and prognostic importance of lymph node metastases in dogs with appendicular osteosarcoma: 228 cases (1986–2003). J Am Vet Med Assoc 226 (8), 1364-7.

15. Dernell WS, E.N., Straw RC, Vail DM. . (2007) In: Withrow & MacEwen's Small animal clinical oncology. , Elsevier.

16. Spodnick, G.J. et al. (1992) Prognosis for dogs with appendicular osteosarcoma treated by amputation alone: 162 cases (1978-1988). J Am Vet Med Assoc 200 (7), 995-9.

17. Selmic, L.E. et al. (2014) Comparison of carboplatin and doxorubicin-based chemotherapy protocols in 470 dogs after amputation for treatment of appendicular osteosarcoma. J Vet Intern Med 28 (2), 554-63.

18. O'Brien, M.G. et al. (1993) Resection of pulmonary metastases in canine osteosarcoma: 36 cases (1983-1992). Vet Surg 22 (2), 105-9.

19. Selvarajah, G.T. and Kirpensteijn, J. (2010) Prognostic and predictive biomarkers of canine osteosarcoma. Vet J 185 (1), 28-35.

20. Bacon, N.J. et al. (2008) Use of alternating administration of carboplatin and doxorubicin in dogs with microscopic metastases after amputation for appendicular osteosarcoma: 50 cases (1999-2006). Javma-Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association 232 (10), 1504-1510.

21. Evola, F.R. et al. (2017) Biomarkers of Osteosarcoma, Chondrosarcoma, and Ewing Sarcoma. Front Pharmacol 8, 150.

22. Ottaviani G., J.N. (2009) The Epidemiology of Osteosarcoma. In Pediatric and Adolescent Osteosarcoma (Jaffe N., B.O., Bielack S ed), Springer.

23. Sapierzynski, R. and Czopowicz, M. (2017) The animal-dependent risk factors in canine osteosarcomas. Pol J Vet Sci 20 (2), 293-298.

24. Egenvall, A. et al. (2007) Bone tumors in a population of 400 000 insured Swedish dogs up to 10 y of age: incidence and survival. Can J Vet Res 71 (4), 292-9.

25. Khanna, C. et al. (2014) Toward a drug development path that targets metastatic progression in osteosarcoma. Clin Cancer Res 20 (16), 4200-9.

26. Withrow, S.J. and Wilkins, R.M. (2010) Cross talk from pets to people: translational osteosarcoma treatments. ILAR J 51 (3), 208-13.

27. Smida, J. et al. (2017) Genome-wide analysis of somatic copy number alterations and chromosomal breakages in osteosarcoma. Int J Cancer 141 (4), 816-828.

28. Maeda, J. et al. (2012) Genomic instability and telomere fusion of canine osteosarcoma cells. PLoS One 7 (8), e43355.

29. Angstadt, A.Y. et al. (2012) A genome-wide approach to comparative oncology: high-resolution oligonucleotide aCGH of canine and human osteosarcoma pinpoints shared microaberrations. Cancer Genet 205 (11), 572-87.

30. Berman, S.D. et al. (2008) Metastatic osteosarcoma induced by inactivation of Rb and p53 in the osteoblast lineage. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105 (33), 11851-6.

31. Olivier M, G.D., Sodha N, Ohgaki H, Kleihues P, Hainaut P, Eeles RA (2003) Li-Fraumeni and related syndromes: correlation between tumor type, family structure, and TP53 genotype. Cancer Res 63 (20), 6643-50.

32. Correa, H. (2016) Li-Fraumeni Syndrome. J Pediatr Genet 5 (2), 84-8.

33. Hameed, M. and Mandelker, D. (2018) Tumor Syndromes Predisposing to Osteosarcoma. Advances in Anatomic Pathology 25 (4), 217-222.

34. Varshney, J. et al. (2016) Understanding the Osteosarcoma Pathobiology: A Comparative Oncology Approach. Vet Sci 3 (1).

35. Martin, J.W. et al. (2012) The genetics of osteosarcoma. Sarcoma 2012, 627254.

36. Simpson, S. et al. (2017) Comparative review of human and canine osteosarcoma: morphology, epidemiology, prognosis, treatment and genetics. Acta Vet Scand 59 (1), 71.

37. Sakthikumar, S. et al. (2018) SETD2 Is Recurrently Mutated in Whole-Exome Sequenced Canine Osteosarcoma. Cancer Res 78 (13), 3421-3431.

38. Karlsson EK, S.S., Ivansson E, Thomas R, Elvers I, Wright J, Howald C, Tonomura N, Perloski M, Swofford R, Biagi T, Fryc S, Anderson N, Courtay-Cahen C, Youell L, Ricketts SL, Mandlebaum S, Rivera P, von Euler H, Kisseberth WC, London CA, Lander ES, Couto G, Comstock K, Starkey MP, Modiano JF, Breen M, Lindblad-Toh K. (2013) Genome-wide analyses implicate 33 loci in heritable dog osteosarcoma, including regulatory variants near CDKN2A:B. Genome Biol. 14 (12), R132.

39. Yang W. Shao, G.A.W., Jinchang Lu, Qing-Lian Tang, Jonathan Liu, Sam Molyneux, Yan Chen, Hui Fang, Hibret Adissu, Trevor McKee, Paul Waterhouse & Rama Khokha (2018) Cross-species genomics identifies DLG2 as a tumor suppressor in osteosarcoma. Oncogene 38, 291–298.

40. Gardner, H.L. et al. (2019) Canine osteosarcoma genome sequencing identifies recurrent mutations in DMD and the histone methyltransferase gene SETD2. Commun Biol 2, 266.

41. Duns, G. et al. (2010) Histone methyltransferase gene SETD2 is a novel tumor suppressor gene in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Cancer Res 70 (11), 4287-91.

42. Zhu, X. et al. (2014) Identification of functional cooperative mutations of SETD2 in human acute leukemia. Nat Genet 46 (3), 287-93.

43. Wang, Y. et al. (2014) Dystrophin is a tumor suppressor in human cancers with myogenic programs. Nat Genet 46 (6), 601-6.

44. Clark, J.C. et al. (2008) A review of clinical and molecular prognostic factors in osteosarcoma. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 134 (3), 281-97.

45. Longhi, A. et al. (2008) Osteosarcoma in patients older than 65 years. J Clin Oncol 26 (33), 5368-73.

46. Santamaria AC, S.J., Kuntz CA. (2019) Adverse events and outcomes in dogs with appendicular osteosarcoma treated with limb amputation and a single subcutaneous infusion of carboplatin. J Am Vet Med Assoc 255 (3), 345-351.

47. Lascelles, B.D. et al. (2005) Improved survival associated with postoperative wound infection in dogs treated with limb-salvage surgery for osteosarcoma. Ann Surg Oncol 12 (12), 1073-83.

48. Szewczyk, M. et al. (2015) What do we know about canine osteosarcoma treatment? Review. Vet Res Commun 39 (1), 61-7.

49. Liptak, J.M. et al. (2006) Cortical allograft and endoprosthesis for limb-sparing surgery in dogs with distal radial osteosarcoma: a prospective clinical comparison of two different limb-sparing techniques. Vet Surg 35 (6), 518-33.

50. Jeys, L.M. et al. (2007) Post operative infection and increased survival in osteosarcoma patients: are they associated? Ann Surg Oncol 14 (10), 2887-95.

51. Funovics, P.T. et al. (2011) Pre-operative serum C-reactive protein as independent prognostic factor for survival but not infection in patients with high-grade osteosarcoma. Int Orthop 35 (10), 1529-36.

52. WB, C. (1991) The treatment of malignant tumors by repeated inoculations of erysipelas. With a report of ten original cases. 1893. Clin Orthop Relat Res (262), 3-11.

53. Vernon, L.F. (2018) William Bradley Coley, MD, and the phenomenon of spontaneous regression. Immunotargets Ther 7, 29-34.

54. Selmic, L.E. et al. (2014) Outcome and prognostic factors for osteosarcoma of the maxilla, mandible, or calvarium in dogs: 183 cases (1986-2012). J Am Vet Med Assoc 245 (8), 930-8.

55. Seguin, B. et al. (2017) Long-term outcome of dogs treated with ulnar rollover transposition for limb-sparing of distal radial osteosarcoma: 27 limbs in 26 dogs. Vet Surg 46 (7), 1017-1024.

56. Bidard, F.C. et al. (2018) Circulating Tumor Cells in Breast Cancer Patients Treated by Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy: A Meta-analysis. J Natl Cancer Inst 110 (6), 560-567.

57. Paoletti, C. et al. (2019) Circulating Tumor Cell Clusters in Metastatic Breast Cancer Patients: a SWOG S0500 Translational Medicine Study. Clin Cancer Res.

58. Danila, D.C. et al. (2011) Circulating tumor cells as biomarkers in prostate cancer. Clin Cancer Res 17 (12), 3903-12.

59. Wright, T. et al. (2019) Flow Cytometric Detection of Circulating Osteosarcoma Cells in Dogs. Cytometry A.

60. Chalopin, A. et al. (2018) Isolation of circulating tumor cells in a preclinical model of osteosarcoma: Effect of chemotherapy. J Bone Oncol 12, 83-90.

61. Wu, Z.J. et al. (2018) Significance of circulating tumor cells in osteosarcoma patients treated by neoadjuvant chemotherapy and surgery. Cancer Manag Res 10, 3333-3339.

62. Ferreira, M.M. et al. (2016) Circulating tumor cell technologies. Mol Oncol 10 (3), 374-94.

63. Li, M. et al. (2019) Prognostic and clinicopathological significance of circulating tumor cells in osteosarcoma. J Bone Oncol 16, 100236.

64. Marilia Takada, Y.-T.Y., Hunter Piegols, Paulo Vilar Saavedra, Cha-Mei Tang, Pete Amstutz and Vilma Yuzbasiyan-Gurkan, Abstract 3921: Detection of circulating tumor cells in osteosarcoma: A validation study using a translational model, AACR, Cancer Res July 1 2017 (77) (13 Supplement) 3921; DOI: 10.1158/1538-7445.AM2017-3921, Washington DC, 2017.

65. Turchinovich, A. et al. (2011) Characterization of extracellular circulating microRNA. Nucleic Acids Res 39 (16), 7223-33.

66. Allen-Rhoades, W. et al. (2015) Cross-species identification of a plasma microRNA signature for detection, therapeutic monitoring, and prognosis in osteosarcoma. Cancer Med 4 (7), 977-88.

67. Heishima, K. et al. (2019) Prognostic significance of circulating microRNA-214 and -126 in dogs with appendicular osteosarcoma receiving amputation and chemotherapy. BMC Vet Res 15 (1), 39.

68. Leonardo, L. et al. (2018) miR-1 and miR-133b expression in canine osteosarcoma. Res Vet Sci 117, 133-137.

69. Ferrari, S. et al. (2009) The treatment of nonmetastatic high grade osteosarcoma of the extremity: review of the Italian Rizzoli experience. Impact on the future. Cancer Treat Res 152, 275-87.

70. Tan, P.X. et al. (2012) Analysis of the efficacy and prognosis of limb-salvage surgery for osteosarcoma around the knee. Eur J Surg Oncol 38 (12), 1171-7.

71. Siegel RL, M.K., Jemal A (2017) Cancer Statistics. CA Cancer J Clin 67 (1), 7-30.

72. Isakoff, M.S. et al. (2015) Osteosarcoma: Current Treatment and a Collaborative Pathway to Success. J Clin Oncol 33 (27), 3029-35.

73. Stephanie M. Perkins, E.T.S., Todd DeWees, Haydar Frangoul (2014) Outcome for Children with Metastatic Solid Tumors over the Last Four Decades. PLOS 9 (7).

74. Meyers PA, S.C., Krailo M, Kleinerman ES, Betcher D, Bernstein ML, Conrad E, Ferguson W, Gebhardt M, Goorin AM, Harris MB, Healey J, Huvos A, Link M, Montebello J, Nadel H, Nieder M, Sato J, Siegal G, Weiner M, Wells R, Wold L, Womer R, Grier H (2005) Osteosarcoma: a randomized, prospective trial of the addition of ifosfamide and/or muramyl tripeptide to cisplatin, doxorubicin, and high-dose methotrexate. J Clin Oncol.

75. Sakamoto, A. and Iwamoto, Y. (2008) Current Status and Perspectives Regarding the Treatment of Osteosarcoma: Chemotherapy. Reviews on Recent Clinical Trials 3 (3), 228-231.

76. Thompson, J.P. and Fugent, M.J. (1992) Evaluation of Survival Times after Limb Amputation, with and without Subsequent Administration of Cisplatin, for Treatment of Appendicular Osteosarcoma in Dogs - 30 Cases (1979-1990). Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association 200 (4), 531-533.

77. Berg, J. et al. (1992) Treatment of dogs with osteosarcoma by administration of cisplatin after amputation or limb-sparing surgery: 22 cases (1987-1990). J Am Vet Med Assoc 200 (12), 2005-8.

78. Straw, R.C. et al. (1991) Amputation and cisplatin for treatment of canine osteosarcoma. J Vet Intern Med 5 (4), 205-10.

79. Shapiro W, F.T., Kitchell BE, Couto CG, Theilen GH. and 15;192(4):507-11., J.A.V.M.A.F. (1988) Use of cisplatin for treatment of appendicular osteosarcoma in dogs. J Am Vet Med Assoc. 192 (4), 507-11.

80. Kraegel, S.A. et al. (1991) Osteogenic sarcoma and cisplatin chemotherapy in dogs: 16 cases (1986-1989). J Am Vet Med Assoc 199 (8), 1057-9.

81. Berg, J. et al. (1995) Results of surgery and doxorubicin chemotherapy in dogs with osteosarcoma. J Am Vet Med Assoc 206 (10), 1555-60.

82. Phillips, B., Powers, B.E., Dernell, W.S., Straw, R.C., Khanna, C., Hogge, G.S., Vail, D.M., (2009) Use of single agent carboplatin as adjuvant or neoadjuvant therapy in conjunction with amputation for appendicular osteosarcoma in dogs. ournal of the American Animal Hospital Association, 33-38.

83. Mauldin GN, M.R., Withrow SJ, et al. (1988) Canine osteosarcoma: treatment by amputation versus amputation and adjuvant chemotherapy using doxorubicin and cisplatin. J Vet Intern Med, 177-180.

84. Kent MS, S.A., London CA, Seguin B. (2004) Alternating Carboplatin and Doxorubicin as AdjunctiveChemotherapy to Amputation or Limb-Sparing Surgery in theTreatment of Appendicular Osteosarcoma in Dogs. J Vet Intern Med. 18 (4), 540-4.

85. Chun R, K.I., Couto CG, Klausner J, Henry C, MacEwen EG. (2000) Cisplatin and doxorubicin combination chemotherapy for the treatment of canine osteosarcoma: a pilot study. J Vet Intern Med. 14 (5), 495-8.

86. Bergman PJ, M.E., Kurzman ID, Henry CJ, Hammer AS, Knapp DW, Hale A, Kruth SA, Klein MK, Klausner J, Norris AM, McCaw D, Straw RC, Withrow SJ. (1996) Amputation and carboplatin for treatment of dogs with osteosarcoma: 48 cases (1991 to 1993). J Vet Intern Med. 10 (2), 76-81.

87. Simcock JO, W.S., Prpich CY, Kuntz CA, Rutland BE. (2012) Evaluation of a single subcutaneous infusion of carboplatin as adjuvant chemotherapy for dogs with osteosarcoma: 17 cases (2006-2010). J Am Vet Med Assoc. 241 (5), 608-14.

88. Berg, J. et al. (1997) Effect of timing of postoperative chemotherapy on survival of dogs with osteosarcoma. Cancer 79 (7), 1343-50.

89. Cotter SM, P.L. (1978) High-dose methotrexate and leucovorin rescue in dogs with osteogenic sarcoma. Am J Vet Res. 39 (12), 1943-5.

90. Hovy L., T.B., Dingeldein E., Wahlig H., Enderle A (1989) The Effect of Bone Cement Containing Methotrexate on the Canine Osteosarcoma In New Developments for Limb Salvage in Musculoskeletal Tumors (T, Y. ed), Springer.

91. Bernardino, P.N. et al. (2018) Positive effects of antitumor drugs in combination with propolis on canine osteosarcoma cells (spOS-2) and mesenchymal stem cells. Biomed Pharmacother 104, 268-274.

92. Grignani, G. et al. (2015) Sorafenib and everolimus for patients with unresectable highgrade osteosarcoma progressing after standard treatment: a non-randomised phase 2 clinical trial. Lancet Oncol 16 (1), 98-107.

93. Wan, X. and Helman, L.J. (2007) The biology behind mTOR inhibition in sarcoma. Oncologist 12 (8), 1007-18.

94. Luk, F. et al. (2011) IGF1R-targeted therapy and its enhancement of doxorubicin chemosensitivity in human osteosarcoma cell lines. Cancer Invest 29 (8), 521-32.

95. Pignochino Y et al. (2009) Sorafenib blocks tumour growth, angiogenesis and metastatic potential in preclinical models of osteosarcoma through a mechanism potentially involving the inhibition of ERK1/2, MCL-1 and ezrin pathways. Mol Cancer. 10 (8), 118.

96. Yang, Q. et al. (2015) Synergistic growth inhibition by sorafenib and cisplatin in human osteosarcoma cells. Oncol Rep 33 (5), 2537-44.

97. Pignochino, Y. et al. (2013) The Combination of Sorafenib and Everolimus Abrogates mTORC1 and mTORC2 upregulation in osteosarcoma preclinical models. Clin Cancer Res 19 (8), 2117-31.

98. Van Glabbeke M, V.J., Judson I, Nielsen OS; EORTC Soft Tissue and Bone Sarcoma Group. (2002) Progression-free rate as the principal end-point for phase II trialsin soft-tissue sarcomas. Eur J Cancer. 38 (4), 543-9.

99. Xie, L. et al. (2019) Apatinib for Advanced Osteosarcoma after Failure of Standard Multimodal Therapy: An Open Label Phase II Clinical Trial. Oncologist 24 (7), e542-e550.

100. Zhou, Y. et al. (2017) A case report of apatinib in treating osteosarcoma with pulmonary metastases. Medicine (Baltimore) 96 (15), e6578.

101. Dervisis, N. and Klahn, S. (2016) Therapeutic Innovations: Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors in Cancer. Vet Sci 3 (1).

102. Fahey, C.E. et al. (2013) Apoptotic effects of the tyrosine kinase inhibitor, masitinib mesylate, on canine osteosarcoma cells. Anticancer Drugs 24 (5), 519-26.

103. Mantovani, F.B. et al. (2016) Effects of epidermal growth factor receptor kinase inhibition on radiation response in canine osteosarcoma cells. BMC Vet Res 12, 82.

104. Marley, K. et al. (2015) Dasatinib Modulates Invasive and Migratory Properties of Canine Osteosarcoma and has Therapeutic Potential in Affected Dogs. Transl Oncol 8 (4), 231-8.

105. Davis, L.E. et al. (2013) A case study of personalized therapy for osteosarcoma. Pediatr Blood Cancer 60 (8), 1313-9.

106. Sayles LC, B.M., Koehne AL, Leung SG1, Lee AG, Liu HY, Spillinger A, Shah AT, Tanasa B, Straessler K, Hazard FK, Spunt SL, Marina N, Kim GE, Cho SJ, Avedian RS, Mohler DG, Kim MO6, DuBois SG, Hawkins DS, Sweet-Cordero EA. (2019) Genome-Informed Targeted Therapy for Osteosarcoma. Cancer Discov. 9 (1), 46-63.

107. Chen, D. et al. (2018) Super enhancer inhibitors suppress MYC driven transcriptional amplification and tumor progression in osteosarcoma. Bone Res 6, 11.

108. Filippakopoulos, P. and Knapp, S. (2014) Targeting bromodomains: epigenetic readers of lysine acetylation. Nat Rev Drug Discov 13 (5), 337-56.

109. Delmore, J.E. et al. (2011) BET bromodomain inhibition as a therapeutic strategy to target c-Myc. Cell 146 (6), 904-17.

110. Baker, E.K. et al. (2015) BET inhibitors induce apoptosis through a MYC independent mechanism and synergise with CDK inhibitors to kill osteosarcoma cells. Sci Rep 5, 10120.

111. Lamoureux, F. et al. (2014) Selective inhibition of BET bromodomain epigenetic signalling interferes with the bone-associated tumour vicious cycle. Nat Commun 5, 3511.

112. Lee, D.H. et al. (2015) Synergistic effect of JQ1 and rapamycin for treatment of human osteosarcoma. Int J Cancer 136 (9), 2055-64.

113. Ma, H. et al. (2019) Cyclin-dependent kinase 9 (CDK9) is a novel prognostic marker and therapeutic target in osteosarcoma. EBioMedicine 39, 182-193.

114. Wycislo, K. and Fan, T. (2015) The immunotherapy of canine osteosarcoma: a historical and systematic review. J Vet Intern Med 29 (3), 759-69.

115. Savvidou, O.D. et al. (2017) Denosumab: Current Use in the Treatment of Primary Bone Tumors. Orthopedics 40 (4), 204-210.

116. Cathomas R, R.C., Bode B, Fuchs B, von Moos R, Schwitter M. (2015) RANK ligand blockade with denosumab in combination with sorafenib in chemorefractory osteosarcoma: a possible step forward? Oncology. 88 (4), 257-60.

117. Trinidad, E.M. and Gonzalez-Suarez, E. (2016) RANKL inhibitors for osteosarcoma treatment: hope and caution. Ann Transl Med 4 (24), 534.

118. Branstetter, D. et al. (2015) RANK and RANK ligand expression in primary human osteosarcoma. J Bone Oncol 4 (3), 59-68.

119. Heiner JP, M.F., Kallick S, Makley J, Neely J, Smith-Mensah WH, Cheung NK. (1987) Localization of GD2- specific monoclonal antibody 3F8 in human osteosarcoma. Cancer Res. 47 (20), 5377-81.

120. Yu AL, U.-F.M., Huang CS, Tsui CC, Gillies SD, Reisfeld RA, Kung FH. (1998) Phase I Trial of a Human-Mouse Chimeric Anti-Disialoganglioside Monoclonal Antibody ch14.18 in Patients With Refractory Neuroblastoma and Osteosarcoma. J Clin Oncol. 16 (6), 2169-80.

121. Ménard S, T.E., Campiglio M, Pupa SM. (2000) Role of HER2 gene overexpression in breast carcinoma. J Cell Physiol. 2000 Feb;182(2):150-62. 182 (2), 150-62.

122. Shahabi, V. et al. (2011) Development of a live and highly attenuated Listeria monocytogenes-based vaccine for the treatment of Her2/neu-overexpressing cancers in human. Cancer Gene Ther 18 (1), 53-62.

123. Scotlandi, K. et al. (2005) Prognostic and therapeutic relevance of HER2 expression in osteosarcoma and Ewing's sarcoma. Eur J Cancer 41 (9), 1349-61.

124. Mason, N.J. et al. (2016) Immunotherapy with a HER2-Targeting Listeria Induces HER2-Specific Immunity and Demonstrates Potential Therapeutic Effects in a Phase I Trial in Canine Osteosarcoma. Clin Cancer Res 22 (17), 4380-90.

125. Tarone, L. et al. (2019) Naturally occurring cancers in pet dogs as pre-clinical models for cancer immunotherapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother.

126. Flickinger, J.C., Jr. et al. (2018) Listeria monocytogenes as a Vector for Cancer Immunotherapy: Current Understanding and Progress. Vaccines (Basel) 6 (3).

127. Denham, J.D. et al. (2018) Two cases of disseminated infection following live organism anti-cancer vaccine administration in cancer patients. Int J Infect Dis 72, 1-2.

128. Musser, M.L. et al. (2019) Vaccine strain Listeria monocytogenes abscess in a dog: a case report. BMC Vet Res 15 (1), 467.

129. Koirala, P. et al. (2016) Immune infiltration and PD-L1 expression in the tumor microenvironment are prognostic in osteosarcoma. Sci Rep 6, 30093.

130. Yoshida, K. et al. (2019) Clinical outcome of osteosarcoma and its correlation with programmed death-ligand 1 and T cell activation markers. Onco Targets Ther 12, 2513-2518.

131. Maekawa, N. et al. (2016) Immunohistochemical Analysis of PD-L1 Expression in Canine Malignant Cancers and PD-1 Expression on Lymphocytes in Canine Oral Melanoma. PLoS One 11 (6), e0157176.

132. Xie, L. et al. (2017) Anti-angiogenesis target therapy for advanced osteosarcoma (Review). Oncol Rep 38 (2), 625-636.

133. Morello E, M.M., Buracco P. (2011) Biology, diagnosis and treatment of canine appendicular osteosarcoma: similarities and differences with human osteosarcoma. Vet J. 189 (2), 268-77.

134. Ottaviani, G. and Jaffe, N. (2009) The epidemiology of osteosarcoma. Cancer Treat Res 152, 3-13.

135. Maniscalco, L. et al. (2015) Increased expression of insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor is correlated with worse survival in canine appendicular osteosarcoma. Vet J 205 (2), 272-80.

136. Agustina, H. et al. (2018) The Role of Osteocalcin and Alkaline Phosphatase Immunohistochemistry in Osteosarcoma Diagnosis. Patholog Res Int 2018, 6346409. 137. Amaral, C.B. et al. (2018) Vimentin, osteocalcin and osteonectin expression in canine primary bone tumors: diagnostic and prognostic implications. Mol Biol Rep 45 (5), 1289-1296.

138. Barger, A. et al. (2005) Use of alkaline phosphatase staining to differentiate canine osteosarcoma from other vimentin-positive tumors. Veterinary Pathology 42 (2), 161-165.

139. Fei, D. et al. (2014) Serum miR-9 as a prognostic biomarker in patients with osteosarcoma. J Int Med Res 42 (4), 932-7.

140. Lopez, C.M. et al. (2018) MiR-34a regulates the invasive capacity of canine osteosarcoma cell lines. PLoS One 13 (1), e0190086.

141. Wang, Y. et al. (2015) Low miR-34a and miR-192 are associated with unfavorable prognosis in patients suffering from osteosarcoma. Am J Transl Res 7 (1), 111-9.

142. Ouyang, L. et al. (2013) A three-plasma miRNA signature serves as novel biomarkers for osteosarcoma. Med Oncol 30 (1), 340.

143. Tian, Q. et al. (2014) A causal role for circulating miR-34b in osteosarcoma. Eur J Surg Oncol 40 (1), 67-72.

144. Cao, S. et al. (2019) Role of microRNA-92a in metastasis of osteosarcoma cells in vivo and in vitro by inhibiting expression of TCF21 with the transmission of bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells. Cancer Cell Int 19, 31.

145. Xiao, J. et al. (2017) miR-92a promotes tumor growth of osteosarcoma by targeting PTEN/AKT signaling pathway. Oncol Rep 37 (4), 2513-2521.

146. Zhang, C. et al. (2014) Serum levels of microRNA-133b and microRNA-206 expression predict prognosis in patients with osteosarcoma. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 7 (7), 4194-203.

147. Navid, F. et al. (2017) A phase II trial evaluating the feasibility of adding bevacizumab to standard osteosarcoma therapy. Int J Cancer 141 (7), 1469-1477.

148. Langer, C.J. et al. (2014) Randomized, phase III trial of first-line figitumumab in combination with paclitaxel and carboplatin versus paclitaxel and carboplatin alone in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 32 (19), 2059-66.

149. Bond, M. et al. (2008) A phase II study of imatinib mesylate in children with refractory or relapsed solid tumors: a Children's Oncology Group study. Pediatr Blood Cancer 50 (2), 254-8.

150. Grignani, G. et al. (2012) A phase II trial of sorafenib in relapsed and unresectable highgrade osteosarcoma after failure of standard multimodal therapy: an Italian Sarcoma Group study. Ann Oncol 23 (2), 508-16. CHAPTER 2

ESTABLISHMENT AND CHARACTERIZATION OF A NOVEL CANINE OSTEOSARCOMA CELL LINE

2.1 Introduction

Osteosarcoma (OSA), the most common bone tumor, is a highly aggressive tumor and occurs naturally in both humans and dogs. In humans, OSA (hOSA) is a rare tumor compared to other tumor types, and the incidence rate is around 1/100,000 [1]. Canine OSA (cOSA), however, has a 14 times higher incidence rate compared to hOSA, around 14/100,000 [2, 3]. In canine OSA, several large breeds have higher incidence rates, including Irish wolfhound, Leonberger, greyhound, and German shepherd, as the lifetime risk is as high as 8% in Irish wolfhound, 3% in Leonberger in a published population-based studies contained 11350 dogs [4].

Canine osteosarcoma is a unique translational model for human OSA for several reasons. First cOSA is a naturally occurring disease and is similar in clinical presentation and histopathology to the human with the long bones being common sites of presentation in both species. Second, cOSA presents with higher incidence rate and high metastatic potential, which makes cOSA a useful tool to investigate treatments for the most challenging disease state. Importantly, heterogeneity, a common and challenging feature of most cancers, also seen in OSA in both species. Current strategies to treat metastatic OSA are still not effective. Therefore, cell lines generated from patients, especially from a metastatic site are useful tools in experimental and drug studies [5].

For the past thirty years, despite advances in treatment of other cancers, the overall survival rate for OSA has stagnated. This is in part due to the low number of OSA cases in humans, the high cost of drug development and the difficulty in carrying out clinical trials with novel agents on a small patient population dispersed across large distances. In order to gain a better understanding into OSA biology, and to facilitate drug development studies have used

commercially available human OSA cell lines, established novel patient derived OSA cell lines from canine [6-9] and human osteosarcoma [5, 10-13], and evaluated OSA xenograft models [10, 12]. In the current study, we established a novel canine OSA cell line, BZ, from a metastatic site in a patient that was previously treated with chemotherapy before tumor recurrence. Further study of the BZ Cell line will provide an additional tool and an *in vitro* model for studying cellular behavior, differential gene expression, and tumorigenesis.

2.2 Material and Methods

2.2.1 Origin of primary tumor and cell culture

The cell line was established from a fine needle aspirate of a metastatic mass under the right eye on the zygomatic arch from an eight-year-old male German shepherd dog with osteosarcoma which presented to the Michigan State University Veterinary Teaching Hospital. The patient had received two cycles of carboplatin after the primary osteosarcoma was found on right femur. The diagnosis of OSA was based on the histopathology findings. Cell line was established, cells were pelleted, fixed in formalin and embedded in paraffin, and examined by histopathology. Positive staining for osteocalcin (OC) and vimentin also confirmed OSA. The BZ cell line is currently in its 56th passage.

2.2.2 Preparation and maintenance of cell culture

The cells were isolated from a fresh fine needle aspirate, first treated with RBC lysis buffer for 10 minutes, and pelleted. Cells were then resuspended in Minimum Essential Medium α (α MEM medium, Gibco, Carlsbad, CA), supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum and

antibiotics (0.1% gentamycin, Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA), and seeded to a 100mm cell culture dish. The BZ cell line was passaged using 0.025% trypsin when cells reached 80% confluence, and now is currently in the 56th passage. NIH-3T3 is a mouse fibroblast cell line which we included as a positive control for PTEN expression studies. NIH-3T3 and all human OSA cell lines were maintained in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM medium, Gibco, Carlsbad, CA), supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, and gentamicin. Canine osteosarcoma cell lines were maintained in α MEM medium, supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, and gentamicin. All cell lines were incubated at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO₂ and 95% air.

2.2.3 Immunohistochemistry

For immunolabeling, the histochemistry staining was performed using CellSieve[™] CTC Enumeration Kit (Creav MicroTech) according to manufacturer's protocol. OSA cells were first seeded into chamber slide[™] (Lab-Tek[®]) then fixed with CellSieve[™] Prefixation Buffer for 15 minutes at room temperature and washed with PBS. Next, fixed cells were incubated with CellSieve[™] Postfixation Buffer for 20 minutes and changed to CellSieve[™] Permeabilization buffer for 20 minutes. Cells were washed with PBS after each incubation. Later, two fluorescent dye-conjugated antibodies (osteocalcin/FITC and vimentin/EF615) were added to the chamber and incubated with cells for 2 hours. After washing with PBS, a drop of CellSieve[™] Mounting Solution with DAPI (4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole), was applied on the top of fixed cells. Images were captured by Nikon C2 confocal microscope.

2.2.4 Cell viability assay

The MTS assay (Promega Corp.) was used to determine IC₅₀ values for conventional chemotherapy drugs and other compounds on OSA cells. Briefly, OSA cells (2,500-3500/well) were seeded on 96-well plates, then treated with compounds for 72 hours. 20 μ l of MTS tetrazolium compound was added to 100 μ l culture media. Cell viability was determined by the amount of colored formazan dye produced by live cells. The absorbance of formazan dye was measured at 490 nm, and IC₅₀ values were calculated by PRISM Statistical Software.

2.2.5 Protein expression analysis

For western blotting, 500,000 cells from cOSA and hOSA cell lines were collected, cells were palleted by centrifugation at 1000 rpm , the supernatant removed and the cells lysed with 250 μ l of CelLytic M lysis buffer (C2978, Sigma-Aldrich) with 2 μ l of protease inhibitor (P8340, Sigma-Aldrich) and 2 μ l of phosphatase cocktail inhibitor B (sc-45045, Santa Cruz.) according to manufacturer's protocol. Protein concentrations were quantified with *Qubit*TM *Protein Assay* Kit. After gel electrophoresis on an 8-12% Bis-Tris Plus Gel run at 100 volts for about 90 minutes the proteins were transferred to PVDF membranes using an iBlot 2 Dry Blotting System apparatus. The membranes were blocked with 5% BSA for 2 hours at room temperature and incubated with the following primary antibodies at 4 °C overnight to detect antigen: ERK (1:1,000), PTEN (1:500), p-ERK (1:500), p-STAT3 (1:500), STAT3 (1:1,000), β -actin (1:4,000) and β -tubulin (1:4000) (CST, Cell Signaling Technology). After 3 washes in tris-buffered saline with 0.05% Tween 20, the membranes were incubated with the appropriate secondary antibody (donkey anti-mouse (1:15,000) or goat anti-rabbit (1:15,000)) for 1 hour at room temperature. The

membranes were examined, and the bands visualized by Odyssey Infrared Imaging System (LI-COR Biosciences).

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Characteristics of BZ cell line

As seen in **Figure 2.1**, BZ cells present a spindle-shaped cell morphology and disorganized cell growth pattern at different passages. As shown in **Figure 2.2**, the immunohistochemical analysis confirmed that BZ cell line maintained the osteoblast specific marker osteocalcin and mesenchymal marker vimentin after the cell line was established. These two markers were found to continue to be expressed at the 30th passages of the BZ cell line. Other OSA cell lines, three canine OSA (D17, Abrams, and Gracie) and three human OSA (SAOS2, U2OS, and the MG63) also showed positive staining for osteocalcin and vimentin.

2.3.2 The IC_{50} values (concentration of drug inhibiting growth by 50%) for conventional chemotherapeutics on BZ and other OSA cell lines

The IC₅₀ values for conventional drugs, cisplatin, carboplatin, and doxorubicin were determined on the BZ cell line. As seen in **Table 2.1**, two drugs, cisplatin and carboplatin were found to have higher IC₅₀ values when compared to the published achievable plasma concentration, which are 4 and 72 μ M. The IC₅₀ values for doxorubicin, another commonly used chemotherapeutic agent, is below the achievable plasma concentration. The IC₅₀s for carboplatin on BZ cell line is 273 μ M, along with another cOSA Abrams, are the highest among all cell lines.

2.3.3 BZ showed limited AKT activation

The status of PTEN was analyzed by western blot. Two canine OSA cell lines D17 and Abrams as well as human OSA cell line SAOS2 showed PTEN loss whereas BZ had limited PTEN expression. Three cell lines (D17, Abrams, and SOAS2) showed an activation of AKT pathway while BZ had limited activation of AKT pathway.

2.3.4 ERK and STAT3 pathway

In protein analysis, two cOSA (Abrams and BZ) and two hOSA (MG63 and U2OS) showed upregulated of ERK signaling pathway compared to other OSA cell lines. All OSA cell lines displayed STAT3 activation, which is reflected by the expression of phospho-STAT3.

2.4 Discussion

In the current study, we report the establishment of a new canine OSA cell line, BZ, derived from a metastatic OSA lesion of a German shepherd dog, a breed that has a high frequency of OSA. BZ cells have been cultured for more than 56 passages, and undergone freeze-thaw cycles. Moreover, we used two biomarkers, osteocalcin and vimentin to characterize the BZ cell line along with 6 other OSA cell lines we use in our lab, including 4 canine OSA (D17, Abrams, Gracie, and BZ) and 3 human OSA (SAOS2, U2OS, and MG63). The immunohistochemistry analysis confirmed that BZ as well as the other cell lines maintained the osteoblast-specific marker osteocalcin as well as mesenchymal maker vimentin after all passages. The IC₅₀ value for carboplatin on BZ cell line is 273 μ M, along with another cOSA Abrams, are the highest among

all cell lines. This might reflect to the fact that BZ was from a patient that failed to respond carboplatin treatment and may be appropriate for study of carboplatin resistant OSA. The most frequently studied OSA commercial cell line is D17 (CCL-183), which was derived from a standard poodle [14]. However, large breeds like Irish wolfhound, Leonberger, greyhound, and German shepherd have a much higher incidence rate of OSA compared to other breeds. The BZ cell line was derived from a German shepherd, one of breeds that have a high incidence of OSA [15]. In humans, the widely studied cell lines like SAOS2, MG63, and U2OS were all derived from Caucasian patients. Other studies tried to establish OSA cell lines from different ethnic groups, such as Chinese [13] and Japanese [16]. The individual and ethnic differences in humans and breed differences in dogs may point out different genetic backgrounds and result in different clinical outcomes. Thus, it is necessary to develop more cell lines for research use, as well as to expand the knowledge of OSA between different ethnic groups and breeds. For OSA diagnosis, biomarkers such as osteoblastic markers (Alkaline Phosphatase (ALP), osteocalcin, and RUNX2), vimentin, osteonectin have been used [10, 17-19]. A key hallmark of OSA is the ability to produce osteoid [20]. Osteocalcin (OC) is a protein that binds to hydroxyapatite crystals in bone matrix and is considered as a marker for late osteoblastic differentiation. As seen in Figure 2.1, two hOSA cell lines SAOS2 and MG63 showed positive staining for OC, which is in consistent with a previous study [21]. In cOSA samples, osteocalcin showed a highly sensitivity and specificity compared to osteonectin, suggesting that OC can be used as a diagnostic tool for osteoblastic OSA [7, 18, 22].

Osteosarcoma is a heterogenous disease, the diversity of oncogenic drivers within this cancer makes improving the overall survival rate with current standard of care challenging. Despite

advances in understanding underlying drivers of osteosarcoma, more effective treatments for OSA has not been identified, suggesting a clear need for developing novel therapeutic agents. Also, patient derived cell lines that reflect different clinical cancer characteristics are needed for potential evaluation of drugs. BZ, derived from a metastatic lesion, and showing carboplatin resistance, will serve as an additional tool in OS research. We need to further evaluate the tumorigenic and the metastatic potential of the current patient-derived cell line in a mouse model. Common routes to induce tumor growth in mice models include subcutaneous, orthotopic and tail vein injection. Previously in our lab, we established two models with canine OSA D17 cell line, subcutaneous and orthotopic injection to the tibia (data not show). One way to monitor tumor cells in live animals is to transduce cells with luciferase and tracked cells by bioluminescent signals under IVIS spectrum [23]. We have generated a D17 cell line stably transfected with a luciferase reporter plasmid, and we can do so with BZ cell line. With this system, we can closely monitor the OSA progression, such as metastatic sites within the lung in a live animal.

The analysis of proteins from key pathways in the BZ and other cell lines demonstrated potential therapeutic strategies. Importantly, the activation of ERK pathway was upregulated in this new cell line, BZ as well as in Abrams, and in two hOSA cell lines, MG63 and U2OS, suggesting the potential to target this pathway with inhibitors like sorafenib or sunitinib. The activation of AKT pathway was observed in three OSA cell lines D17, Abrams, and SAOS2, indicating these OSA might benefit from PI3K/AKT inhibitors such as rapamycin. Moreover, the activation of STAT3 pathway was shown in all OSA cell lines we tested, which is consistent with a previous report [24], suggesting STAT3 pathway plays a role for the survival and proliferation

in BZ cell line as well as other OSA cell lines. In one study, a STAT3 inhibitor (LLL3) was shown to successfully downregulate STAT3 transcriptional activities and reduced OSA cell proliferation and viability in two human and two dog cell lines, including D17, revealing that the inhibition of this pathway holds promise for therapeutics application [24].

PTEN loss in OSA is documented in both cOSA and hOSA. A positive PTEN expression is associated with higher 5-year survival rate compared to negative PTEN patients [25]. Besides being a clinical predicator, PTEN is also a potential therapeutic target in invitro studies. Activators of PTEN such as tepoxalin [26], evodiamine [27], or celecoxib [28] have been tested and confirmed its effect of increase PTEN on human OSA cells [29]. Furthermore, PTEN loss is accompanied by AKT activation and as discussed above, AKT can also be targeted. In summary, we describe here the establishment of a novel canine OSA cell line, BZ, a canine OSA cell line derived from a metastatic mass from a German shepherd. To our knowledge, there are no other OSA cell lines established from this breed. Further evaluation of the BZ cell line in xenograft mouse model are needed. However, the BZ cell line can be a useful tool for further understanding of OSA and in drug development. In addition, genomic and transcriptomic studies can be carried out in this cell line to fully characterize it at the molecular level.

APPENDIX

Figure 2.1. Images of BZ cell lines during culture. Phase contrast images showed growth morphology of BZ at different passages, X 4 (A) 5 weeks after isolation, passage 5 (B) passage 16, (C) passage 50 in cell culture. (D, E) Confocal images presented IHC staining of DAPI (blue), osteocalcin (green), and vimentin (red) with OSA cells. For (D, E), calibration bar: 50µM.



Figure 2.1. (cont'd)

(D) BZ and other cOSA cell lines were confirmed as osteosarcoma by IHC staining. Calibration bar: $50\mu M$.



Figure 2.1. (cont'd)

(E) Human OSA cell lines SAOS2, U2OS, and MG63 were confirmed as osteosarcoma by IHC staining. Calibration bar: 50μ M.


	Cisplatin (µM)	Carboplatin (µM)	Doxorubicin (μM)
D17	4	45	0.2
Abrams	12	263	0.06
Gracie	2	41	0.06
BZ	12	273	0.05
SAOS2	3	47	0.07
U2OS	7	57	0.06
MG63	5	70	0.05
Reported Maximum	4 μM	72 μM	1.13 μM
plasma concentration	(dog)	(dog)	(dog)
reference	[30]	[31]	[32]

Table 2.1. IC_{50} values for cisplatin, carboplatin, and doxorubicin on OSA cell lines





β-actin

 Table 2.2. Canine and human osteosarcoma cell lines in this study

source	Cell line	Race/ Breed	Age	Gender	Туре	Source
cOSA	D17	poodle	11	Female	Lung metastasis	ATCC
cOSA	Abrams	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	*Colorado State University
cOSA	Gracie	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	*Colorado State University
cOSA	BZ	German shepherd	8	Male, Neutered	Mass under right eye Right femur OSA, second chemotherapy of carboplatin	MSU
hOSA	SAOS2	Caucasian	11	Female	Morphology: epithelial	ATCC
hOSA	U2OS	Caucasian	15	Female	Morphology: epithelial Original from tibia	ATCC
hOSA	MG-63	Caucasian	14	Male	Morphology: fibroblast	ATCC

*Cell lines Abrams and Gracie were kindly shared by Dr. Doug Thamm, Colorado State University.

Primary antibodies						
Protein	Catalog #	Lot#	Clone	Host	Manufacturer	Concentrati
						on used
DAPI	30-804931				Abbot	
Osteocalcin	Ab13418	GR2624639	OC4-30	Mouse	abcam	1:100
Vimentin	EF615	0410-2017			Creatv	1:6 (0.3 μg/ml)
Secondary antib	ody					
Protein	Catalog #	Lot#	Host	Target	Manufacturer	Concentration
						used
IRDye680RD	925-68072	C81107-03	Donkey	Mouse	LI-COR	1:10,000
Conjugation kit						
FITC-	Ab102884				abcam	
conjugation						

 Table 2.3.
 Antibodies used in immunohistochemistry (IHC) staining and western blot analysis

Primary antibodies							
Protein	Catalog #	Lot#	Clone	Host	Manufacturer	Concentration	
						used	
AKT	9272	9	D9E	Rabbit	Cell Signaling	1:1,000	
β -actin	3700	13, 14	8H10D10	Mouse	Cell Signaling	1:4,000	
β -actin	4970	12	13E5	Rabbit	Cell Signaling	1:4,000	
β-tubulin	86298	1	D3U1W	Mouse	Cell Signaling	1:4,000	
ERK1/2	4695	14	137F5	Rabbit	Cell Signaling	1:1,000	
p-AKT (Ser473)	9271	12	D9E	Rabbit	Cell Signaling	1:500	
p-ERK	4370	15	D13.14.4E	Rabbit	Cell Signaling	1:500	
(Thr202/Tyr204)							
p-STAT3 (Y705)	9145		D3A7	Rabbit	Cell Signaling	1:500	
PTEN	9188	0006	D4.3XP	Rabbit	Cell Signaling	1:500	
STAT3	4904		79D7	Rabbit	Cell Signaling	1:1000	
Secondary antik	body						
Protein	Catalog #	Lot#	Host	Target	Manufacturer	Concentration	
						used	
IRDye 680RD	925-	C81107-	Donkey	Mouse	LI-COR	1:10,000	
	68072	03					
IRDye 800CW	925-	C80118-	Goat	Rabbit	LI-COR	1:10,000	
	32211	01					

BIOBLIOGRAPHY

BIBLIOGRAPHY

1. Mirabello, L. et al. (2009) Osteosarcoma incidence and survival rates from 1973 to 2004: data from the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program. Cancer 115 (7), 1531-43.

2. Withrow Stephen J., M.E.G., editors. (2001) In: Small animal clinical oncology. 3rd ed, W. B. Saunders.

3. Rowell, J.L. et al. (2011) Dog models of naturally occurring cancer. Trends Mol Med 17 (7), 380-8.

4. Kristin P. Anfinsen, T.G., Oyvind S. Bruland, Thora J. Jonasdottir (2011) Breed-specific incidence rates of canine primary bone tumors — A population based survey of dogs in Norway. Can J Vet Res. 75 (3), 209-215.

5. Laschi, M. et al. (2015) Establishment of Four New Human Primary Cell Cultures from Chemo-Naive Italian Osteosarcoma Patients. J Cell Physiol 230 (11), 2718-27.

6. Kawabata A, Y.K., Lan NT, Uchida K, Yamaguchi R, Hayashi T, Tateyama S. (2006) Establishment and characterization of a cell line, MCO-Y4, derived from canine mammary gland osteosarcoma. J Vet Med Sci. 68 (10), 1047-53.

7. Meyer, F.R.L. and Walter, I. (2016) Establishment and Characterization of New Canine and Feline Osteosarcoma Primary Cell Lines. Vet Sci 3 (2).

8. Barroga EF, K.T., Okumura M, Fujinaga T. (1999) Establishment and characterization of the growth and pulmonary metastasis of a highly lung metastasizing cell line from canine osteosarcoma in nude mice. J Vet Med Sci. 61 (4), 361-7.

9. Hong SH, K.T., Mochizuki M, Matsunaga S, Nishimura R, Sasaki N. (1998) Establishment and Characterization of Two Cell Lines Derived from Canine Spontaneous Osteosarcoma. J Vet Med Sci. 60 (6), 757-60.

10. Gillette, J.M. et al. (2008) Establishment and characterization of OS 99-1, a cell line derived from a highly aggressive primary human osteosarcoma. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim 44 (3-4), 87-95.

11. Salinas-Souza, C. et al. (2013) Establishment and cytogenetic characterization of a cell line from a pulmonary metastasis of osteosarcoma. Cytotechnology 65 (3), 347-53.

12. Blattmann, C. et al. (2015) Establishment of a patient-derived orthotopic osteosarcoma mouse model. J Transl Med 13, 136.

13. Pereira, B.P. et al. (2009) Runx2, p53, and pRB status as diagnostic parameters for deregulation of osteoblast growth and differentiation in a new pre-chemotherapeutic osteosarcoma cell line (OS1). J Cell Physiol 221 (3), 778-88.

14. Riggs JL, M.R., Lennette EH. (1974) Immunofluorescent studies of RD-114 virus replication in cell culture. J Gen Virol 25 (1), 21-29.

15. Szewczyk, M. et al. (2015) What do we know about canine osteosarcoma treatment? Review. Vet Res Commun 39 (1), 61-7.

16. Kito, F. et al. (2018) Establishment and characterization of novel patient-derived osteosarcoma xenograft and cell line. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim 54 (7), 528-536.

17. Evola, F.R. et al. (2017) Biomarkers of Osteosarcoma, Chondrosarcoma, and Ewing Sarcoma. Front Pharmacol 8, 150.

18. Amaral, C.B. et al. (2018) Vimentin, osteocalcin and osteonectin expression in canine primary bone tumors: diagnostic and prognostic implications. Mol Biol Rep 45 (5), 1289-1296.

19. Agustina, H. et al. (2018) The Role of Osteocalcin and Alkaline Phosphatase Immunohistochemistry in Osteosarcoma Diagnosis. Patholog Res Int 2018, 6346409.

20. Kim, S.J. et al. (2004) Imaging findings of extrapulmonary metastases of osteosarcoma. Clinical Imaging 28 (4), 291-300.

21. Pautke, C. et al. (2004) Characterization of osteosarcoma cell lines MG-63, Saos-2 and U-2 OS in comparison to human osteoblasts. Anticancer Res 24 (6), 3743-8.

22. Wehrle-Martinez, A.S. et al. (2016) Osteocalcin and Osteonectin Expression in Canine Osteosarcoma. Vet Pathol 53 (4), 781-7.

23. Marques da Costa, M.E. et al. (2018) Establishment and characterization of in vivo orthotopic bioluminescent xenograft models from human osteosarcoma cell lines in Swiss nude and NSG mice. Cancer Med 7 (3), 665-676.

24. Fossey, S.L. et al. (2009) Characterization of STAT3 activation and expression in canine and human osteosarcoma. BMC Cancer 9, 81.

25. Gong, T. et al. (2017) Expression of NF-kappaB and PTEN in osteosarcoma and its clinical significance. Oncol Lett 14 (6), 6744-6748.

26. Loftus, J.P. et al. (2016) The 5-lipoxygenase inhibitor tepoxalin induces oxidative damage and altered PTEN status prior to apoptosis in canine osteosarcoma cell lines. Vet Comp Oncol 14 (2), e17-30.

27. MengZJ, W., LiuY,ShuKJ,ZouX,ZhangRX (2015) Evodiamine inhibits the proliferation of human osteosarcoma cells by blocking PI3K/Akt signaling. Oncol Rep. 34 (3), 1388–1396.

28. Sui, W. et al. (2014) Antitumor effect of a selective COX-2 inhibitor, celecoxib, may be attributed to angiogenesis inhibition through modulating the PTEN/PI3K/Akt/HIF-1 pathway in an H(2)(2) murine hepatocarcinoma model. Oncol Rep 31 (5), 2252-60.

29. Cable, M.G. and Randall, R.L. (2017) Characterizing Osteosarcoma Through PTEN and PI3K: What p53 and Rb1 Can't Tell Us. In Osteosarcoma - Biology, Behavior and Mechanisms.

30. Yin, J.X. et al. (2015) In vivo pharmacokinetic and tissue distribution investigation of sustained-release cisplatin implants in the normal esophageal submucosa of 12 beagle dogs. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 76 (3), 525-36.

31. Chen, C. et al. (2009) Pharmacokinetic comparison between systemic and local chemotherapy by carboplatin in dogs. Reprod Sci 16 (11), 1097-102.

32. DH, G.D.a.T. (2010) Pharmacokinetic modeling of doxorubicin pharmacokinetics in dogs deficient in ABCB1 drug transporters. J Vet Intern Med 24 (3), 579.

CHAPTER 3

EVALUATING THE POTENTIAL SYNERGISTIC EFFECTS OF COMBING SORAFENIB AND

DOXORUBICIN IN HUMAN AND CANINE OSTEOSARCOMA CELL LINES

3.1 Introduction

Osteosarcoma (OSA) is the most common primary bone tumor of both humans and dogs, about 1000 OSA cases are reported in humans and 10,000 cases in dogs every year in the United States [1]. Similar to humans, companion animals such as the dog, can spontaneously develop cancer. Canine osteosarcoma is an aggressive cancer, around 80%-90% of the dogs present with micro metastasis disease when diagnosed with osteosarcoma in clinics. Canine OSA (cOSA) closely resembles human OSA (hOSA) including histopathological appearance, molecular markers and the response to conventional chemotherapies. As humans and dogs share similarity in their genome and living environments, dog disease is an excellent parallel disease to study osteosarcoma. Current first line chemotherapies in cOSA are: cisplatin, carboplatin, and doxorubicin [2-4]. With the current standard care, human patients show a high recurrence rate and develop resistance to chemotherapy. To overcome these clinical challenges, effective and well-tolerated therapeutic agents are needed for both humans and dogs.

One of the most important classes of novel anti-tumor drugs developed in recent years are tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs). The receptors tyrosine kinase (RTKs) are a family of cell surface receptors that play an essential role in mediating cell to cell communication and key signaling transduction pathways involved in cell proliferation, differentiation, and survival [5]. These molecules control and alter many biological processes in the cells and deliver downstream signals when bound to their cognate ligand. However, many oncogenic mutations have been documented in RTKs, such as over expression of MET (receptor for the hepatocyte growth factor) in canine osteosarcoma [6] and human osteosarcoma [7-9]. Another example is activating mutations in the juxtamembrane domain c-KIT in canine mast cell tumors, which

causes constitutive activation of receptor in the absence of ligand binding [10]. RTKs and their tyrosine kinase domains are potential targets for tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs). Many TKIs compete with ATP binding site of catalytic domain, or inhibit the catalytic activity of the kinase in other ways and prevent auto-phosphorylation, block the transfer of growth signals downstream from the receptor, and thereby inhibit cancer cell proliferation [11, 12]. Sorafenib (BAY 43-9906, Nexavar[®]), an oral small molecular inhibitor, inhibits a variety of signal transduction pathways. Sorafenib was primarily developed as a RAF inhibitor but showed inhibition of other targets, including VEGFR-2 (vascular endothelial growth factor), VEGFR-3, PDGFR (platelet-derived growth factor receptor), RAF-1, B-RAF, and c-KIT [13-15]. Sorafenib is indicated for the treatment of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma [16, 17], renal [18, 19], hepatic [20], and thyroid [21] cancer in humans. In the literature, there were limited reports of using sorafenib to treat osteosarcoma. These studies include several clinical trials, two that used sorafenib as single agent [22, 23] and one which combined it with an mTOR inhibitor [24], as well as a case study which combined sorafenib with a RANKL inhibitor denosumab [25]. In dogs, however, there have not been any clinical trials. There was one recent study that reported the tolerable dosage of sorafenib in a small group of dogs with various cancers [26], which showed that sorafenib was well tolerated, up to 3 mg/kg, given from 3 to 8 doses. While sorafenib has been studied in other solid tumors, evaluation of the potential for sorafenib in cOSA and hOSA has been limited.

So far, most studies on the anti-tumor activity of sorafenib were carried out in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Sorafenib alone has been used as standard of care for HCC patients since 2007, and the combination of sorafenib and doxorubicin have been proposed in clinical trials to

treat advanced hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) [16, 17]. Doxorubicin, a topoisomerase II inhibitor, causes DNA damage by disruption topoisomerase II mediated DNA repair and generation of free radicals and is one of first line chemotherapies for human and canine osteosarcoma [27, 28]. However, there is very limit knowledge of using this combination in osteosarcoma.

The purpose of this study was to evaluate whether a tyrosine kinase inhibitor, sorafenib, has an effect on canine and human osteosarcoma cells alone and in combination with current chemotherapeutics agents for OSA. We report here that sorafenib alone showed growth inhibition effects in both human and canine OSA cell lines. Furthermore, we show that sorafenib and in combination with doxorubicin had synergistic effects on canine and human OSA cells. These preclinical findings suggest the multi kinase inhibitor, sorafenib should be considered for use in future clinical trials alone as well as in combination with doxorubicin and that dogs can serve as proof of concept studies for such trials.

3.2 Material and Methods

3.2.1 Cell culture

Canine OSA cell line D17 and human OSA cell line (SAOS2, U2OS, and MG63) were purchased from ATCC. Canine OSA cell line Abrams was provided by Dr. Elizabeth McNeil, and originally established and shared by Dr. Doug Thamm. Canine BZ OSA cell line was established from a German shepherd dog by our laboratory. For cell culture maintenance, human OSA cell lines were incubated with DMEM medium and canine OSA cell lines were maintained with α -MEM

medium, all cells were supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum and incubated in a humidified incubator at 37°C with 5% CO₂.

3.2.2 Compounds used in Drug Screening

Sorafenib was purchased from LC laboratories (Woburn, MA). Sorafenib was dissolved in DMSO while cisplatin was dissolved in PBS, and carboplatin was dissolved in water. Other TKIs, including cladribine, dasatinib, erlotinib, gefitinib, masitinib, nilotinib, sorafenib, sunitinib, toceranib, and tozasertib were all purchased from Sigma-Aldrich and dissolved in DMSO.

3.2.3 Cell viability assay (MTS assay) and small panel drug screening with TKIs

The MTS assay (Promega Corp.) was used to determine IC_{50} values of sorafenib and other compounds on OSA cells. Cells were seeded to 96-well plates at a density of 2,500-350,0/well. After 24 hours, cell culture medium was replaced by complete medium with each compound at the designated concentrations. Cells were treated for 72 hours. The cell viability was analyzed by CellTiter 96 Aqueous Non-Radioactive Cell Proliferation Assay (MTS) and determined by the amount of colored formazan dye produced by live cells. The absorbance of the formazan dye produced was measured at wavelength 490 nm, and IC_{50} values were calculated by PRISM Statistical Software. Each concentration for each drug was assayed in triplicate for the IC_{50} calculations.

In this study, we treated three OSA cell lines (D17, Abrams, and SAOS2) with a small panel of compounds including ten tyrosine kinase inhibitors (cladribine, dasatinib, erlotinib, gefitinib, masitinib, nilotinib, Sorafenib, Sunitinib, toceranib, and tozasertib) for 48 hours. Percent growth

inhibition was calculated for each treatment with the MTS assay with the vehicle control treatment containing 1% DMSO. For all TKIs, we used a high drug dose of 100 μ M.

3.2.4 Wound healing assay

The wound healing assay was used to examine migration capacity of cells in a monolayer. Briefly, 100,000 cells/well were plated overnight and allowed to reach 70-80% confluence in 6well plates. Then, scrapes were made on the plates using a 1-mL pipette tip. The cells were then incubated with cell culture medium with or without sorafenib. Each scrape was photographed after being made and at each specific time points thereafter.

3.2.5 Combination Index (CI)

Cells were simultaneously incubated with two compounds at a fixed ratio (sorafenib: doxorubicin= 20:1, 50:1, or 100:1, sorafenib: cisplatin= 4:1, and sorafenib: carboplatin= 1:5) for 72 hours. Synergistic effects of two drugs were determined by isobologram and combination index (CI) analysis by the CompuSyn software (Combosyn, Paramus, NJ). The analysis was adapted from the median-principle methods of Chou and Talalay [29], the results of CI <1, CI=1, and CI >1 indicate synergism, addition, and antagonism, respectively.

3.2.6 Cell cycle analysis

Cells were treated with 1% DMSO (control), sorafenib (1.25, 2.5, or 5 μ M), doxorubicin (25, 50, or 100 nM), or combination (ration 50:1) for 24 hours, then collected by centrifugation and fixed with 70% ethanol at 4 °C overnight. Ethanol was removed by centrifugation, and cellular

DNA was stained with propidium iodide (50 µg/ml) containing RNase (1 mg/ml). After cells were stained for at least 4 hours, the PI fluorescence of individual nuclei was recorded with FACScan. The quantitative assessment of cell cycle phase and apoptosis were then determined by Modfit Lt[™] software after correction for debris and aggregate cell populations.

3.2.7 Protein analysis using western blots

Abrams OSA cells (500,000/well in 6-well plate) were treated with wither vehicle (0.1% DMSO) or sorafenib for 24 hours. Cell were lysed with 250 µl of CelLytic M lysis buffer (C2978, Sigma-Aldrich) with 2 µl of protease inhibitor (P8340, Sigma-Aldrich) and 2 µl of phosphatase cocktail inhibitor B (sc-45045, Santa Cruz.) according to manufacturer's protocol. Protein concentration were quantified with Qubit[™] Protein Assay Kit.

A total of 60 µg of protein per well was loaded on Bolt Bis-Tris 4-12% polyacrylamide gels (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.) and transferred to polyvinylidene difluoride membranes. The membranes were incubated with 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) for 2 hour at room temperature then incubated with the following primary antibodies at 4 °C overnight to detect antigen: AKT (1:500), p-AKT (1:500), ERK (1:500), p-ERK (1:250), STAT3 (1:500), p-STAT3 (1:500), PARP (1:250), β-tubulin (1:4000) (Cell Signaling Technology). After three washes in tris-buffered saline with 0.05% Tween 20, the membranes were incubated with appropriate secondary antibody (donkey anti-mouse (1:15,000) or goat anti-rabbit (1:15,000)) for 1 hour at room temperature. The membranes were visualized by Odyssey Infrared Imaging System (LI-COR Biosciences), analyzed by Image Studio[™] Lite software (LI-COR).

3.2.8 Statistical analysis

Results represent at least three separate experiments. Statistical analysis was performed with Graph Pad Prism (8.0.0, Graph Pad Software Inc., San Diego, CA), differences between categories were analyzed with one-way ANOVA, p-values of < 0.05 were considered to be significant.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Sorafenib, gefitinib, and sunitinib showed growth inhibition potential As seen in **Figure 3.1A**, after 48 hours of incubation, the cell viability was measured across 10 tyrosine kinase inhibitors. Among these, only sorafenib, sunitinib, and gefitinib were capable of reducing cell viability to below 10% at 100 μ M. Thus, we selected these three TKIs for further studies.

3.3.2 Cytotoxicity assay with sorafenib and conventional chemotherapeutics for OSA treatment Three TKIs, gefitinib, sorafenib, and sunitinib were selected for further evaluation. The effect of sorafenib and other drugs on cell growth inhibition of four cOSA cell lines (D17, Abrams, BZ, and Gracie) and three hOSA cell lines (SAOS2, U2OS, and MG63) was examined by MTS assay. After 72 hours of incubation, dose response curves were generated based on the cell viability at a range of concentrations, and IC₅₀ values were calculated by Graph Pad Prism software (**Figure 3.1B**). Two TKIs, gefitinib [30] and sunitinib [31], which displayed IC₅₀ values above the achievable plasma concentration s reported in the literature were not included in further studies.

The IC₅₀ values for conventional chemotherapeutics, cisplatin, carboplatin, and doxorubicin, were also determined in our cell lines (**Table 3.1.**). Cisplatin [32] and carboplatin [33] were found to have IC₅₀ values larger than the reported achievable plasma concentration in the literature. However, the IC₅₀ values for doxorubicin ranged from 58-226 nM in our cell lines, which were lower than a documented achievable plasma concentration of 1130 nM in dog. Also, the IC₅₀ values for sorafenib were from 3-9 μ M, whereas a study reported achievable plasma concentration of 10 μ M in human. These comparisons with reported achievable plasma concentration provided the rationale to include sorafenib and doxorubicin for further evaluation, in order to select combinations of drugs each with potential to reach therapeutic effects within clinical relevant doses [34, 35].

3.3.3 Cell migration ability was inhibited by sorafenib

As shown in **Figure 3.2**, the effect of sorafenib on the migration capacities of on OSA cells was determined by a wound-healing assay. D17, Abrams, and SAOS2 cells were treated with or without sorafenib, for up to 48 hours of incubation time, after performing a scratch at the center of a 6-well plate. In this assay, sorafenib effectively suppressed the migration on SAOS2 but not the two other OSA cell lines. To avoid cell cytotoxic effects, we used a dose of sorafenib lower that the IC₅₀s in this study. After 24- and 48-hours treatment, SAOS2 cells incubated with sorafenib migrated less than control group (**Figure 3.2**).

3.3.4 Sorafenib inhibited STAT3 and ERK phosphorylation in the Abrams and D17 cell lines. Two major signal transduction pathways activated by RTKs are the PI3K/AKT (phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/ serine-threonine protein kinase) and the MAPK/ERK (mitogenactivated protein kinases/extracellular signal- regulated kinases) pathways [12, 36]. As shown in **Figure 3.3**, the potential mechanisms of sorafenib treatments were investigated by western blot analysis of key pathways. In canine Abrams cell line, p-ERK and p-STAT decreased at 10 μ M or higher concentrations of sorafenib. However, sorafenib did affect the PI3K-AKT pathway as p-AKT remained unchanged, even in highest dose (20 μ M). Cleaved PARP, indicator of apoptosis, was detected at 0.1 μ M and higher concentrations of sorafenib. The D17 cell line also displayed complete loss of p-ERK upon treatment with sorafenib at 10 μ M, while in SAOS2 this pathway appeared unaffected by this treatment.

3.3.5 Sorafenib and doxorubicin showed synergistic effects

We next assessed the possibility of improving anti-tumor effects through combinations of drugs with different modes of action. We examined three drugs (cisplatin, carboplatin, and doxorubicin) in combination with sorafenib. Three OSA cell line (D17, Abrams, and SAOS2) were exposed to various concentration of sorafenib, one of the other three drugs, or their combination for 72 hours. Later, cell viability was examined by MTS assay and the effects were calculated by the CompuSyn software (Combosyn, Paramus, NJ). As seen in **Figure 3.4 A and B**, sorafenib combined with doxorubicin resulted in combination index values are less than 1, indicating synergistic effects. Cisplatin (**Figure 3.4C**) and carboplatin (**Figure 3.4D**) showed an antagonistic effect with sorafenib on the D17 cell line.

3.3.6 Sorafenib and doxorubicin induced cell cycle arrest

We studied the effects of cell cycle changes with sorafenib and doxorubicin use on three OSA cell lines and found cell arrest at G2/M phase in all cell lines with their combined use. In the cell cycle assay, we compared three different concentrations (1.25, 2.5, and 5 μM) of sorafenib. Sorafenib alone from 1.25 μM to 5 μM did not cause an effect on cell cycle phase distribution, which is correlated with previous findings [37]. The distributions are very similar after treatment with 5 μM sorafenib alone (Figure 3.5A and B), whereas G2/M arrest was clearly augmented when 5 μM sorafenib and 100 nM doxorubicin added jointly (Figure 3.5D) (changing from 10 to 91 %). As shown in Figure 3,5, the combination of sorafenib and doxorubicin resulted in a cell arrest at G2/M phase. This observation was consistent among all three OSA cell lines (D17 (Figure 3.5E), Abrams (Figure 3.5F), and SAOS2 (Figure 3.5G)). Interestingly, the apoptosis fraction induced by doxorubicin alone was reduced in the presence of sorafenib (Figure 3.5C and D).

3.4 Discussion

In this present study, we demonstrated that sorafenib, a multi kinase inhibitor, acts as an effective drug against both human and canine osteosarcoma cells. We provided evidence of anti-proliferation and migration inhibition effects *in vitro*. In canine Abrams cell line, the activation of ERK and STAT3 pathways was inhibited by sorafenib at 10 μ M. However, in the PI3K-AKT pathway, p-AKT remined unchanged with the treatments, even at the highest dose. Cleaved form PARP was detected at 0.1 μ M and higher doses indicating apoptosis was induced by sorafenib. As we explored the potential of drug combinations, sorafenib and doxorubicin

showed synergistic effect and resulted in a cell arrest at G2/M phase in D17 and Abrams. These findings indicating sorafenib alone and in combination with doxorubicin can be used as novel therapeutic strategies for treatment of certain canine and human OSA which show activation of the ERK pathway.

In bone cancers, targeting MAPK/ERK pathway as a therapeutic strategy has been studied in vitro [11, 14, 38] and recently put into clinical trials [39-42]. The inhibitory effects of sorafenib on the MEK/ERK signaling pathway have been documented [11, 14, 43]. In one study, around 67% (20/30 samples) of OSA tumors in human patients showed immunopositivity in histopathology for p-ERK, indicating that ERK pathway is highly activated among hOSA and the blocking p-ERK may be a potential therapeutic option [43]. STAT3 activation also plays a critical role in OSA cells as it supports cells survival and proliferation [44-46]. A previous study demonstrated that STAT3 activation contributes to the survival and proliferation of human and canine OSA cells and thus suggested that STAT3 is a potential target for therapeutic strategy [44]. Previous studies reported sorafenib as well as its derivative sc-1 were capable of downregulating the activation of STAT3 and ERK pathways and reducing tumor volumes [46]. Our study on canine Abrams OSA cell line shows similar results in that sorafenib downregulated the expression of p-STAT3 and p-ERK. Besides MAPK/ERK and STAT3 signaling pathway, another target for sorafenib is VEGFA. A recent study investigated somatic copy-number alternations (SCNA) as the approach to identify potential targeted drugs to treat different amplifications in osteosarcoma patient derived xenografts model (PDTX) [47]. In the VEGFA- amplified PDTX model of OSA, sorafenib resulted in reduced tumor volume compared to vehicle, whereas in another PDTX model without VEGFA- amplified OSA, there was no benefit from sorafenib

treatments. This finding suggests that sorafenib could be used in OSA patients with VEGFA amplified tumors as well. The observation of induction of apoptosis by sorafenib is consistent with a previous study where an increase of caspase-3 activity in sorafenib treated cells was documented in D17 cell line [37].

In the current study, cisplatin showed an antagonistic effect with sorafenib (**Figure 3.4C and D**), which is consistent with a previous study of combing sorafenib and carboplatin (a derivative of cisplatin) in the D17 cell line [37]. Although sorafenib and doxorubicin as single treatments have been studied extensively, the present study is the first to show the further efficacy of combing sorafenib and doxorubicin in inhibiting OSA cell growth. The combination of sorafenib and doxorubicin has been studied and carried out in a phase III clinical trial in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). An earlier clinical trial in 2010 reported HCC patients receiving sorafenib and doxorubicin together had a longer survival time compared to sorafenib alone [48], but a more recent clinical trial published this year had opposite results [49]. It is likely that molecular heterogeneity among the HCC patients contributes to the different results observed. Thus, including further characterization of the tumors in various groups should be undertaken in new clinical trials to determine the best treatments.

In humans, sorafenib had been used in clinical trials for osteosarcoma. Two clinical trials in osteosarcoma patients were reported in recent years. One phase II non-randomized trial explored sorafenib treatment in 35 patients with relapsed and unresectable OSA and reported that the median survival was 7 months [23]. In another non-randomized phase 2 clinical trial, researchers used sorafenib and everolimus to treat a group of 38 high-grade osteosarcoma patients. Among these patients, a subgroup of patients with overexpression of both P-ERK1/2

and P-RPS6 responded better than double negative patients, where the progression-free survival was 7 months and 2 months, respectively [24]. These small cohorts indicate that using sorafenib alone or with other drugs to treat OSA has potential to improve outcomes, yet more robust studies are needed to determine a more personalized approach to identify the optimal drug for each patient. One limitation in these clinical trials is that the recruited patients all had advanced and relapsed osteosarcoma. There is therefore lack of the knowledge of using sorafenib alone or in combination with other chemo therapeutic agents to treat early stage patients. For using sorafenib in clinical studies, a dosage of 400 mg twice a day was the maximum-tolerated dose and recommended in a preclinical model [15]. In another phase I clinical trial, used administration dosage for sorafenib, with 400 mg twice a day for 21 days with 7 days off in one cycle for repeated cycles, in patients with advanced, refractory solid tumors [50]. The adverse effects mentioned in these reports such as lymphopenia and hypophosphatemia (16%) hand and foot syndrome (13%), fatigue (5%), oral mucositis (5%), diarrhea (5%), and anemia thrombocytopenia (11%) were consistent with previous phase I clinical trials [42, 50-52]. These toxic effects lead to dose reductions, short interruptions, or discontinuation for these patients. Some adverse effects were noted in sorafenib clinical trials, including mucositis (20%), rash (19-40%), alopecia (27%), xerosis (16%), xerostomia (11%), and hand foot skin reaction (20-30%) [24, 42, 53]. One strategy to reduce these toxicity effects is to use combination therapies. Therefore, involving sorafenib and other therapeutic agents such as doxorubicin can be an effective approach to reach effects but also avoid intolerable adverse effects. Combined chemotherapies are with drugs utilizing different mechanisms of action,

have the potential to decrease the possibility of drug resistance and reduce the dosage of drugs, while remain the optimal treatment efficiency.

In dogs, there are very limited reports on sorafenib. One report published pharmacokinetic studies on sorafenib on healthy dogs, and showed that 60 mg/kg per day was tolerable in a 4-week study [54]. To date, there is only one recent report of tolerable dosage in a small group of dogs with different types of cancer [26]. In this report, 12 dogs were separated into two different doses (2 mg/kg and 3 mg/kg per week). The dogs tolerated the drug up to a dose of 3 mg/kg for 3 to 8 weeks of treatment period. Thus, clinical studies with sorafenib can be undertaken in dogs but therapeutic doses for cOSA have not determined. Dogs can be used as preclinical models before chemotherapies are applied in human clinical trials [32, 33, 55]. The reference dosages used in these studies will be helpful to identify initial treatment dosages for future clinical trials in cOSA and hOSA patients. Also, due to the current regulations in human clinical trials, the recruited patients are those who have failed to respond or relapsed after first line treatments [23, 24], which rise the difficulties to evaluate the sorafenib in earlier stage patients. However, in canine patients, we can initiate studies in both naïve and in relapsed cases, and hopefully such information can facilitate human clinical trials.

In the canine oncology field, dasatinib [56, 57] and toceranib [58-61] use has been reported in a small numbers of osteosarcoma patients for oral tolerability and safety verification. The major aspects of these studies are summarized in **Table 3. 3.**. Two clinical studies reported the potential of dasatinib for treating cOSA. One of studies was a drug screening containing 86 small molecule kinase inhibitors on cells derived from one canine patient which reported the IC_{50} values for dasatinib and sorafenib were 0.15 and 9.5 μ M respectively, suggesting that

dasatinib was the most promising therapeutic agent. The patient survived for more than 730 days after the initial diagnosis after completed amputation and 5 cycles of carboplatin and followed by dasatinib treatments [56]. Another study reported four cOSA patients with reported survival times ranging from 456-1003 days with treatment of dasatinib at 0.5-0.75 mg/kg every day or every other day for 6.5 to 25 months and one dog was still alive at the time of publication of the paper, at which time it was 1003 days post treatment [57]. These two reports indicate potential clinical benefit of dasatinib as adjuvant treatment for cOSA, but larger scale studies are needed. Toceranib phosphate, which is the first TKI approved for veterinary use, is the most utilized molecularly targeted agent in the United States. Toceranib targets receptor tyrosine kinases, including C-KIT, VEGFR-2, PDGF α/β , CSF-1 (Colony stimulating factor-1) and is used as a first-line treatment for dogs with mast cell tumor [62]. The first clinical study used toceranib in cOSA, reported that it contributed to clinical benefit on eleven out of a total of twenty-three cOSA patients, as these 11 patients presented with either partial response or stable disease [63]. Later on, two small cohorts contained 20 [58] and 22 [59] cOSA patients with lung metastasis reported with a different conclusion, as canine patients treated with amputation and adjuvant chemotherapies and toceranib had median survival times of 90 and 89 days respectively, vs 76 [64] and 95 [65] days in reported studies of metastatic cOSA patients, indicating limited clinical benefit. While those two studies showed that using toceranib did not have a therapeutic effect on canine patients with metastatic osteosarcoma [58, 59], other studies explored combing toceranib with other therapeutic agents in cOSA without metastatic disease. A clinical study that reported on 10 cOSA patients treated with toceranib and carboplatin resulted in overall survival times of 253 days [60], which was lower

than the previous published median survival 321 days from a study of 48 cOSA treated with amputation and 4 cycles of carboplatin [66]. In another study of 126 cOSA patients compared the outcomes of addition toceranib to treatments with

carboplatin/piroxicam/cyclophosphamide [61]. In the treatment group with the addition of toceranib, the overall survival times was 318 days, while the overall survival times in control group was 242 days, but, the statistical analysis showed no clinical benefit with toceranib [61]. These findings are not surprising, since toceranib mainly targets c-KIT, and c-KIT is not a major driver in OSA. In addition, the effects of toceranib on other targets VEGFR-2, PDGF α/β , CSF-1 are not fully studied in canine OSA. One clinical trial with 10 cOSA reported the levels of VEGF did not change over time in cOSA patients with toceranib treatments [60]. Also, a recent study documented that toceranib treatments did not change the expression of VEGFR-2, PDGF α/β and c-KIT from control group in *in vivo* study [67]. The expression of VEGFR-2 varied in different OSA cell lines and tumors [47, 68], which suggest the potential of using toceranib with VEGFR-2 overexpressed patients and the significance of individual targeted therapy. Sorafenib and dasatinib, on the other hand, inhibit multiple receptor tyrosine kinases that are relevant in OSA. The data from our study also support use of sorafenib alone and in combination with doxorubicin in canine clinical trials.

In conclusion, the findings from our studies suggest that, tyrosine kinase inhibitor sorafenib alone exhibits anti-tumor activity through inhibition of proliferation, induction of apoptosis via inhibition of ERK/MAPK, and STAT3 pathway in OSA cells. Sorafenib is a comparatively novel drug in osteosarcoma, therefore, information on large scale clinical data and other drug combinations are limited [69]. In addition, when we combined sorafenib with doxorubicin to

treat osteosarcoma cells, these two drugs induced cell arrest in the G2/M phase. Based on current findings, clinical trials using combination of doxorubicin and sorafenib in proof of concept studies in dogs are warranted. These studies can be carried out relatively quickly in dogs where case load is high, and in turn, provide useful information for initiation of clinical trials in humans. APPENDIX

Figure 3.1. Cell viability was measured by CellTiter-Glo assay on all seven OSA cell lines, including four canine OSA (D17, Abrams, Gracie, and BZ) and three human OSA (SAOS2, U2OS, and MG63) cell lines. All cell lines were treated with drugs for 72 hours. (A) 10 tyrosine kinase inhibitor showed different levels of inhibition on OSA cells viability. (B) OSA cell lines were treated with sorafenib for 72 hours. (C) OSA cell lines were treated with doxorubicin.



Table 3.1. The effects of sorafenib on cell viability and IC_{50S} for sorafenib and three first line OSA chemotherapy agents (cisplatin, carboplatin, and doxorubicin)

	cisplatin	carboplatin	doxorubicin	sorafenib
	(μM)	(μM)	(μM)	(μM)
D17	4	45	0.2	6
Abrams	12	263	0.06	9
Gracie	2	41	0.06	4
BZ	12	273	0.05	3
SAOS2	3	47	0.07	7
U2OS	7	57	0.06	5
MG63	5	70	0.05	4
Reported Maximum	4 µM (dog)	72 μM (dog)	1.13 µM (dog)	13 μM (human)
plasma concentration				7.6 µM (dog) *
reference	[32]	[33]	[55]	[54, 70]

*A single 400 mg dose was given to dogs (n=3) as tablets in a PK study.

Figure 3.2. Photomicrographs taken with Nikon camera at 40X magnification, compared wound healing in three OSA cell line with and without sorafenib for up to 48 hours. (D17: 3 μ M, Abrams: 4 μ M, SAOS2: 3 μ M)



Figure 3.3. Sorafenib decreased expression of p-STAT3 and p-ERK but not p-AKT in protein analysis. Canine osteosarcoma Abrams cells were treated with either DMSO (control) or various concentration of sorafenib (0.1, 1, 10, 20 μ M) for 24 hours then subjected to western blot analyses. β -actin and β -tubulin were used as loading controls. Cells incubated with 1 μ M staurosporine for 3 hours were used as a positive control for PARP expression.



* Lanes marked with X show treatment with other drugs that are not part of this study)

Figure 3.4. (A and B) Three different ratios of sorafenib and doxorubicin were examined with Combination index (CI) assay on SAOS2 cells, CI values less then 1 suggest synergistic effects (CompuSyn software). (A) a representative chart showed four different combination doses and CI values indicating these combinations are all synergism. (B) in Normalized isobologram, we included three different rations of sorafenib and doxorubicin (20:1, 50:1, and 100:1). (C) The combination of sorafenib and cisplatin was examined on D17 cells at a ratio of 4:1. (D) The combination of sorafenib and carboplatin was examined on D17 cells at a ratio of 1:5. A



В



	CI values	sorafenib (μM)	doxorubicin (nM)	ratio
\odot	1.18	1.25	25	50:1
Ō	0.86	2.5	50	
Ā	0.7	5	100	
∇	0.96	10	200	
\Diamond	0.13	20	400	
\times	0.86	0.63	31.3	20:1
+	0.8	1.25	62.5	
\odot	1.09	2.5	125	
·	0.72	5	250	
Δ	0.59	10	500	
∇	1.02	2.5	25	100:1
\diamond	0.71	5	50	
\times	1.47	10	100	
+	0.12	20	200	

С

CI values	sorafenib (μM)	cisplatin (µM)	ratio
1.1	1.25	0.3	4:1
1.6	2.5	0.6	
1.5	5	1.3	
1.3	10	2.5	
0.9	20	5	

D

CI values	sorafenib (µM)	carboplatin (µM)	ratio
1.1	1.25	6.25	1:5
1.2	2.5	12.5	
1.3	5	25	
1.6	10	50	
0.9	20	100	

Figure 3.5. The combination of sorafenib and doxorubicin caused cell cycle progression in D17 cells. Cell cycle distribution of D17 OSA cells treated with wither **(A)** DMSO (control), **(B)** sorafenib 5μ M, **(C)** doxorubicin 100 nM, or **(D)** both sorafenib 5μ M plus doxorubicin 100nM for 24 hours. Representative flow histograms demonstrating changes in the cell cycle progression on canine OSA D17 cell line.



The combination of sorafenib and doxorubicin resulted in a cell arrest at G2/M phase. Representative cell cycle distribution graphs showed a G2/M cell arrest in **(E)** D17, **(F)** Abrams and human OSA **(G)** SAOS2 cell lines. ***P<0.001 for G2/M arrest compared to the combined treatment (5uM sorafenib and 100nM doxorubicin) as determined by one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's multiple comparison test.



Table 3.2. Summary information and comparison of studies using TKIs in clinical studies for canine OSA (EOD every other day)

ТКІ	Survival time		Treatment	Study size	Reference
	(days)				
Dasatinib	Alive 730 after diag	days nosis	Amputation with carboplatin (5 cycles 275-300 mg/m ² , dose reduction due to	1, case report (golden	Davis 2013 [56]
			grade 1 neutropenia) Followed by:	retriever)	
			Dasatinib dose: 0.5 mg/kg every other day		
			week and increased to 1mg/kg daily for 26		
	D 4 040		weeks		
	Dog1: 913	s days	n=3 amputation and 5 cycles of carboplatin (300 mg/m ² every 3 weeks)	4 Dog1 (golden	Marley 2015 [57]
	Dog2: 882	2 days	n=1 (dog 3) amputation and 3 cycles of carboplatin (300 mg/m ² every 3 weeks),	retriever) Dog2 (Labrador	
	Dog3: > 10	003 days	discontinue due to detectable pulmonary	retriever)	
	Dog4: 456	5 days		shepherd mix)	
			Followed by: Dasatinib dose:	Dog4 (great Pyrenees)	
			Starting dose was 0.5 mg/kg, dose was		
			increased to 0.75 mg/kg after 2 weeks. Dog1: daily for 6.5 months		
			Dog2: EOD for 10 months		
			Dog3: daily for 6.5 months for 25 months		
Toceranib	48% of the	e patients	n=21 had surgery followed with	23 metastatic	London
(TOC)	had clinica	al	chemotherapy	OSA	2011 [63]
	benefits. (One dog	n=1 no treatment	4 mixed breeds,	
	had partia	and 10	n=1 palliative radiation therapy only	4 golden	
	dogs had s	stable		Labrador	
	disease, th	he	Followed by:	retrievers, 3	
	median du	uration	TOC dose at 2.7 mg/kg (ranging 2.5-3.3),	greyhounds,	
	for the 11	dogs	three times/week	and 9 other	
	benefit wa	ai as 24		breed dogs	
	weeks (rai	nging			
	from 10-4	2 weeks)			
ткі	Median	Disease	Treatment	Study size	Reference
	times	-iree interval			
	(days)	(days)			
Toceranib	89	57	Amputation, followed with carboplatin	22 metastatic	Laver
(TOC)			(n=19 received carboplatin, n=1 received	OSA	2018 [58]
			carboplatin+ doxorubicin, and $n=2$ had no	5 mixed breeds,	
			chemotherapy)	retrievers,	
			Followed by:	2 greyhounds,	
			TOC dose at 2.7 mg/kg (ranging 2.5-2.9,	and 10 other	
			due to tablet sizes) EOD	breeds	

Table 3.2. (cont'd)

90	36	1. surgery (n=15 limb amputation, n=1	20 metastatic	Kim
		scapulectomy, n=1 acetabulectomy, n=1	OSA	2017 [59]
		ulnar ostectomy)	3 Rottweilers, 2	
		2. chemotherapy (n=13 carboplatin, n=1	Labrador	
		doxorubicin, n=3 metronomic	retrievers, 2	
		cyclophosphamide), and/or radiation	Doberman	
		therapy $(n = 2)$	pinschers, 2	
		3. n=1 had no previous treatment	golden	
			retrievers, 2	
		Followed by:	mixed breeds,	
		10C dose: 2.52 mg/kg (ranging 2.12- 2.72	and 1 each of 9	
		mg/kg) 3 times/week for a duration of 60	other breeds	
050		days (ranging 17 to 231 days)	10	<u>.</u>
253	238	Amputation followed with 4 cycles of		Ginger
		carboplatin (n=8 received the first dose of	(3 golden	2016 [60]
		carboplatin at 300 mg/m ² , n=1 received	retrievers, 1	
		239 mg/m ² (unknown reason), n=1	mixed breed	
		received 150 mg/m ² (due to renal	dog, and 1 each	
		insufficiency) every three weeks		
			primarily large	
		Followed by:	breed dogs	
		TOC doses. FOD starting at day 14 post		
		carboplatin:		
		n=8 received TOC at doses ranging from		
		2.2 to 2.9 mg/kg (median dose: 2.7 mg/kg)		
		n=1 had two 1-week drug holidays related		
		to grade I diarrhea		
		n=1 had dose reductions and an extended		
		dosing interval due to persistent, non-		
		progressive grade I neutropenia.		
242	215	Amputation followed with 4 cycles of	126 cOSA	London
control	control	carboplatin (300 mg/m ² IV) every 3 weeks	(Control n=63,	2015 [61]
318	233	within 14 days of amputation, piroxicam	Treatment	
тос	тос	at 0.3 mg/kg EOD	n=63)	
		Cyclophosphamide at 10 mg/m ² EOD		
		Followed by:		
		Control Group: Amputation followed by		
		carboplatin and		
		piroxicam/cyclophosphamide		
		Treatment Group: Amputation followed		
		by carboplatin and		
		piroxicam/cyclophosphamide and		
		carboplatin and then by TOC (median dose		
		of toceranib administered was 2.73 mg/kg		
		EOD, and n=27 had dose reduction due to		
		adverse events)		

BIBLIOGRAPHY

BIBLIOGRAPHY

1. (ASCO), A.S.o.C.O. (2019) Osteosarcoma - Childhood and Adolescence: Statistics.

2. Szewczyk, M. et al. (2015) What do we know about canine osteosarcoma treatment? Review. Vet Res Commun 39 (1), 61-7.

3. Selmic, L.E. et al. (2014) Comparison of carboplatin and doxorubicin-based chemotherapy protocols in 470 dogs after amputation for treatment of appendicular osteosarcoma. J Vet Intern Med 28 (2), 554-63.

4. Isakoff, M.S. et al. (2015) Osteosarcoma: Current Treatment and a Collaborative Pathway to Success. J Clin Oncol 33 (27), 3029-35.

5. Lemmon, M.A. and Schlessinger, J. (2010) Cell signaling by receptor tyrosine kinases. Cell 141 (7), 1117-34.

6. McCleese, J.K. et al. (2013) Met interacts with EGFR and Ron in canine osteosarcoma. Vet Comp Oncol 11 (2), 124-39.

7. Dani, N. et al. (2012) The MET oncogene transforms human primary bone-derived cells into osteosarcomas by targeting committed osteo-progenitors. J Bone Miner Res 27 (6), 1322-34.

8. Comoglio, P.M. et al. (2008) Drug development of MET inhibitors: targeting oncogene addiction and expedience. Nat Rev Drug Discov 7 (6), 504-16.

9. Ferracini R, D.R.M., Scotlandi K, Baldini N, Olivero M, Lollini P, Cremona O, Campanacci M, Comoglio PM. (1995) The Met/HGF receptor is over-expressed in human osteosarcomas and is activated by either a paracrine or an autocrine circuit. Oncogene 10 (4), 739-49.

10. Webster, J.D. et al. (2006) The role of c-KIT in tumorigenesis: evaluation in canine cutaneous mast cell tumors. Neoplasia 8 (2), 104-11.

11. Mei, J. et al. (2014) VEGFR, RET, and RAF/MEK/ERK pathway take part in the inhibition of osteosarcoma MG63 cells with sorafenib treatment. Cell Biochem Biophys 69 (1), 151-6.

12. Regad, T. (2015) Targeting RTK Signaling Pathways in Cancer. Cancers (Basel) 7 (3), 1758-84.

13. Keir, S.T. et al. (2010) Initial testing (stage 1) of the multi-targeted kinase inhibitor sorafenib by the pediatric preclinical testing program. Pediatr Blood Cancer 55 (6), 1126-33.

14. Gollob, J.A. et al. (2006) Role of Raf kinase in cancer: therapeutic potential of targeting the Raf/MEK/ERK signal transduction pathway. Semin Oncol 33 (4), 392-406.
15. Strumberg, D. (2005) Preclinical and clinical development of the oral multikinase inhibitor sorafenib in cancer treatment. Drugs Today (Barc) 41 (12), 773-84.

16. Marisi G, C.A., Ulivi P, Canale M, Cabibbo G, Solaini L, Foschi FG, De Matteis S, Ercolani G, Valgiusti M, Frassineti GL, Scartozzi M, Casadei Gardini A. (2018) Ten years of sorafenib in hepatocellular carcinoma: Are there any predictive and/or prognostic markers? World J Gastroenterol. 24 (36), 4152-4163.

17. da Motta Girardi, D. et al. (2018) Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Review of Targeted and Immune Therapies. J Gastrointest Cancer 49 (3), 227-236.

18. Escudier B, E.T., Stadler WM. (2007) Sorafenib in advanced clear-cell renal-cell carcinoma. . N Engl J Med, 125–134.

19. Jäger D, M.J., Mardiak J, Ye DW, Korbenfeld E, Zemanova M, Ahn H, Guo J, Leonhartsberger N, Stauch K, Böckenhoff A, Yu J, Escudier B. (2015) Sorafenib treatment of advanced renal cell carcinoma patients in daily practice: the large international PREDICT study. Clin Genitourin Cancer. 2015 Apr;13(2):156-64.e1. . Clin Genitourin Cancer. 13 (2), 156-64.

20. Llovet JM, R.S., Mazzaferro V et al. SHARP Investigators Study Group. Sorafenib in advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. N Engl J Med 2008; 359: 378–390 (2008) SHARP Investigators Study Group. Sorafenib in advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. N Engl J Med, 378–390.

21. Kloos, R.T. et al. (2009) Phase II trial of sorafenib in metastatic thyroid cancer. J Clin Oncol 27 (10), 1675-84.

22. Raciborska, A. and Bilska, K. (2018) Sorafenib in patients with progressed and refractory bone tumors. Med Oncol 35 (10), 126.

23. Grignani, G. et al. (2012) A phase II trial of sorafenib in relapsed and unresectable highgrade osteosarcoma after failure of standard multimodal therapy: an Italian Sarcoma Group study. Ann Oncol 23 (2), 508-16.

24. Grignani, G. et al. (2015) Sorafenib and everolimus for patients with unresectable highgrade osteosarcoma progressing after standard treatment: a non-randomised phase 2 clinical trial. Lancet Oncol 16 (1), 98-107.

25. Cathomas, R. et al. (2015) RANK ligand blockade with denosumab in combination with sorafenib in chemorefractory osteosarcoma: a possible step forward? Oncology 88 (4), 257-60.

26. Foskett, A. et al. (2017) Tolerability of oral sorafenib in pet dogs with a diagnosis of cancer. Vet Med (Auckl) 8, 97-102.

27. Meyers PA, S.C., Krailo M, Kleinerman ES, Betcher D, Bernstein ML, Conrad E, Ferguson W, Gebhardt M, Goorin AM, Harris MB, Healey J, Huvos A, Link M, Montebello J, Nadel H, Nieder M, Sato J, Siegal G, Weiner M, Wells R, Wold L, Womer R, Grier H (2005) Osteosarcoma: a

randomized, prospective trial of the addition of ifosfamide and/or muramyl tripeptide to cisplatin, doxorubicin, and high-dose methotrexate. J Clin Oncol.

28. Meyers PA, S.C., Krailo MD (2008) Osteosarcoma: The addition of muramyl tripeptide to chemotherapy improves overall survival—A report from the Children's Oncology Group. J Clin Oncol, 633-638.

29. Chou, T.C. (2010) Drug combination studies and their synergy quantification using the Chou-Talalay method. Cancer Res 70 (2), 440-6.

30. McKillop, D. et al. (2004) Pharmacokinetics of gefitinib, an epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor, in rat and dog. Xenobiotica 34 (10), 901-15.

31. Goodman VL, R.E., Dagher R, Ramchandani RP, Abraham S, Gobburu JV, Booth BP, Verbois SL, Morse DE, Liang CY, Chidambaram N, Jiang JX, Tang S, Mahjoob K, Justice R, Pazdur R (2007) Approval summary: sunitinib for the treatment of imatinib refractory or intolerant gastrointestinal stromal tumors and advanced renal cell carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 13 (5), 1367-73.

32. Yin, J.X. et al. (2015) In vivo pharmacokinetic and tissue distribution investigation of sustained-release cisplatin implants in the normal esophageal submucosa of 12 beagle dogs. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 76 (3), 525-36.

33. Chen, C. et al. (2009) Pharmacokinetic comparison between systemic and local chemotherapy by carboplatin in dogs. Reprod Sci 16 (11), 1097-102.

34. Spilker, M.E. et al. (2017) Found in Translation: Maximizing the Clinical Relevance of Nonclinical Oncology Studies. Clin Cancer Res 23 (4), 1080-1090.

35. Liston, D.R. and Davis, M. (2017) Clinically Relevant Concentrations of Anticancer Drugs: A Guide for Nonclinical Studies. Clin Cancer Res 23 (14), 3489-3498.

36. Eckstein N, R.L., Haas B, Potthast H, Hermes U, Unkrig C, Naumann-Winter F, Enzmann H. (2014) Clinical pharmacology of tyrosine kinase inhibitors becoming generic drugs- the regulatory perspective. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 2015 Nov 2;34:134. doi: 10.1186/s13046-015-0251-5.*.

37. Wolfesberger, B. et al. (2010) The tyrosine kinase inhibitor sorafenib decreases cell number and induces apoptosis in a canine osteosarcoma cell line. Res Vet Sci 88 (1), 94-100.

38. Walter, I. et al. (2014) Human osteosarcoma cells respond to sorafenib chemotherapy by downregulation of the tumor progression factors S100A4, CXCR4 and the oncogene FOS. Oncol Rep 31 (3), 1147-56.

39. Yu Y, L.F., Yang JL, Walsh. (2011) Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK pathway is associated with lung metastasis of osteosarcoma in an orthotopicmouse model. Anticancer Res. 31 (4), 1147-52.

40. Noh K, K.K., Patel NR, Staples JR, Minematsu H, Nair K, Lee FY. (2011) Targeting inflammatory kinase as an adjuvant treatment for osteosarcomas. J Bone Joint Surg Am. , 723-32. .

41. Sasaki K, H.T., Nakamura O, Kono R, Yamamoto T. . (2011) The role of MAPK pathway in bone and soft tissue tumors. Anticancer Res. . 31 (2), 549-53.

42. Minami, H. et al. (2008) Phase I and pharmacokinetic study of sorafenib, an oral multikinase inhibitor, in Japanese patients with advanced refractory solid tumors. Cancer Sci 99 (7), 1492-8.

43. Pignochino Y et al. (2009) Sorafenib blocks tumour growth, angiogenesis and metastatic potential in preclinical models of osteosarcoma through a mechanism potentially involving the inhibition of ERK1/2, MCL-1 and ezrin pathways. Mol Cancer. 10 (8), 118.

44. Fossey, S.L. et al. (2009) Characterization of STAT3 activation and expression in canine and human osteosarcoma. BMC Cancer 9, 81.

45. Tu, B. et al. (2012) STAT3 activation by IL-6 from mesenchymal stem cells promotes the proliferation and metastasis of osteosarcoma. Cancer Lett 325 (1), 80-8.

46. Wang, C.T. et al. (2013) SC-1, a sorafenib derivative, shows anti-tumor effects in osteogenic sarcoma cells. J Orthop Res 31 (2), 335-42.

47. Sayles LC, B.M., Koehne AL, Leung SG1, Lee AG, Liu HY, Spillinger A, Shah AT, Tanasa B, Straessler K, Hazard FK, Spunt SL, Marina N, Kim GE, Cho SJ, Avedian RS, Mohler DG, Kim MO6, DuBois SG, Hawkins DS, Sweet-Cordero EA. (2019) Genome-Informed Targeted Therapy for Osteosarcoma. Cancer Discov. 9 (1), 46-63.

48. Abou-Alfa GK, J.P., Knox JJ, Capanu M, Davidenko I, Lacava J, Leung T, Gansukh B, Saltz LB. (2010) Doxorubicin Plus Sorafenib vs Doxorubicin Alone in Patients With Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma. JAMA 304 (19), 2154-60.

49. Abou-Alfa, G.K. et al. (2019) Assessment of Treatment With Sorafenib Plus Doxorubicin vs Sorafenib Alone in Patients With Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Phase 3 CALGB 80802 Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Oncol.

50. Awada A, H.A., Gil T, Bartholomeus S, Mano M, de Valeriola D, Strumberg D, Brendel E, Haase CG, Schwartz B, Piccart M. (2005) Phase I safety and pharmacokinetics of BAY 43-9006 administered for 21 days on/7 days off in patients with advanced, refractory solidtumours. Br J Cancer. , 1855-61.

51. Strumberg, D. et al. (2005) Phase I clinical and pharmacokinetic study of the Novel Raf kinase and vascular endothelial growth factor receptor inhibitor BAY 43-9006 in patients with advanced refractory solid tumors. J Clin Oncol 23 (5), 965-72.

52. Strumberg, D. et al. (2007) Safety, pharmacokinetics, and preliminary antitumor activity of sorafenib: a review of four phase I trials in patients with advanced refractory solid tumors. Oncologist 12 (4), 426-37.

53. Lacouture, M.E. et al. (2008) Hand foot skin reaction in cancer patients treated with the multikinase inhibitors sorafenib and sunitinib. Ann Oncol 19 (11), 1955-61.

54. EMEA. (2006 Accessed 2 May 2020) Scientific discussion for the approval of Sorafenib. Available from: <u>https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/scientific-discussion/nexavar-epar-scientific-discussion_en.pdf</u>.

55. DH, G.D.a.T. (2010) Pharmacokinetic modeling of doxorubicin pharmacokinetics in dogs deficient in ABCB1 drug transporters. J Vet Intern Med 24 (3), 579.

56. Davis, L.E. et al. (2013) A case study of personalized therapy for osteosarcoma. Pediatr Blood Cancer 60 (8), 1313-9.

57. Marley, K. et al. (2015) Dasatinib Modulates Invasive and Migratory Properties of Canine Osteosarcoma and has Therapeutic Potential in Affected Dogs. Transl Oncol 8 (4), 231-8.

58. Laver, T. et al. (2018) Prospective evaluation of toceranib phosphate in metastatic canine osteosarcoma. Vet Comp Oncol 16 (1), E23-E29.

59. Kim, C. et al. (2017) Retrospective evaluation of toceranib (Palladia) treatment for canine metastatic appendicular osteosarcoma. Can Vet J 58 (10), 1059-1064.

60. Gieger TL, N.-O.J., Hallman B, Johannes C, Clarke D, Nolan MW, Williams LE (2017) The impact of carboplatin and toceranib phosphate on serum vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) levels and survival in canine osteosarcoma. Can J Vet Res 81 (3), 199-205.

61. London, C.A. et al. (2015) Impact of Toceranib/Piroxicam/Cyclophosphamide Maintenance Therapy on Outcome of Dogs with Appendicular Osteosarcoma following Amputation and Carboplatin Chemotherapy: A Multi-Institutional Study. PLoS One 10 (4), e0124889.

62. London, C.A. et al. (2009) Multi-center, placebo-controlled, double-blind, randomized study of oral toceranib phosphate (SU11654), a receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor, for the treatment of dogs with recurrent (either local or distant) mast cell tumor following surgical excision. Clin Cancer Res 15 (11), 3856-65.

63. London, C. et al. (2012) Preliminary evidence for biologic activity of toceranib phosphate (Palladia((R))) in solid tumours. Vet Comp Oncol 10 (3), 194-205.

64. Boston SE, E.N., Dernell WS, Lafferty M, Withrow SJ. (2006) Evaluation of survival time in dogs with stage III osteosarcoma that undergo treatment: 90 cases (1985-2004). J Am Vet Med Assoc 228 (12), 1905-8.

65. Batschinski, K. et al. (2014) Evaluation of ifosfamide salvage therapy for metastatic canine osteosarcoma. Vet Comp Oncol 12 (4), 249-57.

66. Bergman PJ, M.E., Kurzman ID, Henry CJ, Hammer AS, Knapp DW, Hale A, Kruth SA, Klein MK, Klausner J, Norris AM, McCaw D, Straw RC, Withrow SJ. (1996) Amputation and carboplatin for treatment of dogs with osteosarcoma: 48 cases (1991 to 1993). J Vet Intern Med. 10 (2), 76-81.

67. Sanchez-Cespedes, R. et al. (2020) In vitro and in vivo effects of toceranib phosphate on canine osteosarcoma cell lines and xenograft orthotopic models. Vet Comp Oncol 18 (1), 117-127.

68. Liu, K. et al. (2017) Apatinib promotes autophagy and apoptosis through VEGFR2/STAT3/BCL-2 signaling in osteosarcoma. Cell Death Dis 8 (8), e3015.

69. Coventon, J. (2017) A review of the mechanism of action and clinical applications of sorafenib in advanced osteosarcoma. J Bone Oncol 8, 4-7.

70. Blanchet, B. et al. (2009) Validation of an HPLC-UV method for sorafenib determination in human plasma and application to cancer patients in routine clinical practice. J Pharm Biomed Anal 49 (4), 1109-14.

CHAPTER 4

EVALUATING THE POTENTIAL SYNERGISTIC EFFECTS OF BROMODOMAIN INHIBITOR JQ1 AND

PROTEASOME INHIBITOR BORTEZOMIB ON HUMAN AND CANINE OSTEOSARCOMA CELL LINES

4.1 Introduction

Osteosarcoma is the most common bone tumor in both humans and dogs [1, 2]. In the United Sates, around 1,000 cases of human osteosarcoma (hOSA) [3] and 10,000 cases of canine osteosarcoma (cOSA) [4] are diagnosed each year. Humans patients have higher incidences in young adolescents (14-19 years old) and those over 70 years old compared to other age distribution. Similar to humans, there are two peaks of the incidences in the dogs, 1–2-year-old and from 6-10 years old [5]. Compared to humans, dogs have a much higher occurrence rate, the estimated incidence rate is about 14/100,000 in dogs [6, 7] and 1/100,00 in humans [8]. The standard of care for human OSA patients are cisplatin, doxorubicin, and high-dose methotrexate [9, 10]. Before the era of chemotherapy, the overall 5-year survival rate was around 20-25% with surgery as main treatment. With chemotherapy, either adjuvant or neoadjuvant treatment, the overall 5-year survival rate improved to around 75-80% [8, 11]. Canine OSA patients also benefit from chemotherapies. As described in Chapter 1 (1.3.2), one year survival rate in cOSA patients increased from 11-21% with surgery alone [12-15] to 33-62% with the chemotherapy regimens, including cisplatin [12, 13, 16, 17], carboplatin [18], and doxorubicin [18-20]. However, although systemic therapy has improved event-free period and overall survival in both species, there has been little progress in developing more effective therapies over the past three decades. In addition, around 80-90% of dogs and 20% of human patients are diagnosed with metastatic disease in the clinic [2, 21]. Patients with metastatic disease are difficult to cure, and show drug resistance to standard chemotherapies [22]. When metastatic disease occurs, the 5-year survival is only 15% to 30% in human OSA patients [8]. Similarly in dogs, the median survival time for dogs with lymph node metastasis was 59 days,

which is significantly shorter than patients without metastasis, 318 days [23]. Moreover, canine OSA are considered to have high metastatic potentials, with 90% of cOSA patients die of metastatic disease after one year with surgery alone [14, 24]. Thus, novel therapeutic agents are in urgent need.

Among the challenges of developing new drugs, one important fact is that OSA is a rare tumor type among all cancer in humans, and the high cost of developing new drugs for small patient populations makes funding limited for both basic research as well as drug development. Repurposing existing FDA-approved drugs can improve the situation, as it will decrease the period of time to bring new therapies for a given disease [25-27]. In the current study, we used a library of FDA-approved drugs to screen for anti-tumor activity on OSA cell lines. Among all the compounds we screened, a proteasome inhibitor, bortezomib showed the highest antiproliferative effect. Bortezomib uses a novel mechanism, as compared to conventional chemotherapies that target DNA damage. Bortezomib inhibits both 20s and 26s proteasome function, binds to the β subunits at 20s catalytic core [28], causes the accumulation of ubiquitinated target proteins and amino acids, increases hypoxic stress, and leads to cell death. Bortezomib is the first in class of proteasome inhibitors that was approved by FDA for treating relapsed multiple myeloma patients in 2003 and has now been in clinical use for more than 10 years [29-31]. In other cancer type such as sarcomas, bortezomib was reported to induce cell apoptosis through inhibition of both the MAPK pathway [32] as the STAT3 pathway [33] in preclinical trials. In the current study, we show that bortezomib inhibits growth of canine and human OS cell lines in a concentration dependent manner at levels demonstrated to be achievable in plasma.

Another class of compounds that has been identified with promising results in recent research that employ yet another mechanism of action is the bromodomain and extra-terminal domain (BET) inhibitors. BET family proteins are epigenetic modulators that read acetylated lysine residues and regulate gene expression. The BETs regulate various genes involved in the cell cycle, cell proliferation, and inflammation. In recent studies, targeting BETs has become a compelling focus in diverse therapeutic areas [34, 35]. To date, JQ1, I-bet151, and I-bet762 are the most potent pharmacological inhibitors of BET protein family, demonstrating anti -tumor activity in a range of cancer types [36-44]. JQ1 is a selective, small molecular inhibitor of bromodomain developed by Bradner and colleagues [45]. The compound showed the ability to affect bromodomain and extra-terminal domain (BET) protein family and effective inhibition of BRD4 (bromodomain-containing protein 4), compared to other components in the family including BRD1, BRD2, BRD3, BRD4, and BRDT. Furthermore, studies have shown that JQ1 antagonized BET bromodomain proteins during MYC-dependent transcription among different cancers, including lung cancer [41], breast cancer [43, 46], multiple myeloma [38], acute myeloid leukemia [47], lymphoma [48], and osteosarcoma [42].

The oncogene *c-MYC* (also referred as *MYC*) is one of the major oncogenes that has been identified as a key driver of osteosarcoma [49]. MYC proteins are transcription factors composed of a basic helix domain, promotes oncogenic transcriptional amplification program in cancers [50]. *MYC* gene has been reported to be amplified in OSA, and high-level of MYC is associated with poor prognosis in osteosarcoma patients [51-53]. Moreover, some studies have reported that JQ1 inhibits the cancer cells through the suppression of MYC driven transcriptional amplification in human osteosarcoma cell lines [42, 51, 52]. In this study, we first investigated the effects of JQ1 on canine and human OSA cells. We found that JQ1 alone suppressed the *MYC*, *RUNX2*, and *FOSL1* expression at mRNA levels in D17 osteosarcoma cell line. However, FOSL1 and RUNX2 protein levels in JQ1 treated cells remained unchanged, and MYC protein levels were decreased with 10 μ M of JQ1. Interestingly, when OSA cells treated with JQ1 and with bortezomib, the combination caused a significant *MYC* suppression at both mRNA and protein level. Taken together, we showed that JQ1 in combination with bortezomib has potential to be considered among the new chemotherapeutic strategies for OSA patients.

4.2 Material and Methods

4.2.1 Human and canine osteosarcoma cell line maintenance

Four canine osteosarcoma (D17, Abrams, Gracie, and BZ) and three human osteosarcoma (SAOS2, MG63, U2OS) cell lines were used in this study. D17, SAOS2, MG63, and U2OS cell lines were purchased from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, Manassas, VA), two canine OSA cell lines Abrams and Gracie were gifts from Dr. Thamn, Colorado State University. The BZ cell line was established from a metastatic site from an eight-year-old male German shepherd dog with osteosarcoma presented to the Michigan State University Veterinary Teaching Hospital. The cells were isolated from a fresh fine needle aspiration sample, first treated with RBC lysis buffer for 10 minutes, the cells were palleted, resuspended in Minimum Essential Medium α (α MEM medium, Gibco, Carlsbad, CA), and later seeded to 100mm cell culture dish. The diagnosis of OSA was based on the histopathology findings. Positive staining of osteocalcin and vimentin from of cells cultured in the cell line also confirmed OSA.

Canine osteosarcoma cell lines were maintained in αMEM medium, supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, gentamicin. Human OSA cell lines were maintained in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM medium, Gibco, Carlsbad, CA), supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, gentamicin. All cell lines were incubated at 37°C containing 5% CO₂.

4.2.2 Chemical compounds

Bortezomib was purchased from LC laboratories, and initially was dissolved in DMSO. JQ1 was purchased from Cayman Chemicals, initially dissolved in DMSO. Both compounds were stored at -20°C until use. Final concentration of DMSO in all treatments was 1%.

4.2.3 High throughput drug screening (HTS)

High throughput drug screening was carried out at Michigan State University Assay Development and Drug Repurposing Core (ADDRC). OSA cell lines SAOS2 (750/well), D17 (1000/well), and Abrams (1000/well) were seeded into 384-well plates and screened with Approved Oncology Drug Set (NCI Developmental therapeutics Program, containing 114 antitumor drugs). Drugs were delivered to the wells by a Biomek FX Workstation liquid handling system (Beckman Coulter) at a single concentration of 1 µM. After 48 hours of incubation with drugs, cell viability was determined by CellTiter-Glo® Assay (G7570 Promega). The luminescence signal was read by a Synergy Neo (Bio Tek) detection platform. The Level of cell viabilities 3 standard deviations above control were identified as potential drugs to inhibit OSA cells.

4.2.4 Cell viability assay

OSA cells were treated with either 1% DMSO (as vehicle control), bortezomib, JQ1, or cotreatment of JQ1 and bortezomib at the indicated drug concentrations. For cell viability assay, cells were seeded to 96-well plates with 3,500 cells/well (for SAOS2, we used 2,500 cells/well). After overnight incubation, the culture medium was replaced with 100 µl of complete medium containing the designated drug concentrations. The OSA cells were incubated with the drugs for another 72 hours. In the end of incubation period, the viability of cells was analyzed using CellTiter 96[®] Aqueous Non-Radioactive Cell Proliferation assay (MTS) according to the manufacturer's instructions (Promega Corp.). The formazan product was measured by EnVision Multimode Plate Reader (PerkinElmer) at 490 nM wavelength, and the percent growth inhibition was calculated for each treatment with the vehicles control containing 1% DMSO. The IC_∞ values (concentration of drug necessary to inhibit the cell growth by 50%) was then determined by PRISM Statistical Software (8.0.0, Graph Pad Software Inc., San Diego, CA). Each experiment was run in triplicate.

4.2.5 Caspase 3/7 assay

Apoptosis induced by bortezomib or JQ1 on three cell lines (D17, Abrams, and SAOS2) was determined by Caspase-Glo 3/7 assay kit (Promega). The caspase assay was carried out in white 96-well plates (so as not to interfere with the luminescent signal); 10,000 OSA cells were plated in each well, treated with either 1% DMSO (vehicle control), or bortezomib (0.001, 0.01, 0.1, and 1 μ M) or JQ1 (0.1, 1, 5, and 10 μ M) for 24 hours. After incubation for 24 hours, caspase reagent was added to the cells and re-incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes. The luminescent signal

was detected by EnVision plate reader (PerkinElmer) and analyzed by Graph Pad Prism (8.0.0, Graph Pad Software Inc., San Diego, CA). Staurosporine (81590, Cayman), as an apoptosis inducer, was used as a positive control at 10µM concentration [54].

4.2.6 Wound healing assay

In this study, the scrape motility assay was used to test migration ability of cells in a monolayer. Briefly, 100,000 cells/well were plated overnight and allowed to reach confluence in 6-well plates. Then, scrapes were made using a 1-mL pipette tip. The cells were incubated with cell culture medium with or without compounds (bortezomib or JQ1). Each scrape was photographed after being made and at the specific time points thereafter.

4.2.7 Matrigel assay

Cell invasiveness was determined using Matrigel-coated invasion chambers. A total number of 50,000 cells incubated with or without the drug (bortezomib or JQ1) were added to the upper compartment of the chamber, and 10% FBS was placed in the bottom compartment as chemo-attractant. Cells incubated with 1% of DMSO were used as vehicle control. After 21 hours, cells that traversed the insert and reached the bottom of the membrane insert were fixed and stained with DiffQuick according to the manufacturer's instructions, photographed, and counted.

4.2.8 mRNA isolation

Total RNA was extracted from human or canine OSA cell pallets with *mirVana*[™] miRNA isolation kit (Life Technologies, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.), then treated with DNase I to remove contaminating DNA. The concentrations of RNA were quantified by Qubit[™] RNA HS Assay (Life Technologies, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.), a fluorescence-based RNA quantification method. cDNA was synthesized from total RNA using random hexamer primers and Superscript III reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen, CA).

4.2.9 Quantitative real-time PCR analysis

PCR was performed with Taq polymerase (Invitrogen, CA), using cycling conditions as follows: 94°C for 4 min; 40 cycles at 94°C for 1 min, optimal annealing temperature for 1 min, 72°C for 1 min; followed by 72°C for 5 min. *MYC, RUNX2,* and *FOSL1* expression at mRNA level were evaluated by using TaqMan primers (Life Technologies, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.) and analyzed by StepOnePlus Real-Time PCR system (Life Technologies, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.). All reactions were run in triplicate with GAPDH used as the endogenous control, water was included each time as negative control.

4.2.10 Drug combination and Combination Index (CI) assays

OSA cells were simultaneously incubated with two compounds at a fixed ratio (JQ1: bortezomib= 100:1, or 160:1) for 72 hours. Synergistic effects of two drugs were determined by isobologram and combination index (CI) analysis by the CompuSyn software (Combosyn, Paramus, NJ). The analysis was adapted from the median-principle methods of Chou and Talalay [55], the results of CI <1, CI=1, and CI >1 indicate synergism, addition, and antagonism, respectively.

4.2.11 Cell Cycle assay

Cells were treated with DMSO (control), bortezomib (10nM), JQ1 (1µM), or combination for 24 hours, then collected by centrifugation and the cell pallet was fixed with 70% ethanol at 4 °C overnight. Ethanol was then removed after centrifugation, and cellular DNA in the remaining cell pallet was stained with propidium iodide (50 µg/ml) and RNase (1 mg/ml) in a total volume of 300 µl. After cells were stained for at least 4 hours, the PI fluorescence of individual nuclei was recorded with FACScan. The quantitative assessment of cell cycle phase and apoptosis were then determined by Modfit Lt[™] software after correction of debris and aggregate population.

4.2.12 Protein analysis

For western blotting, a total number of 500,000 cells from D17, Abrams, and SAOS2 cell lines were treated with either vehicle (1% DMSO), bortezomib, JQ1, or combinations for 24 hours. Cell were lysed with 250 µl of CelLytic M lysis buffer (C2978, Sigma-Aldrich) with 2 µl of protease inhibitor (P8340, Sigma-Aldrich) and 2 µl of phosphatase cocktail inhibitor B (sc-45045, Santa Cruz.) according to manufacturer's protocol. Protein concentration were quantified with *Qubit™ Protein Assay* Kit.

A total of 50 μ g of protein per well was loaded on Bolt Bis-Tris (4-12%) gel (Life Technologies, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.) and were transferred to polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF)

membranes. The membranes were incubated with 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) for 2 hour at room temperature then incubated with the following primary antibodies at 4 °C overnight to detect antigen: MYC (1:500), FOSL1(1:500), PARP (1:1000), β-actin (1:4000), β-tubulin (1:4000), (Cell Signaling Technology). After three washes in tris-buffered saline with 0.05% Tween 20, the membranes were incubated with appropriate secondary antibody (donkey anti-mouse (1:15,000) or goat anti-rabbit (1:15,000)) for 1 hour at room temperature. The membranes were visualized by Odyssey Infrared Imaging System (LI-COR Biosciences), and the protein band intensities were quantified by Image Studio[™] Lite software (LI-COR).

4.2.13 Statistical Analysis

Results represent at least three separate experiments. Statistical analysis was performed with Graph Pad Prism (8.0.0, Graph Pad Software Inc., San Diego, CA), differences between categories were analyzed with one-way ANOVA, p-values of < 0.05 were considered to be significant.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Drug screening identified several FDA-approved drugs as potential treatments for hOSA and cOSA

As seen in **Table 4.1**, several classes of drugs showed growth inhibition at 1 μM on two canine OSA (D17 and Abrams) and one human OSA (SAOS2) cell lines. These drugs include a purine analog drug (cladribine), protein translation inhibitor (methotrexate), DNA polymerase inhibitor (omacetaxine), DNA topoisomerase II alpha inhibitors (mitoxantrone, idarubicin, teniposide,

doxorubicin, daunorubicin), tubulin inhibitors (paclitaxel, ixabepilone, docetaxel, cabazitaxel, vincristine), and proteasome inhibitors (bortezomib and carfilzomib).

Among all the candidates, bortezomib was the most effective compound that inhibited cell viability on all three OSA cell lines (D17, Abrams, and SAOS2) examined in the initial high throughput screening. We selected bortezomib as potential compound for further studies. JQ1 was also effective against OSA cells at the 10 μ M concentration.

4.3.2 Both bortezomib and JQ1 inhibit proliferation of human and canine OSA cells in a dose dependent manner

The effect of JQ1 and bortezomib alone on the proliferation was examined *in vitro* with a panel of human and canine osteosarcoma cell lines by MTS assay. As seen in **Table 4.2**, both bortezomib and JQ1 showed dose-dependent inhibition of proliferation of all OSA cell cultures. The IC₅₀ values of bortezomib ranged from 11- 215 nM on cOSA and 16- 32 nM on hOSA cell lines. For JQ1, the IC₅₀ values ranged from 0.5- 8 μ M on cOSA and 1- 8 μ M on hOSA cell lines. Both JQ1and bortezomib are effective against OSA at concentrations demonstrated to be achievable in plasma in the literature, suggesting these two drugs have therapeutic potential.

4.3.3 Bortezomib and JQ1 alone decreased migration and invasion ability of D17, Abrams and SAOS2 cell lines

As shown in **Figure 4.2A**, bortezomib decreased OSA cells migration ability. Similarly **Figure 4.2B**, when OSA cells were treated with a dose lower than its $IC_{50}s$, JQ1 inhibited the migration ability. We also evaluated the invasion ability in canine and human OSA cells with the treatments of these two compounds separately. In **Figure 4.3C**, we demonstrated that both bortezomib and JQ1 caused an inhibitory effect on OSA invasion ability. In these two assays, we used concentrations below the IC_{50} values to avoid toxicity effects.

4.3.4 Bortezomib and JQ1 induced apoptosis in OSA cells

To further study the cellular mechanisms related to the inhibition of OSA cell growth, we evaluated apoptosis by caspase 3/7 activity when cells incubated with bortezomib (Figure 4.3A) or JQ1 (Figure 4.3B). After 24 hours, bortezomib induced apoptosis in a dose-responsive manner. As seen in Figure 4.3A, in all three OSA cell line we examined, a significant increase of 3/7 activity was noticed at the two concentrations, 100 nM and 1000 nM, compared to vehicle control (1% DMSO). In Figure 4.3B, JQ1 also induced apoptosis at concentrations above 1uM.

4.3.5 Effect of JQ1 on *MYC* and *RUNX2* expression

In previous reports, JQ1 has been reported to downregulate *MYC* expression at mRNA levels in various cancer [41, 42, 47, 48, 56]. In the current study, seven different OSA cell lines showed different levels of *MYC* expression, as quantified by qPCR and compared to canine MSCs (adipose derived mesenchymal stem cells) (Figure 4.4A). To evaluate inhibition of *MYC* expression by JQ1 alone or with bortezomib, we treated canine OSA cell lines Abrams and D17 with JQ1 at different concentrations (0.1 to 10 μ M) for 24 hours and monitored changes at mRNA levels by qPCR (Figure 4.4B, C). JQ1 treatment decreased *MYC* expression in a dose-dependent manner in both Abrams and D17 cells. In D17 cell line, JQ1 treatment also decreased *RUNX2* and *FOSL1* expression at mRNA level (Figure 4.5C). In protein analysis (Figure 4.5D),

MYC expression was downregulated in a dose-dependent manner while and FOSL1 level was not changed with the treatments of JQ1 for 24 hours.

4.3.6 Synergistic effects of JQ1 and bortezomib on canine and human OSA
Bortezomib and JQ1 were identified by our drug screening as the two most efficient
compounds to inhibit OSA cell growth. To test the possibility of combining these two drugs with
different mechanisms of action, SAOS2 cells were exposed to various concentrations of JQ1 and
bortezomib for 72 hours, then their cell viability was examined by MTS assay. In a constant ratio
of 100:1 and 160:1, average combination index (CI) values were below 1 at all doses (Figure
4.5A), suggesting synergism. In Figure 4.5B, we examined the migration capacity with either
one drug, or in combination by wound healing assay. In D17 cell line, when we used a low
concentration, we can see cells migrated less in co-inhibition groups (JQ1+bor) compared to
control group. But this was not observed in the other two cell lines, Abrams and SAOS2.

4.3.7 Changes of Cell Cycle

When OSA incubated with 1 μ M JQ1, D17 and Abrams cells were arrested at G2/M phase (Figure 4.6A). Also, 10 nM bortezomib alone increased cells arrested at G2/M phase cells in D17 and SAOS2 cell lines whereas Abrams showed an increase of G1 phase arrested cells. However, co-treatments of JQ1 and bortezomib resulted in a significant increase of G2/M phase cell arrest in all three OSA cell lines we tested (Figure 4.6B, C).

4.3.8 Co-inhibition of JQ1 and bortezomib induced significantly suppression of MYC When D17 cells incubated with 1 μ M JQ1 combined with a low dose 10 nM bortezomib, the *MYC* and *RUNX2* expression was significantly downregulated at mRNA level, whereas no effect of *FOSL1* gene expression were observed (Figure 4.7A). Interestingly, we saw a decrease of FOSL1 protein expression with the two compounds combined (Figure 4.7A). In western blotting, no change of MYC or FOSL1 expression were noted when cells incubated with JQ1 or bortezomib only, a decreased of MYC, RUNX2, and FOSL1 protein expression were showed in JQ1 (1 μ M) plus bortezomib (10 nM) treatment cells (Figure 4.6B). Next, we examined apoptosis in Western blot to detect PARP cleavage. Single treatment of JQ1 or bortezomib caused an increase in cleaved PARP and, combined treatments resulted an elevated cleaved PAPR expression in all three cell lines (Figure 4.6C).

4.4 Discussion

Our findings provide rationale of using JQ1 to target MYC pathway in canine osteosarcoma and point out the potential of using JQ1 in combination with bortezomib for future studies. Bortezomib and JQ1 showed different mechanisms of action in OSA cells, and they caused an add-on effects in cell growth inhibition, cell cycle arrest, and inhibition on MYC expression. The synergistic effects pointed to a prospective way to treat OSA.

The conventional chemotherapeutic agents including cisplatin, carboplatin, and doxorubicin are the major agents in the OSA treatment since the 1970s. Since then, no novel therapeutic agents have been found to improve survival compared to these chemotherapies. Therefore, we wanted to use high throughput drug screening to identify potential therapeutic agents to treat

this disease. This approach have been tested in preclinical models [25, 57] or in canine patients [26]. In the present study, we used HTS to identify a highly effective compound, bortezomib. Our data show that bortezomib is capable of inhibiting OSA cell growth with an IC_{50} value below plasma achievable concentration in the literature [58].

Bortezomib is a selective proteasome inhibitor which has been approved by FDA as the treatment of multiple myeloma patients after failure of first line therapies [59]. Bortezomib affects multiple signaling pathways, including decreasing invasion and increasing G2/M cell cycle arrest [60], inhibiting MAPK pathway activity and increasing apoptosis [32, 61], or increasing apoptosis through RUNX2 stabilization [62]. However, while bortezomib shows great growth inhibition in cell culture, it also causes severe side effect in mice models [63] and human patients [58]. Therefore, utilizing combinations of bortezomib at lower doses with other therapeutic agents may be potentially useful. Using combination is a way to enhance the therapeutic effects and decrease the adverse effects for both drugs [44, 64, 65]. When bortezomib was evaluated in a histiocytic sarcoma models from our research group (data not shown), the toxicity was dramatic to mice and thus dosage had to be decreased within the first week of treatment. This resulted in difficulties to evaluate drug efficiency. The toxicity to animal models urged us to consider drug combinations, in order to decrease the dosages but maintain equal effect. In the current study, we explored the potential of combination dosages and found that JQ1 and bortezomib had synergistic effects at certain doses; one of the doses we used is 10 nM bortezomib and 1 μ M JQ1, these two doses are below or close to IC₅₀ values. The IC₅₀ values as shown in Table 4.1 were measured after 72 hours of incubation, the IC₅₀ values of 24 hours (which is the incubation period we used for most of *in vitro* studies) are higher.

In osteosarcoma, transcription factor c-MYC is one of the critical oncogenic drivers. Another focus in the study is whether JQ1 caused a decrease in MYC expression. Although etiology of osteosarcoma is still unclear, several genes have been identified as drivers of OSA development. Among them, *MYC* is one of the most highly amplified oncogenes in cancer, involved in cell proliferation, apoptosis, metabolism, and angiogenesis [66-69]. In osteosarcoma, MYC amplification has been detected in canine OSA samples [70, 71], and the overexpression of MYC were associated with poor prognosis and malignancy in both human [51, 72] and canine OSA. Therefore, targeting MYC has been proposed to treat many cancers. Due to difficulties to target MYC directly since it lacks of a specific active site or a specific confirmation where a small molecule can bind to inhibit function, alternative approaches are used to indirectly target MYC [47, 66, 73]. One of the approaches is to inhibit MYC transcription. JQ1 was developed as a BET inhibitor, and was shown to suppress MYC expression [37, 38, 42, 47], and this is confirmed in our study.

The effects of JQ1 in human osteosarcoma cells has been reported in three studies using established OSA cell lines [42, 44, 65], and the results suggest that MYC plays a critical role in some cases [42]. In some cases, JQ1 alone did not induce changes in *MYC* expression, but the effects of JQ1 was enhanced when combined with other drugs, including rapamycin [65], bortezomib [64] or CDK inhibitor [44]. Among these studies, only one show that JQ1 alone significantly inhibited the growth in xenograft mice model, but the other two groups proposed to use a combined therapy such as rapamycin or CDK inhibitors to enhance the antitumor activity of JQ1 [44, 65]. These previous studies focused on human osteosarcoma cell lines, the effects of JQ1 on cOSA has not previously been reported. To our knowledge, the current study

is the first to investigate JQ1 treatment in cOSA. Our study showed *MYC* expression was downregulated in both mRNA and protein levels at a high dose at 24 hours of exposure time. Besides *MYC*, recent studies demonstrate alternative gene targets for JQ1, such as *FOSL1* and *RUNX2*, which may be involved in anti-tumor activity of BET inhibitors [42, 44]. RUNX2 is a key transcription factor associated with osteoblast differentiation [42] and an oncogenic driver in osteosarcoma [70]. The overexpression of RUNX2 was also reported to correspond with poor response to chemotherapy [74]. A previous study revealed that RUNX2 expression is significantly increased in OSA tumors compared to normal tissues [70]. In our study, we also demonstrated that JQ1 causes significant decrease in RUNX2 expression in D17 and SAOS2 cell lines. These findings suggest that RUNX2 may be important to OSA disease progression in both species.

In our studies, we showed that the combination of JQ1 and bortezomib induced a significant decrease of *MYC* expression at mRNA and protein levels, which is similar to a recent study in colorectal cancer cell lines [64]. In this colorectal study, other mechanisms involved in this synergism include the FOXM1, NF κ B (receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa B) pathway, G2/M arrest related cell cycle genes, including GADD45A, GADD45B, and GADD45G genes [64]. The induction of GADD45 proteins was correlated with MYC inhibition with JQ1 and bortezomib and led to cell death [64]. Although the authors proposed that MYC and FOSL1 suppression is critical for the synergistic antitumor effects of JQ1 and bortezomib, there are still other mechanisms such as through RUNX2. One possible mechanism involved in the synergism of these combination is NF κ B pathway, a key pathway implicated in osteoclast activation. As reported by Lamoureus et. al., JQ1 inhibited NF κ B activity but without affecting its transcription

in human OSA cells [42]. Interestingly, bortezomib is known for its function of block the activation of NFκB through stabilization of the NFκB inhibitor (IκB) [75, 76]. This might be a potential mechanism to explain the growth inhibition of OSA cells with co-treatments. To our knowledge, the current study is the first study to demonstrate that JQ1 suppresses MYC expression and shows synergistic effects with bortezomib in canine osteosarcoma. In the current study, we showed that JQ1 treatments suppressed MYC expression at mRNA and protein levels, which is similar to hOSA findings [42]. Also, our data demonstrated that JQ1 and bortezomib in combination downregulated MYC, RUNX2 and FOSL1 protein expression and induced apoptosis in vitro. The combination of the two compounds showed positive results in in vitro studies, however, evaluation of utilizing these two drugs, or these two classes of drugs in vivo are needed. In addition, the next generation of proteasome inhibitor, carfilzomib, was one of other compounds identified from the drug screening. Carfilzomib is a second-generation proteasome inhibitor that is orally bioavailable and was also identified as an effective against OSA cells in our screening. Other BET inhibitors have also been developed after JQ1, such as IBET-151 and IBET-762, which have improved oral bioavailability. The improvement on bioavailability of these drugs might also decrease the needed dose and might reduce adverse effects. In summary, our findings provide a rational for the use of this combination of two different mechanisms for further xenograft studies, clinical trials and ultimately to treat canine and human OSA patients.

APPENDIX

	Percent	Percent of OSA growth inhibition in different cell lines			
	canine			-	
Name (trade name)	fibroblast growth inhibition	D17	Abrams	SAOS2	Mechanism of Action
Cladribine					
(Leustatin)	< 9	29	68	55	purine analog inhibitor
Methotrexate (Trexall)	<6	64	49	13	dihydrofolate reductase (DHFR) inhibitor
Omacetaxine (Synribo [®])	31	80	86	90	protein translation inhibitor
Gemcitabine (Gemzar [®])	<5	22	82	62	DNA polymerase (alpha/delta/epsilon) inhibitor
Mitoxantrone (Novantrone [®])	<10	34	66	54	DNA topoisomerase II alpha inhibitor
Idarubicin (Idamycin [®])	23	79	93	87	DNA topoisomerase II alpha inhibitor
Teniposide (Vumon [®])	27	26	82	63	DNA topoisomerase II inhibitor
Doxorubicin (Adriamycin [®])	43	75	73	73	DNA topoisomerase II alpha inhibitor
Daunorubicin (Cerubidine)	53	74	84	80	DNA topoisomerase II alpha inhibitor
Paclitaxel (Taxol [®])	20	73	71	71	Tubulin inhibitor
lxabepilone (Ixempra™)	20	79	74	74	Tubulin inhibitor
Docetaxel (Taxotere [®])	27	63	74	73	Tubulin inhibitor
Cabazitaxel (JEVTANA [®])	28	63	64	70	Tubulin inhibitor
Vincristine	30	62	73	76	Tubulin inhibitor
Bortezomib (Velcade [®])	70	97	96	96	proteasome inhibitor
Carfilzomib (Kyprolis [®])	89	88	95	94	proteasome inhibitor
JQ1	NA	71	52	78	Bromodomain inhibitor

 Table 4.1. Protential drugs identified from Hight Throughput Screening (HTS)

*JQ1 result was using 10 μ M

Table 4.2. IC₅₀ values for bortezomib and JQ1 on OSA cell lines

Cell viability was measured by CellTiter 96[®] MTS assay on all seven OSA cell lines, including four cOSA (D17, Abrams, Gracie, and BZ) and three hOSA (SAOS2, U2OS, and MG63) cell lines. All cell lines were treated with drugs for 72 hours.

	bortezomib IC₅₀s (nM)	JQ1 IC₅₀s (µM)
D17	13.5	0.5
Abrams	215	8
Gracie	11	0.5
BZ	15	0.7
SAOS2	32	4
U2OS	30	8
MG63	16	1
Reported achievable plasma concentration	200-300 nM (human) [58]	22 μM (mice) [77]

Figure 4.1. Cell viability was measured using CellTiter 96[®] Aqueous Non-Radioactive Cell Proliferation assay MTS assay on four cOSA (D17, Abrams, Gracie, and BZ) and three hOSA (SAOS2, MG63, U2OS) cell lines after treated with JQ1 or bortezomib for 72 hours.



Figure 4.2. OSA cell migration and invasion ability were inhibited by bortezomib and JQ1. **(A)** Pictures comparing wound healing in SAOS2 cell line with and without bortezomib at 0.015 μ M concentration (IC₅₀= 0.03 μ M). **(B)** Pictures comparing wound healing in D17 cell line with and without JQ1 at 0.4 μ M concentration (IC₅₀= 0.5 μ M).



(C) Invasion of Matrigel by OSA cell lines with and without JQ1 (D17: 0.25, Abrams: 4, SAOS2: 2 μ M) or bortezomib (D17: 0.05, Abrams: 0.1, SAOS2: 0.02 μ M). (D) Cells invaded through the Matrigel membranes were quantified.



Figure 4.3. JQ1 induced apoptosis in canine OSA cell lines D17, Abrams, and SAOS2. **(A)** OSA cells were incubated with bortezomib, concentration ranged from 0.001 μ M to 1 μ M. **(B)** D17, Abrams, and SAOS2 cell line were treated with JQ1, concentrations ranged from 0.1 to 10 μ M for 24 hours. For all caspase 3/7 assays, levels of apoptosis were evaluated by Caspase-Glo 3/7 assay on cells treated with DMSO (as control), bortezomib (0.001 μ M, 0.01 μ M, 0.1 μ M, 1 μ M), JQ1 (0.1 μ M, 1 μ M, 5 μ M, or 10 μ M), or Staurosporine for 24 hours. 10 μ M staurosporine (81590, Cayman) was used as a positive control. Values correspond to averages and error bars to standard deviations generated from three separate experiments.



Figure 4.4. JQ1 decreaed *MYC* expression at mRNA and protein level. (A) *MYC* expression was examined among all cell lines, Abrams and BZ were upregulated comapred to other cell lines and MSCs were used as control. (B) Abrams cells were incubated with different JQ1 concentrations for 24 hours. (C) D17 cells were incubated with different JQ1 concentrations for 24 hours. (D) Western blot analysis of D17 and SAOS2 cells treated with vehicle (DMSO), JQ1 (0.5 μ M, 1 μ M, and 10 μ M) for 24 hours. Protein band intensities were quantified by Image StudioTM Lite software (LI-COR).



Figure 4.5. Co-treatment of JQ1 and bortezomib show synergistic effects **(A)** Combination index (CI) results showed a synergistic effect of JQ1 and bortezomib in ration 100:1. Date shown here are in D17 cell line. In Normalized isobologram, we included two different rations of JQ1 and bortezomib (100:1 and 160:1). Data showed that the different combinations are all synergistic. (B) Migration capacity was evaluated by wound healing assay. OSA cells were incubated with 1% DMSO (control), JQ1 (0.5 μ M), bortezomib (10 nM), or combination (JQ1 0.25 μ M + bortezomib 5 nM) for up to 24 hours.

Α	
~	

JQ1



В



D17





Figure 4.6. Combination of bortezomib and JQ1 induced cell arrest in G2/M phase. D17, Abrams, and SAOS2 cells were treated with JQ1 (1µM), bortezomib (10 nM), or JQ1 + bortezomib for 24 hours. Cell cycles were analyzed by PI staining and Modfit Lt[™] software. The results showed an increase of G2/M cell arrest with JQ1 and bortezomib on **(A)** D17, **(B)** Abrams, and **(C)** SAOS2 cell lines. ***P<0.001, **P<0.01, *P<0.05 for G2/M arrest compared to vehicle control (1% DMSO) or JQ1+bortezomib as determined by one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's multiple comparison test.



Figure 4.7. Co-treatment of JQ1 and bortezomib show synergistic effects, driven by MYC, RUNX2 and FOSL1 suppression at mRNA and protein levels.

(A) mRNA alternation of *MYC, RUNX2, and FOSL1* expression in D17 cells treated with vehicle (DMSO), JQ1 (1 μ M), bortezomib (10 nM), or JQ1+bortezomib for 24 hours. (B) Protein expression of MYC after 24 hours were also examined by Western blot Analysis, OSA cells were treated with JQ1 (1 μ M) or bortezomib (10 nM), or the combination of these two drugs for 24 hours, a decrease of MYC was noted when two drugs were added to the cells. (C) co-treatment of JQ1 and bortezomib caused an increase of cleaved PARP expression, indicating apoptosis. Protein band intensities were quantified by Image StudioTM Lite software (LI-COR).



В



Figure 4.7. (cont'd)

C Realtive cleaved PARP protein expression when OSA cells incubated with drugs for 24 hours.

	D17	Abrams	SAOS2
DMSO (control)	1	1	1
JQ1 (1 μM)	1.6	2.2	3.5
Bor (10 nM)	2.2	1	1.4
JQ1 (1 µM) and	4	3.5	6.4
bor (10nM)			

A representative image of SAOS2 cells treated with DMSO, JQ1, bortezomib, or co-incubated with JQ1 and bortezomib for 48 hours.



Primary antibodies						
Protein	Catalog #	Lot#	Clone	Host	Manufacturer	Concentration
						used
β -actin	3700	13, 14	8H10D10	Mouse	Cell Signaling	1:4,000
β-actin	4970	12	13E5	Rabbit	Cell Signaling	1:4,000
β-tubulin	86298	1	D3U1W	Mouse	Cell Signaling	1:4,000
c-MYC	5605	8	D84C12	Rabbit	Cell Signaling	1:250
FRA1 (FOSL1)	Ab124722		EP4711	Rabbit	abcam	1:500
PARP	611038		SC99		BD	1:1,000
RUNX2	12556		D1L7F	Rabbit	Cell Signaling	1:500
Secondary antibody						
Protein	Catalog #	Lot#	Host	Target	Manufacturer	Concentratio
						n used
IRDye 680RD	925-68072	C81107-	Donkey	Mouse	LI-COR	1:10,000
		03				
IRDye 800CW	925-32211	C80118-	Goat	Rabbit	LI-COR	1:10,000
		01				

Table 4.3. Antibodies used in western blot analysis
BIBLIOGRAPHY

BIBLIOGRAPHY

1. Bacci, G. et al. (2005) Adjuvant and neoadjuvant chemotherapy for osteosarcoma of the extremities: 27 year experience at Rizzoli Institute, Italy. European Journal of Cancer 41 (18), 2836-2845.

2. Szewczyk, M. et al. (2015) What do we know about canine osteosarcoma treatment? Review. Vet Res Commun 39 (1), 61-7.

3. (ASCO), A.S.o.C.O. (2019) Osteosarcoma - Childhood and Adolescence: Statistics.

4. Fenger JM, L.C., Kisseberth WC. (2014) Canine osteosarcoma: a naturally occurring disease to inform pediatric oncology. ILAR J. 55 (1), 69-85.

5. Makielski, K.M. et al. (2019) Risk Factors for Development of Canine and Human Osteosarcoma: A Comparative Review. Vet Sci 6 (2).

6. Withrow Stephen J., M.E.G., editors. (2001) In: Small animal clinical oncology. 3rd ed, W. B. Saunders.

7. Rowell, J.L. et al. (2011) Dog models of naturally occurring cancer. Trends Mol Med 17 (7), 380-8.

8. Mirabello, L. et al. (2009) Osteosarcoma incidence and survival rates from 1973 to 2004: data from the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program. Cancer 115 (7), 1531-43.

9. Group, E.S.E.S.N.W. (2014) Bone sarcomas: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 25 Suppl 3, iii113-23.

10. Carrle D, B.S. (2006) Current strategies of chemotherapy in osteosarcoma. Int Orthop 30, 445-451.

11. Siegel RL, M.K., Jemal A (2017) Cancer Statistics. CA Cancer J Clin 67 (1), 7-30.

12. Thompson, J.P. and Fugent, M.J. (1992) Evaluation of Survival Times after Limb Amputation, with and without Subsequent Administration of Cisplatin, for Treatment of Appendicular Osteosarcoma in Dogs - 30 Cases (1979-1990). Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association 200 (4), 531-533.

13. Straw, R.C. et al. (1991) Amputation and cisplatin for treatment of canine osteosarcoma. J Vet Intern Med 5 (4), 205-10.

14. Spodnick, G.J. et al. (1992) Prognosis for dogs with appendicular osteosarcoma treated by amputation alone: 162 cases (1978-1988). J Am Vet Med Assoc 200 (7), 995-9.

15. Mauldin GN, M.R., Withrow SJ, et al. (1988) Canine osteosarcoma: treatment by amputation versus amputation and adjuvant chemotherapy using doxorubicin and cisplatin. J Vet Intern Med, 177-180.

16. Berg, J. et al. (1992) Treatment of dogs with osteosarcoma by administration of cisplatin after amputation or limb-sparing surgery: 22 cases (1987-1990). J Am Vet Med Assoc 200 (12), 2005-8.

17. Kraegel, S.A. et al. (1991) Osteogenic sarcoma and cisplatin chemotherapy in dogs: 16 cases (1986-1989). J Am Vet Med Assoc 199 (8), 1057-9.

18. Phillips, B., Powers, B.E., Dernell, W.S., Straw, R.C., Khanna, C., Hogge, G.S., Vail, D.M., (2009) Use of single agent carboplatin as adjuvant or neoadjuvant therapy in conjunction with amputation for appendicular osteosarcoma in dogs. ournal of the American Animal Hospital Association, 33-38.

19. Berg, J. et al. (1995) Results of surgery and doxorubicin chemotherapy in dogs with osteosarcoma. J Am Vet Med Assoc 206 (10), 1555-60.

20. Moore, A.S. et al. (2007) Doxorubicin and BAY 12-9566 for the treatment of osteosarcoma in dogs: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. J Vet Intern Med 21 (4), 783-90.

21. Morello, E. et al. (2011) Biology, diagnosis and treatment of canine appendicular osteosarcoma: similarities and differences with human osteosarcoma. Vet J 189 (3), 268-77.

22. Stephanie M. Perkins, E.T.S., Todd DeWees, Haydar Frangoul (2014) Outcome for Children with Metastatic Solid Tumors over the Last Four Decades. PLOS 9 (7).

23. Hillers KR, D.W., Lafferty MH, Withrow SJ, Lana SE (2005) Incidence and prognostic importance of lymph node metastases in dogs with appendicular osteosarcoma: 228 cases (1986–2003). J Am Vet Med Assoc 226 (8), 1364-7.

24. Dernell WS, E.N., Straw RC, Vail DM. . (2007) In: Withrow & MacEwen's Small animal clinical oncology. , Elsevier.

25. Parrales A, M.P., Ottomeyer M, Roy A, Shoenen FJ, Broward M, Bruns T, Thamm DH, Weir SJ, Neville KA, Iwakuma T, Fulbright JM. (2018) Comparative oncology approach to drug repurposing in osteosarcoma. PLoS One 13 (3), e0194224.

26. Davis, L.E. et al. (2013) A case study of personalized therapy for osteosarcoma. Pediatr Blood Cancer 60 (8), 1313-9.

27. Walter, I. et al. (2014) Human osteosarcoma cells respond to sorafenib chemotherapy by downregulation of the tumor progression factors S100A4, CXCR4 and the oncogene FOS. Oncol Rep 31 (3), 1147-56.

28. Daniela Buac, M.S., Sara Schmitt, Fathima Rani Kona, Rahul Deshmukh, Zhen Zhang, Christine Neslund-Dudas, Bharati Mitra, Q. Ping Dou and Des., C.P. (2013) From Bortezomib to other Inhibitors of the Proteasome and Beyond. Curr Pharm Des 19 (22), 4025–4038.

29. Adams J1, B.M., Chen S, Cruickshank AA, Dick LR, Grenier L, Klunder JM, Ma YT, Plamondon L, Stein RL. (1998) Potent and selective inhibitors of the proteasome: dipeptidyl boronic acids. Bioorg. Bioorg Med Chem Lett. 8 (4), 333–338.

30. Ye, Z. et al. (2019) Subcutaneous bortezomib might be standard of care for patients with multiple myeloma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Drug Des Devel Ther 13, 1707-1716.

31. Mohan, M. et al. (2017) Update on the optimal use of bortezomib in the treatment of multiple myeloma. Cancer Manag Res 9, 51-63.

32. Lou, Z. et al. (2013) Bortezomib induces apoptosis and autophagy in osteosarcoma cells through mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway in vitro. J Int Med Res 41 (5), 1505-19.

33. Bao, X. et al. (2017) Bortezomib induces apoptosis and suppresses cell growth and metastasis by inactivation of Stat3 signaling in chondrosarcoma. Int J Oncol 50 (2), 477-486.

34. Filippakopoulos, P. and Knapp, S. (2014) Targeting bromodomains: epigenetic readers of lysine acetylation. Nat Rev Drug Discov 13 (5), 337-56.

35. Jung, M. et al. (2015) Targeting BET bromodomains for cancer treatment. Epigenomics 7 (3), 487-501.

36. Asangani, I.A. et al. (2014) Therapeutic targeting of BET bromodomain proteins in castration-resistant prostate cancer. Nature 510 (7504), 278-82.

37. Trabucco SE, G.R., Evens AM, Bradner JE, Shultz LD, Greiner DL, Zhang H. and (2015) Inhibition of bromodomain proteins for the treatment of human diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. . Clin Cancer Res. 21 (1), 13-22.

38. Delmore, J.E. et al. (2011) BET bromodomain inhibition as a therapeutic strategy to target c-Myc. Cell 146 (6), 904-17.

39. Zuber J, S.J., Wang E, Rappaport AR, Herrmann H, Sison EA, Magoon D, Qi J, Blatt K, Wunderlich M, et al: (2011) RNAi screen identifies Brd4 as a therapeutic target in acute myeloid leukaemia. Nature 4, 524-528.

40. Fu LL, T.M., Li X1, Li JJ, Huang J, Ouyang L, Zhang Y, Liu B. (2015) Inhibition of BET bromodomains as a therapeutic strategy for cancer drug discovery. Oncotarget. 6 (8), 5501–5516.

41. Kato F, F.F., Alibés A, Perucho M, Sánchez-Céspedes M, Kohno T, Yokota J. (2016) MYCL is a target of a BET bromodomain inhibitor, JQ1, on growth suppression efficacy in small cell lung cancer cells. Oncotarget, 77378-77388.

42. Lamoureux, F. et al. (2014) Selective inhibition of BET bromodomain epigenetic signalling interferes with the bone-associated tumour vicious cycle. Nat Commun 5, 3511.

43. Choi, S.K. et al. (2016) JQ1, an inhibitor of the epigenetic reader BRD4, suppresses the bidirectional MYC-AP4 axis via multiple mechanisms. Oncol Rep 35 (2), 1186-94.

44. Baker, E.K. et al. (2015) BET inhibitors induce apoptosis through a MYC independent mechanism and synergise with CDK inhibitors to kill osteosarcoma cells. Sci Rep 5, 10120.

45. Filippakopoulos, P. et al. (2010) Selective inhibition of BET bromodomains. Nature 468 (7327), 1067-73.

46. Montserrat Pérez-Salvia, L.S.-R., Pere Llinàs-Arias, Laura Roa, Fernando Setien, Marta Soler, Manuel Castro de Moura, James E. Bradner, Eva Gonzalez-Suarez, Catia Moutinho, Manel Esteller (2017) Bromodomain inhibition shows antitumoral activity in mice and human luminal breast cancer. Oncotarget. 8 (31), 51621–51629.

47. Mertz, J.A. et al. (2011) Targeting MYC dependence in cancer by inhibiting BET bromodomains. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108 (40), 16669-74.

48. Fowler, T. et al. (2014) Regulation of MYC expression and differential JQ1 sensitivity in cancer cells. PLoS One 9 (1), e87003.

49. Sayles LC, B.M., Koehne AL, Leung SG1, Lee AG, Liu HY, Spillinger A, Shah AT, Tanasa B, Straessler K, Hazard FK, Spunt SL, Marina N, Kim GE, Cho SJ, Avedian RS, Mohler DG, Kim MO6, DuBois SG, Hawkins DS, Sweet-Cordero EA. (2019) Genome-Informed Targeted Therapy for Osteosarcoma. Cancer Discov. 9 (1), 46-63.

50. Lüscher B, L.L. (1999) The basic region/helix-loop-helix/leucine zipper domain of Myc protooncoproteins: function and regulation. Oncogene 18 (19), 2955-66.

51. Chen, D. et al. (2018) Super enhancer inhibitors suppress MYC driven transcriptional amplification and tumor progression in osteosarcoma. Bone Res 6, 11.

52. Loven, J. et al. (2013) Selective inhibition of tumor oncogenes by disruption of superenhancers. Cell 153 (2), 320-34.

53. Wu, X. et al. (2012) Expressions of p53, c-MYC, BCL-2 and apoptotic index in human osteosarcoma and their correlations with prognosis of patients. Cancer Epidemiol 36 (2), 212-6.

54. Kabir J, L.M., Zachary I. (2002) Staurosporine induces endothelial cell apoptosis via focal adhesion kinase dephosphorylation and focal adhesion disassembly independent of focal adhesion kinase proteolysis. Biochem J., 145-55.

55. Chou, T.C. (2010) Drug combination studies and their synergy quantification using the Chou-Talalay method. Cancer Res 70 (2), 440-6.

56. Klauber-DeMore N, S.B., Wang GY. (2018) Targeting MYC for triple-negative breast cancer treatment. Oncoscience. Oncoscience., 120-121.

57. Yu, D. et al. (2015) Identification of Synergistic, Clinically Achievable, Combination Therapies for Osteosarcoma. Sci Rep 5, 16991.

58. Reece DE, S.D., Lonial S, Mohrbacher AF, Chatta G, Shustik C, Burris H 3rd, Venkatakrishnan K, Neuwirth R, Riordan WJ, Karol M, von Moltke LL, Acharya M, Zannikos P, Keith Stewart A. (2011) Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic study of two doses of bortezomib in patients with relapsed multiple myeloma. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 67 (1), 57-67.

59. Tabchi S, N.R., Kunacheewa C, Patel KK, Lee HC, Thomas SK, Amini B, Ahmed S, Mehta RS, Bashir Q, Qazilbash MH, Weber DM, Orlowski RZ, Alexanian R, Feng L, Manasanch EE. (2019) Retrospective Review of the Use of High-Dose Cyclophosphamide, Bortezomib, Doxorubicin, and Dexamethasone for the Treatment of Multiple Myeloma and Plasma Cell Leukemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk.

60. Li, X. et al. (2013) Proteasome inhibitor MG132 enhances TRAIL-induced apoptosis and inhibits invasion of human osteosarcoma OS732 cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 439 (2), 179-86.

61. Lu, G. et al. (2008) Proteasome inhibitor Bortezomib induces cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in cell lines derived from Ewing's sarcoma family of tumors and synergizes with TRAIL. Cancer Biol Ther 7 (4), 603-8.

62. Shapovalov, Y. et al. (2010) Proteasome inhibition with bortezomib suppresses growth and induces apoptosis in osteosarcoma. Int J Cancer 127 (1), 67-76.

63. Märten A, Z.N., Serba S, Mehrle S, von Lilienfeld-Toal M, Schmidt J. (2008) Bortezomib is ineffective in an orthotopic mouse model of pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Mol Cancer Ther. 7 (11), 3624-31.

64. Tingyu Wu, G.W., Wei Chen, Zhehui Zhu, Yun Liu, Zhenyu Huang, Yuji Huang, Peng Du, Yili Yang, Chen-Ying Liu, and Long Cui (2018) Co-inhibition of BET proteins and NF-κB as a potential therapy for colorectal cancer through synergistic inhibiting MYC and FOXM1 expressions. Cell Death and Disease 9 (3), 315.

65. Lee, D.H. et al. (2015) Synergistic effect of JQ1 and rapamycin for treatment of human osteosarcoma. Int J Cancer 136 (9), 2055-64.

66. Chen, H. et al. (2018) Targeting oncogenic Myc as a strategy for cancer treatment. Signal Transduct Target Ther 3, 5.

67. Delmore JE, I.G., Lemieux ME, Rahl PB, Shi J, Jacobs HM, Kastritis E, Gilpatrick T, Paranal RM, Qi J. (2011) BET bromodomain inhibition as a therapeutic strategy to target c-Myc. Cell, 904-917.

68. Dang, C.V. et al. (1999) Function of the c-Myc oncogenic transcription factor. Exp Cell Res 253 (1), 63-77.

69. Gabay, M. et al. (2014) MYC activation is a hallmark of cancer initiation and maintenance. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 4 (6).

70. Angstadt AY, M.-R.A., Thomas R, Kisseberth WC, Guillermo Couto C, Duval DL, Nielsen DM, Modiano JF, Breen M. (2011) Characterization of Canine Osteosarcoma by Array Comparative Genomic Hybridization and RT-qPCR: Signatures of Genomic Imbalance in Canine Osteosarcoma Parallel the Human Counterpart. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 50 (11), 859-874.

71. Thomas R, W.H., Tsai PC, Langford CF, Fosmire SP, Jubala CM, Getzy DM, Cutter GR, Modiano JF, Breen M. (2009) Influence of genetic background on tumor karyotypes: evidence for breed-associated cytogenetic aberrations in canine appendicular osteosarcoma. Chromosome Res. 2009;17(3):365-377. 17 (3), 365-377.

72. Gamberi, G. et al. (1998) C-myc and c-fos in human osteosarcoma: prognostic value of mRNA and protein expression. Oncology 55 (6), 556-63.

73. Posternak, V. and Cole, M.D. (2016) Strategically targeting MYC in cancer. F1000Res 5.

74. Sadikovic B, T.P., Chilton-Macneill S, Martin JW, Cervigne NK, Squire J, Zielenska M (2010) Expression analysis of genes associated with human osteosarcoma tumors shows correlation of RUNX2 overexpression with poor response to chemotherapy. BMC Cancer 10 (202).

75. Adams, J. (2004) The proteasome: a suitable antineoplastic target. Nat Rev Cancer 4 (5), 349-60.

76. Kashyap, T. et al. (2016) Selinexor, a Selective Inhibitor of Nuclear Export (SINE) compound, acts through NF-kappaB deactivation and combines with proteasome inhibitors to synergistically induce tumor cell death. Oncotarget 7 (48), 78883-78895.

77. Matzuk, M.M. et al. (2012) Small-molecule inhibition of BRDT for male contraception. Cell 150 (4), 673-84.

CHAPTER 5 SUMMARY AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Osteosarcoma is one of the most heterogeneous tumor types, which leads to the challenge of defining optimal standard of care for OSA patients. Therefore, it is important to establish and characterized models for finding more effective therapeutic agents [1]. Patient derived cell lines [2-4] or patient derived tumor xenografts (PDTX) are useful and informative tools for this approach. We also proposed that utilization of proof of concept studies in dogs spontaneously presenting with osteosarcoma provide an excellent translational system for testing new therapies. In the present study, we established a canine OSA cell line from a metastatic site and characterized with different tumorigenesis associated signaling pathways. We also searched for more effective drugs to improve the current status in both canine and human OSA using drug screening approaches. Screening and repurposing compounds already approved by the FDA may further speed up the drug development process. In addition, we utilized different drug combinations and examined the associated mechanism of action.

Canine OSA is a unique translational model for human OSA because dogs spontaneously develop osteosarcomas at similar sites to humans and have similar response to treatments. In addition, the ten times higher incident rate and high metastatic potential of the dogs also provide compelling rationale to compare both species. Another translational potential of canine OSA is that the drug development process in dogs is similar to humans but simpler and faster, and there are fewer limitations for clinical trials in dogs, such as the ability to carry out clinical trials in the untreated patient [5]. Therefore, these novel drugs can be evaluated in dog patients before being used in humans. Using canine studies can provide the basic understanding of efficiency, pharmacokinetics and toxicity/adverse effects, and reduce the failure rate and derisk human studies. In short, dogs not only provide foundational results to support the use of

chemotherapeutic agents for human patients, but also benefit from the chemotherapy agents that was previously used in human cancers.

So far, the most active conventional chemotherapy drugs for OSA in the clinics are drugs that cause DNA damages in cancer cells. For instance, platinum-based chemotherapy drugs cisplatin and carboplatin bind to DNA, induce oxidative stress, interfere with the repair system, and damage DNA [6, 7]. Another conventional chemotherapy drug doxorubicin inhibits cancer cells by inhibiting topoisomerase II activity and inducing DNA double-strand breaks [8]. However, these drugs have not improved much on OSA survival for the past thirty years, and the relapsed patients have even less options for effective chemotherapeutic agents. Also, the heterogeneity in osteosarcoma suggests the need for different and multiple approaches to target OSA. In the current study, we identified drugs with different mechanism of action that were effective in suppressing tumor proliferation. Among them, the first candidate we selected is sorafenib (BAY 43-9006, Nexavar[®]), an oral multiple tyrosine kinase inhibitor. Sorafenib alone has been used in human clinical trials for diverse cancers, including hepatocellular carcinoma and hOSA [9-12] but not in cOSA. We demonstrated sorafenib inhibited OSA cells growth and inhibited the activation of ERK and STAT3 pathways. Our data from combination index analysis revealed the synergistic effects of sorafenib and doxorubicin and thus provide the rationale of combining these two compounds for treating OSA. In hepatocellular carcinoma, the combination of sorafenib and doxorubicin verses sorafenib treatment alone indicated controversial results in phase II/III clinical trials [13-15]. Two randomized clinical trials addressed whether sorafenib plus doxorubicin would improve the outcome of patients than doxorubicin [15] or sorafenib [14] alone. Despite the first study reported a two times longer median survival time of control

group (13.7 verses 6.5 months), the patients in the latter group had a 4 months of median survival time. Therefore, canine clinical trials need to be carried out to assess if this combination is safe and more effective than current first line chemotherapies to treat cOSA or hOSA.

The other novel therapeutic approach we selected include the proteasome inhibitor bortezomib and bromodomain inhibitor JQ1. Bortezomib blocks cancer cell proliferation with a novel approach through the inhibition of proteasome and causes accumulation of unwanted proteins. JQ1 works through an epigenetic approach, targets especially BRD4 and regulates MYC transcription. Our findings provided evidence that of JQ1 inhibited MYC expression alone or in combination with bortezomib in OSA. Co-treatment with JQ1 and bortezomib showed synergistic effect on three OSA cell lines, suggesting the potential of this combination for further studies. Although MYC is considered classically as an undruggable target, more strategies are being introduced for MYC regulation [1, 16, 17], such as PLK1 and AURKA inhibitors that regulate the stabilization of MYC protein, mTOR inhibitor rapamycin which blocks MYC translation, and inhibitors of CDK7/CDK9 block MYC at the transcriptional level. Besides exploring repurposing existing FDA-approved drugs, we also screened our cells with a GSK published Kinase Inhibitor library (developed by GlaxoSmithKline, contain 558 drugs). As shown in **Table 5.1**, we identified several classes of compounds with promising anti-tumor effect, including CDK2/CDK4 inhibitors, CLK2 inhibitors, PLK1 (polo-like kinase 1) inhibitors, or IGF1-R (insulin-like growth factor 1) inhibitors. These inhibitors have been evaluated in preclinical models and clinical trials. PLK1 contributes to the MYC stabilization in human OSA cell lines, whereas the inhibition of PLK1 resulted in MYC protein degradation and a delay in

tumor growth in mice model [18]. The first selective PLK1 inhibitor, BI-2536, has been used in the clinical trials with advanced solid tumors which included colorectal, melanoma, liver cancer, breast cancer, and sarcomas [19, 20]. In a preclinical model, second generation PLK1 inhibitors such as BI-6727 (volasertib) and GSK461364 were shown to suppress growth of OSA cells and enhance radiation sensitivity [18]. In a study across murine, canine, and human OSA cells, PLK1 pathway was identified with potential for therapeutic targeting as BI-6727 was effective to inhibit OSA cells that were derived from the most aggressive tumors[21]. In addition, the synergism of BET inhibitors and PLK1 inhibitors was evaluated in prostate cancer [22], and acute myeloid leukemia [23]. Interestingly, the BI-2536 and BI-6727 are dual PLK1/ bromodomain inhibitors [24, 25], indicating PLK1 and BETs may play important roles in regulating cancer progression.

Osteosarcoma is a heterogeneous disease genetically and clinically and using one therapeutic approach for all patients is not the best way to treat this disease. Our cell lines showed different levels of activation on ERK, STAT3, AKT pathways or PTEN expression, indicating they may respond differently to the same drug. In patients, these differences also lead to diverse response to the same set of chemotherapies. For example, a previous clinical trial indicated hOSA patients with positive p-ERK and P-RPS6 tumors benefit from the treatment of combined sorafenib and everolimus compared to patients that were negative for these two biomarkers [11]. Our findings show that the ERK pathway is activated in some cOSA cell lines. Thus, studying the efficacy of sorafenib in a clinical trial on canine patients, especially those showing ERK activation, with and without chemotherapy would be a logical next step.

Although the great clinical benefit of the functional immune activation in post-surgery infections in OSA patients was reported as early as the 1890s [26], the immunotherapeutic approaches in OSA are still in the early stages. Clinical investigations of monoclonal antibody and immune checkpoint inhibitors (PD-1 and PD-L1) still require large scale study and further understanding in order to identify effective and safe therapeutic approaches for OSA. In this process, canine OSA is a useful platform to select appropriate treatment options for hOSA, one example is the *Listeria*-based HER2 expressing vaccine (ADXS31-164). While the incidence of a few cases of active *Listeria* infections caused by *Listeria*-based vaccine in cOSA has resulted in the discontinuance of this study in both species, remarkable response was seen in some cOSA patients, with some dogs achieving very long survival times, up to 3 years while the median OS was 14.4 months in this vaccine trial vs the median of 9.8 months with surgery and chemotherapy [27]. Despite the failure of this vaccine, studies of other osteosarcoma vaccines are still ongoing including one in our group using mutant Qβ particles with tumor-associated carbohydrate antigens, expressed in OSA.

In this work, we provide evidence supporting the use of sorafenib, bortezomib, and JQ1 in human and canine OSA. While JQ1 is a first in class drug and is used mostly to study mechanism of action, additional and more orally available bromodomain inhibitors are being developed that can be tested in proof of concept studies in canine OSA patients. Understanding the molecular mechanisms involved in both species will bring more insights of possible strategies to treat human and canine OSA patients. Importantly, suitable therapies targeting the key lesions in each case can be selected through precision medicine and/or by engaging power of the

immune system to identify and destroy tumor cells to improve the survival rate and the quality of life for the patients.

APPENDIX

	Percent canine	Percent of OSA growth inhibition in different cell lines			
	fibroblast growth				
Name	inhibition	D17	Abrams	SAOS2	Mechanism of Action
GW780056A	<1	84	70	87	CDK2/CDK4 inhibitor
GW778894X	<1	75	74	82	CDK2/CDK4 inhibitor
GW779439X	<5	73	71	88	CDK2/CDK4 inhibitor
GW801372X	<1	78	68	85	CLK2 inhibitor
GSK994854A	<10	56	14	40	IGF-1R inhibitor
GSK2186269A	17	91	99	98	IGF-1R inhibitor
GSK237700A	<1	46	20	22	PLK1 inhibitor
GW852849X	<1	52	58	56	PLK1 inhibitor
GSK978744A	<3	80	67	61	PLK1 inhibitor
GSK237701A	<6	89	64	76	PLK1 inhibitor
GSK641502A	<3	93	67	88	PLK1 inhibitor
GSK580432A	<10	88	74	81	PLK1 inhibitor

Table 5.1. Protential drugs identified from GSK published Kinase Inhibitor library

BIOBLIOGRAPH

BIBLIOGRAPHY

1. Sayles LC, B.M., Koehne AL, Leung SG1, Lee AG, Liu HY, Spillinger A, Shah AT, Tanasa B, Straessler K, Hazard FK, Spunt SL, Marina N, Kim GE, Cho SJ, Avedian RS, Mohler DG, Kim MO6, DuBois SG, Hawkins DS, Sweet-Cordero EA. (2019) Genome-Informed Targeted Therapy for Osteosarcoma. Cancer Discov. 9 (1), 46-63.

2. Meyer, F.R.L. and Walter, I. (2016) Establishment and Characterization of New Canine and Feline Osteosarcoma Primary Cell Lines. Vet Sci 3 (2).

3. Gillette, J.M. et al. (2008) Establishment and characterization of OS 99-1, a cell line derived from a highly aggressive primary human osteosarcoma. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim 44 (3-4), 87-95.

4. Salinas-Souza, C. et al. (2013) Establishment and cytogenetic characterization of a cell line from a pulmonary metastasis of osteosarcoma. Cytotechnology 65 (3), 347-53.

5. Rowell, J.L. et al. (2011) Dog models of naturally occurring cancer. Trends Mol Med 17 (7), 380-8.

6. Dasari, S. and Tchounwou, P.B. (2014) Cisplatin in cancer therapy: molecular mechanisms of action. Eur J Pharmacol 740, 364-78.

7. Basu, A. and Krishnamurthy, S. (2010) Cellular responses to Cisplatin-induced DNA damage. J Nucleic Acids 2010.

8. Luthra, P. et al. (2017) Topoisomerase II Inhibitors Induce DNA Damage-Dependent Interferon Responses Circumventing Ebola Virus Immune Evasion. MBio 8 (2).

9. Grignani, G. et al. (2012) A phase II trial of sorafenib in relapsed and unresectable high-grade osteosarcoma after failure of standard multimodal therapy: an Italian Sarcoma Group study. Ann Oncol 23 (2), 508-16.

10. Raciborska, A. and Bilska, K. (2018) Sorafenib in patients with progressed and refractory bone tumors. Med Oncol 35 (10), 126.

11. Grignani, G. et al. (2015) Sorafenib and everolimus for patients with unresectable highgrade osteosarcoma progressing after standard treatment: a non-randomised phase 2 clinical trial. Lancet Oncol 16 (1), 98-107.

12. Strumberg, D. et al. (2007) Safety, pharmacokinetics, and preliminary antitumor activity of sorafenib: a review of four phase I trials in patients with advanced refractory solid tumors. Oncologist 12 (4), 426-37.

13. Marisi G, C.A., Ulivi P, Canale M, Cabibbo G, Solaini L, Foschi FG, De Matteis S, Ercolani G, Valgiusti M, Frassineti GL, Scartozzi M, Casadei Gardini A. (2018) Ten years of sorafenib in hepatocellular carcinoma: Are there any predictive and/or prognostic markers? World J Gastroenterol. 24 (36), 4152-4163.

14. Abou-Alfa, G.K. et al. (2019) Assessment of Treatment With Sorafenib Plus Doxorubicin vs Sorafenib Alone in Patients With Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Phase 3 CALGB 80802 Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Oncol.

15. Abou-Alfa GK, J.P., Knox JJ, Capanu M, Davidenko I, Lacava J, Leung T, Gansukh B, Saltz LB. (2010) Doxorubicin Plus Sorafenib vs Doxorubicin Alone in Patients With Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma. JAMA 304 (19), 2154-60.

16. Chen, H. et al. (2018) Targeting oncogenic Myc as a strategy for cancer treatment. Signal Transduct Target Ther 3, 5.

17. Mo, H. et al. (2019) PLK1 contributes to autophagy by regulating MYC stabilization in osteosarcoma cells. Onco Targets Ther 12, 7527-7536.

18. Bogado, R.F. et al. (2015) BI 6727 and GSK461364 suppress growth and radiosensitize osteosarcoma cells, but show limited cytotoxic effects when combined with conventional treatments. Anticancer Drugs 26 (1), 56-63.

19. Hofheinz, R.D. et al. (2010) An open-label, phase I study of the polo-like kinase-1 inhibitor, BI 2536, in patients with advanced solid tumors. Clin Cancer Res 16 (18), 4666-74.

20. Frost, A. et al. (2012) Phase i study of the Plk1 inhibitor BI 2536 administered intravenously on three consecutive days in advanced solid tumours. Curr Oncol 19 (1), e28-35.

21. Lara E. Davis, S.J., Matthew N. Svalina, Elaine Huang, Janét et al. (2017) Integration of genomic, transcriptomic and functional profiles of aggressive osteosarcomas across multiple species. Oncotarget 8 (44), 76241-76256.

22. Mao, F. et al. (2018) Plk1 Inhibition Enhances the Efficacy of BET Epigenetic Reader Blockade in Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer. Mol Cancer Ther 17 (7), 1554-1565.

23. Tontsch-Grunt, U. et al. (2018) Synergistic activity of BET inhibitor BI 894999 with PLK inhibitor volasertib in AML in vitro and in vivo. Cancer Lett 421, 112-120.

24. Liu, S. et al. (2018) Structure-Guided Design and Development of Potent and Selective Dual Bromodomain 4 (BRD4)/Polo-like Kinase 1 (PLK1) Inhibitors. J Med Chem 61 (17), 7785-7795.

25. Gohda, J. et al. (2018) BI-2536 and BI-6727, dual Polo-like kinase/bromodomain inhibitors, effectively reactivate latent HIV-1. Sci Rep 8 (1), 3521.

26. WB, C. (1991) The treatment of malignant tumors by repeated inoculations of erysipelas. With a report of ten original cases. 1893. Clin Orthop Relat Res (262), 3-11.

27. Mason, N.J. et al. (2016) Immunotherapy with a HER2-Targeting Listeria Induces HER2-Specific Immunity and Demonstrates Potential Therapeutic Effects in a Phase I Trial in Canine Osteosarcoma. Clin Cancer Res 22 (17), 4380-90.